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--- On commencing at 9:37 a.m.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you, everyone.  Please be seated.


Good morning.  Before we start with panel 12, are there any preliminary matters that we should address?

Preliminary Matters:

MR. CASS:  I have just one small matter, Madam Chair.  There was another group of undertaking responses filed, I believe, this morning.  I think there were nine in total, and there's a covering letter dated today, March 6th, that describes the nine undertaking responses that have been filed.


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  I see them here.


MS. SEBALJ:  The only other matter, Madam Chair, is that there were some -- as you know, we discussed at the end of the last hearing day there were some questions related to the work that Mr. Culbert did to disaggregate the regulated utilities financials from EGD.


MS. CONBOY:  Yes.


MS. SEBALJ:  And there are -- I believe Schools and CME have questions related to that evidence, which they've agreed to ask within their time allotments today, and I believe Enbridge has agreed to that as well.


MS. CONBOY:  That would be great.  Thank you.


There were a couple of administrative matters I also wanted to address this morning, the first being is that tomorrow we will have a hard stop at 12:15, so we will break from 12:15 to 1:30, and this time we will do it.


The second one is I wanted to give everybody a heads-up in terms of the argument schedule.  And I don't believe this is going to be a surprise to everybody, but just so we can read it into the record:  The argument in-chief should be filed no later than Monday, March 31st.  Board Staff will file its submission in advance of intervenors' submissions, and they should file their submission no later than Monday, April 14th.  Intervenors' submissions then are due no later than Wednesday, April 16th, and finally, reply will be due no later than Wednesday, April 30th.


I believe we have an order for cross-examination this morning.  Before we do that, we will have the witnesses affirmed.  Go ahead, Mr. Cass.


MR. CASS:  Yes, I had just a few things with this panel, but I think it would be appropriate to have them affirmed first.


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you very much.

ENBRIDGE GAS DISTRIBUTION INC. - PANEL 12

Larry Kennedy, Affirmed


Kevin Culbert, Previously Affirmed


Jason Shem, Affirmed


Sheila Trozzi, Affirmed


MR. CASS:  Madam Chair, the members of the panel are as shown in Exhibit K1.1.  Perhaps for the record I will just quickly introduce them, starting furthest from me.


That's Mr. Larry Kennedy, from Gannett Fleming.  Then Kevin Culbert, Jason Shem, and Sheila Trozzi.


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.


MR. CASS:  Mr. Kennedy is here to testify as an expert on depreciation, net salvage, and plant accounting.  I don't propose to take him through his qualifications at all.  The Board in its procedural order indicated that if there was any question about an expert witness that should be brought forward, and there has been no question in respect of Mr. Kennedy's qualifications, so I don't propose to ask him any questions in that regard.


So there is a brief examination in-chief of the panel.  For that purpose, there was a document sent out yesterday.  It has a heading at the top, "outline of constant dollar net salvage/SRC proposal".  That's meant to be an assistance to the understanding of the evidence of this panel.


The witnesses will not read the document.  However, I will have a few questions for Mr. Kennedy and Mr. Culbert that I think will help to explain the document.


I wonder if that could be given an exhibit number, please.


MS. CONBOY:  Yes, please.


MS. SEBALJ:  It's K9.1.


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.
EXHIBIT NO. K9.1:  DOCUMENT ENTITLED "OUTLINE OF CONSTANT DOLLAR NET SALVAGE/SRC PROPOSAL"

Examination-In-Chief By Mr. Cass:


MR. CASS:  Mr. Culbert, if I could start with you simply to have you adopt the evidence of the entire panel on behalf of the panel.  Can you confirm that the evidence of all of the members of this panel on -- in the subject areas set out in Exhibit K1.1, including answers to interrogatories and technical-conference evidence, was prepared by or under the direction and control of the members of the panel?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes, I do.


MR. CASS:  Can you confirm that that evidence is accurate to the best of the knowledge or belief of the members of the panel?


MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.


MR. CASS:  And finally, can you adopt that evidence on behalf of the panel as their evidence in this proceeding?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes, I can.


MR. CASS:  Thank you.


I'll turn to you then if I may, Mr. Kennedy.  First, can you provide us with a brief understanding of net salvage percentages, which I think are also referred to as site restoration costs, please?


MR. KENNEDY:  Certainly.  Good morning, Madam Chair and panel members.


In the role of the regulatory accounting and revenue requirements, there really is two components to capital recovery or depreciation.  One is the recovery of the original cost of investment.  So we apply a depreciation rate to the original cost of investment.  That original cost is in the dollars of the day of the capital construction.


So we develop depreciation rates as one component as that original cost over either the remaining life or the life of the assets to develop a piece of the depreciation.


A separate piece of that calculation is also the recovery of the estimated costs of removal and/or retirement of the assets, because assets aren't always physically retired.  Sometimes they are removed.  They are retired sometimes in place.


So we have a component where we estimate that future cost of retirement of assets over the life of the assets in such a manner that the total cost of the asset -- and FERC defines its total value of an asset as the original cost plus the net salvage requirements over the life and the useful life of the assets in place.


So throughout my testimony today you may hear me refer to service value.  Service value is the sum of the original cost plus the estimated cost of retirement, which we depreciate over the remaining life.  So that cost of retirement is a very distinct piece of the depreciation expense that the utilities seek recovery of in their revenue requirement.


MR. CASS:  Thank you, Mr. Kennedy.


Now, you've recommended a methodology called the constant dollar net salvage methodology.  Can you explain that, please?


MR. KENNEDY:  I'll try.  As I mentioned just a few seconds ago, the depreciation formula, if you will, is cost plus salvage over life.  Well, the estimation of that piece called "salvage" can be made in a few different ways.  Most utilities throughout North America have, for a number of decades, followed what I referred to in my evidence as a traditional method of net salvage calculation, and that method would take the historic costs of inflation -- or the historic cost of salvage and develop a ratio, a net salvage percentage.


Now, that ratio is established by taking historical retirements, divided by the historic occurrence of net salvage costs.


Now, remembering that the cost of -- the original cost collars is in the cost of the day that they were installed, 40, 50 years ago.  Your cost of retirement are obviously in today's dollars, so there is an inherent timing difference or a period of inflation that goes on from the labour incurred to install those assets 40, 50, 30 years ago over the cost to retire those assets in today's dollars.


So what we do is -- it's important to remember there's three components of this.  One is the component of the historic look.  What has historically salvage cost mean?  Remembering there is that embedded rate of inflation of the actual period of the life of the assets lived over the salvage cost of today to remove them.


We look at that.  We also look at budget estimates, and we look at what's our estimation of the future.


When I refer to traditional -- the traditional method of net salvage, really what we assume in that calculation is that that historic period, that 40 years or 30 years of time that assets had historically been in service, which gave us that embedded inflation ratio of that original cost timing to today's removal of those assets, will reoccur again in the future.


So that timing will be one and the same.


The second thing that the traditional method of net salvage does, is it says that embedded rate of inflation –- from, say, for example, 1950 to 2010 -- will be the same occurrence, again, from today, going out another 30, 40 or 50 years.


So we carry the assumptions that have occurred in the historic practice or historic precedent, to assume that they will reoccur again in the future.


So the cost in dollars in net salvage method does the same thing.  It says:  I need to look at the historic.  I need to look at what has happened in the past.  But it says:  I'm going to normalize those transactions, take the influence of inflation out of my calculation.  So I normalize my original cost to today's dollars, I normalize my costs of retirement that have historically occurred to today's dollars, and I develop a ratio of that normalized salvage and cost to come up with a net salvage ratio.

What I now have then is a totally inflation-free cost of -- cost of retirement.


That allows us to do a few things.  That allows me to start comparing that ratio to, perhaps, today's actual costs that were seen in budget items or today's cost of engineering projects currently underway, because that's an inflation-free cost.  It's today's cost.


Secondly, what it allows me then to do is to say:  What's my estimated life of this plan?  It may or may not be the same as my historic life that my historic retirement has lived.  I can assume and probably have a likely occurrence that my future retirements will live differently than my historic ones have to some extent.  So we can all develop a new period of remaining life, not assuming that it's exactly the same as the old one; I am looking at a new estimate of the remaining life of my assets.


Secondly, what we can do is we can now estimate a reasonable rate of inflation going forward.  One of the challenges of the traditional method is -- for those of us who have as much gray hair as I do, remember the early 1980s of 18 and 20 percent inflation.


I remember my first mortgage was in the 20 percent range.  Thank God those days aren't here anymore.


Those days, though, in the traditional method, have had a large influence in that embedded rate of inflation.  So we can now make a more appropriate estimate of the inflation rate going forward.


So the cost of dollars method says because I have normalized everything to today's dollars, I now take it forward on the basis of a more reasonable estimate or of an estimate of what that future inflation will be.  It takes it forward over my new estimate of what I think my current plant and service will live through to the end of its estimated life.  So that now gives me a future cost of retirement at that time.


What we do, then, is to bring everything back to today's dollars, because toll payers are paying in today's dollars.  We discount that back at a reasonable rate of discount.


And in my calculations I use the Canada long-term triple-A bond rate as a reasonable rate of discounting.


So what we now have, then, is we have this inflation-adjusted net salvage rate giving us more reasonable assumptions for life, and more reasonable assumptions for the future inflation as we may have in the traditional method.


Now, it's important to understand that in any -- be it the traditional method of net salvage or the CDNS method, we are really doing the same thing.  We are establishing a reserve for the removal of funds going forward.  What we have to remember is that there has been a significant amount of plant in service today, and that plant is not all brand new.  It has lived a certain portion of its life.  In this case, thereabouts of about half of its estimated life of -- plant in service.


So we should have a reserve built up to recognize that consumption of that life that has consumed its service value to today.  So we have a reserve -- I mean, that's the reserve that we test the adequacy.  We say:  Does the current net salvage reserve reflect the reality of my consumed service value position or my consumed position on my assets in service today.


When we make that test, we determine that we may have more in that reserve than we need, or perhaps less on occasion.


Then we look at what's our current requirement.  And we can test the current accrual rate for that net salvage portion against the consumption of service value, of the assets in service, and then we look at it in the future, to ensure that our future toll payers are paying for their fair consumption or paying only for their consumption of the service value.


In such a manner when we make these tests, we can ensure that the historic practice is as properly reflected.  We can ensure, more importantly, that the future toll payers are paying for their fair share of their consumption of the assets in service.


So we have this reserve as of today.  We attempt to true that up, and then we go forward with recognition of a depreciation rate for net salvage, our constant-dollar net salvage, to reflect the future users' consumption of those assets as well.


So it is kind of a long-winded answer, but I hope through the comparison of the traditional to the net salvage to kind of draw the key difference, and that's the normalization of the inflation rates.


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.


MR. CASS:  Thank you, Mr. Kennedy.


Now, Mr. Culbert, I'm not going to ask you to read Exhibit K9.1.  The company's proposal, though, includes a rate rider that will not specifically affect allowed revenues.


Can you first just explain what the rate rider is all about?


MR. KENNEDY:  Yes.  If I could turn you to page 3 of the examination-in-chief that we sent out -- actually, I'll try to expedite my discussion on this by looking at page 3.


So the rate rider impacts that that we're proposing are -- a return amount we're proposing is happening through the rate rider.  Those amounts are not included in actual rates, which will be underpinned by the allowed revenue calculations we've performed.  So that's a separate rate rider that's going to happen; not within rates itself.


However, there are some effects of that rate rider in terms of what they do.  As you are relieving the amounts we're proposing to return to the rate rider, the effect is that you are reducing your accumulated depreciation and therefore increasing rate base.  There are carrying costs associated with that in the allowed revenue requirement.


So while the cash amounts themselves aren't in rates, there is an impact in rates because of that change to rate base, and there is also an impact because these amounts are additionally tax-deductible.


So if you look at page 3 and the table at the bottom, it shows in the top section the outside of allowed revenue impacts of the rate rider, $259.8 million.


Sorry, is everybody on that page?


MS. CONBOY:  Mm-hmm.


MR. KENNEDY:  Then it shows the impact within the allowed revenue calculations, the effect on the first row under "Within allowed revenue."  That's the effect within carrying costs on rate base and tax deductions of the cash amounts.


So that's the impact of the rate rider in and of itself.


MS. CONBOY:  Sorry, that first line, "Effect on cash returns" is the impacts of those two?


MR. KENNEDY:  It's the impact of the cash amounts and their impact within carrying costs on rate base and the tax effects.  Yes.


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.


MR. CASS:  Thank you, Mr. Culbert.  My final question, you've partially answered this, but I would appreciate it if you could just summarize all of the impacts that occur within the allowed revenue.


MR. CULBERT:  Yes.  So what you'll see in the document, if you read through it, is the rest of the impacts that are happening in allowed revenue, as Mr. Kennedy has pointed out.  There is also a proposal to change the net salvage value component of depreciation rates, and that change in and of itself is what you are seeing in the second row, "Within allowed revenue" section of page 3.  So in addition to the cash return amounts, the change in the net salvage component of depreciation rates reduces your depreciation expense.  It changes what your rate would otherwise be.  There is some tax implications of it.


So all of that row you see there is the impact of the change in the net salvage component within depreciation rates, in addition to the cash amounts we are proposing through a rate rider.


The total of all of that, as you can see on the line at the bottom, is $241 million.


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.


MR. CASS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  That's the examination-in-chief of the panel.


MS. CONBOY:  Mr. Shepherd, I believe you are up first.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd:


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


As fascinating as the SRC stuff is, I want to start with 2013 results.  And for that purpose -- I lost my questions.


I have in front of me J1.2, which is the results that we're talking about, and I've also provided to the Board a document, which is the schedules -- some of the schedules from the final rate order in EB-2011-0354, which is not currently on the record, I don't believe.


MS. CONBOY:  So that's the document entitled "Board final decision utility capital structure, 2013 test year"?


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's correct.


MS. SEBALJ:  Yes, please.  We'll mark that as K9.2.
EXHIBIT NO. K9.2:  DOCUMENT ENTITLED "BOARD FINAL DECISION UTILITY CAPITAL STRUCTURE, 2013 TEST YEAR"


MR. SHEPHERD:  And I might as well get it out of the way now while I'm doing this.  I also have a document that is "410 asset retirement and environmental obligations".  It is from the U.S. accounting standards code.  We might as well give that an exhibit number, too.  I'll be getting to that shortly.


MS. SEBALJ:  K9.3.


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.
EXHIBIT NO. K9.3:  DOCUMENT ENTITLED "410 ASSET RETIREMENT AND ENVIRONMENTAL OBLIGATIONS"


MR. SHEPHERD:  So if we can start with -- this first part should be brief.  What I'm trying to do is understand why you have these overearnings.  So I wonder if you can start -- these are for you, I guess, Mr. Culbert -- by going to page 3 of J1.2.


MR. CULBERT:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you have a gross sufficiency of $31.2 million til 2013, and that is a net sufficiency of 22.9, but then grossed up for taxes by another 8.3 million?


MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And if you see page 2 of K9.2 -- 9.2, yes -- you will see column 5 there is the equivalent of column 2 in your J1.2, right?


MR. CULBERT:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so there is one difference there, and that is that at the bottom of column 5 there is an orphaned sufficiency of $6 million in the draft rate order, and that's not -- you see that that's not in column 2 in J1.2, where instead you've adjusted the gas sales number, so maybe you can explain that $6 million.


MR. CULBERT:  Yeah, the $6 million was the resulting reduction to rates that was agreed to in the settlement agreement in 2013.


So what we present, Mr. Shepherd, in column 2 of J1.2 is the real, I'll say, revenue at existing rates that would occur as a result of the implementation of that Board rate order, accepting $6 million sufficiency or reduction in rates.


So that's what we're doing in that column.  As opposed to leaving the sufficiency showing as a fallout, in reality, when we adjusted rates, our revenue's existing rates would go down by that amount.  That's --


MR. SHEPHERD:  That 6 million adjustment came from where?


MR. CULBERT:  It's the $6 million you would have seen at the bottom of page 1 of the rate order, and I'm sorry, what document did we label that?  K...


MR. SHEPHERD:  K9.2.


MR. CULBERT:  So at the bottom of page 1 of 7, you see in the Board's decision there was a $6 million gross sufficiency or reduction to rates.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.


MR. CULBERT:  So that's what that is.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So then there is a column for final-decision adjustments, and there is a separate -- after the final decision there is another $6 million adjustment.


MR. CULBERT:  I'm sorry, where are you pointing to?


MR. SHEPHERD:  You see column 2 is "final decision adjustments".  These are the adjustments that were made in the final decision, right?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But then you have column 5, you have another 6 million that you had to adjust?


MR. CULBERT:  No, no, that is the result of all of the adjustments.  The adjustments you see in column 2 were just the adjustments relative to things other than the CIS customer care, so CIS customer care, the $11 million increase that you see there --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. CULBERT:  -- that's just become embedded within the overall gross sufficiency.


So the final product that the Board approved was a reduction in rates of $6 million overall.  Even though my rates are going up for the CIS customer care deficiency by $11 million, overall my rates went down by $6 million.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  I'll pretend I understand that.


The -- what I'd like to do, though, is go to J1.2, and on line 3 of page 2 you see that the cost of capital is essentially identical -- almost identical from Board-approved to actual, right?


MR. CULBERT:  You are looking at J1.2, page 2?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  No, page 3.  283.8, 283.2.


MR. CULBERT:  Correct, and if you look at -- sorry to barge in -- if you look at column 2 of J1.2, the Board-approved total cost of capital of 283.2 shown on line 3 of column 2 matches identically to what was approved by the Board in K9.2, page 1, line 3, column 5.


MR. SHEPHERD:  True, but the components of that are quite different, aren't they?


MR. CULBERT:  Well, the components are different in that insomuch as the rate base that is showing in actuals has changed versus what the total base rate was that was approved, and elements of the plan of the capital structure, various elements of the capital structure have changed --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you in fact --


MR. CULBERT:  -- to some degree.


MR. SHEPHERD:  -- you got approval for a 60 percent long-term debt, but you actually only financed at 56 percent, right?


MR. CULBERT:  The result of the financing that occurred resulted in a 56 percent component ratio versus what was forecast.  That's true.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But the cost rate of your long-term debt was slightly higher at 5.84, four basis points higher than your approved.


MR. CULBERT:  Yes, and the result -- the reason that occurs is there was a planned debt issuance in the Board-approved results, I believe, from my recollection, about $400 million planned debt issuance in August of that year.


In reality, when treasurer went out to issue the debt, they issued the debt in two tranches, two $200 million issues, I believe, in November of 2013, versus the August calculation.  So that change, in terms of timing, would change the average cost of your debt as you would know.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Because you -- your new cheaper debt was later.


MR. CULBERT:  Your new cheaper debt was later.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  And that also means that you had less debt, so that's why your 60 percent went down to 56.


MR. CULBERT:  Yes, so as a result of the timing change for that debt issuance the, I would call it -- no, I won't call it that -- the default that happens in the capital structure is, we know our equity is deemed at 36 percent.  We know our preference shares.  They're an issue that's out there.  They are not going to change.  That's $100 million.


The default change in the capital structure falls to short-term debt, which is at a different cost rate than obviously --


MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand that, and there is a $180 million increase in short-term debt, right?


MR. CULBERT:  I'm assuming you've done the math of the cost rate times the --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, 236.5 minus 56.7.


MR. CULBERT:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Right?


MR. CULBERT:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But here's what I don't understand then.  If what happened is you moved 400 million from August to November, I don't understand how that results in a 4 percent reduction in your long-term debt component.  Four percent would be like $900 million, right, or $90 million?  Sorry, $90 million?


MR. CULBERT:  You are comparing the 60 percent component ratio to the 56 component ratio and actuals.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's right.


MR. CULBERT:  And your question was, sorry?


MR. SHEPHERD:  How did you end up with a 4 percent change when all did you was move 200 million?


MR. CULBERT:  Well, again, you have to look at what the capital structure is now balancing to, which is a much higher rate base, in the tune of -- if you look at the forecast rate base, it was $4.1-billion, four-zero-nine-one-point-five -- sorry, for everybody who is following, that's on page 7 of K9.2.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. CULBERT:  The forecast capital structure and rate base was four-zero-nine-one-point-five.  Now, that's excluding CIS customer care, unfortunately.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Which is another 70.5.


MR. CULBERT:  Which is another $70 million, so that would bring that number to four-one-six-zero, something like that, but your actual rate base is about $130 million greater than that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.


MR. CULBERT:  So that --


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm going to come to that in a second, but let me just finish the cost of capital.


Your short-term debt rate went from 2 percent in your rate order down to 1.11, right?


MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And that's just because you got a better deal because you had more of it?


MR. CULBERT:  And these -- these are the questions I'm not sure I have answers to right at this point in time.  We put the numbers together in the time frame we were requested to do so.


I'm going to assume that the average cost of short-term debt that was out there versus forecast was lower.  I don't know the reasons why.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Here's the part I don't understand.  You didn't change your preference shares.  Why did the cost of your preference shares go from 3.2 percent Board-approved down to 2.4 percent?


MR. CULBERT:  Preference shares, to my understanding now, have an election by parties who hold them, and the rate that is used is prime, so it ends up being 80 percent of the prime rate that is applied.  So again, that's a difference in forecast versus what the prime rate came.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So the result of all this is, despite all these ups and downs, you ended up with a cost of capital that ended up being roughly the same, although it meant that the amount you -- that went to your bottom line, the return on equity component, was higher by $4 million or so, and the debt cost was lower by 3.5 or so, right?


MR. CULBERT:  If you break it out into components in that nature, that's probably true.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right, but that won't affect your sufficiency for this Board.  It will affect your financial statements, right?  You will show a $4 million higher profit, but it won't show -– it won't affect your regulatory sufficiently, right?


MR. CULBERT:  It doesn't result in an increase in return on equity, which is the derivation of whether or not you have over-earned or not.  So your earnings will be different, but your return on equity won't be materially different, because as you pointed out, you've got changes in the bottom line but some of those are interest-related changes, et cetera.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So if you can look at page 7 of J1.2, this is the comparison of the Board-approved rate base to the actual rate base for 2013, right?


MR. CULBERT:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And this -- and in both cases, this is with CIS in, right?


MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So it's apples-to-apples?


MR. CULBERT:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you've helpfully explained on the next page what these things are, of which the two I'm interested in are item B, which is a $48.2 million reduction in accumulated depreciation, and item C, which is a $71.6 million increase in gas and storage.


So let's start with the 48.2 million.


You've described that sort of generally on page 8.  Can you sort of flesh that out for us a little bit?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes.  The impact, the major impact you're seeing there, is from an increase in retirements that occurred in 2012 actual results versus what the estimate was for 2012, which was the starting point for the 2013 budget you would see in the "Board-approved" column.


So at the end of 2012, there was an increase in retirements in the neighbourhood of $38 million, and it was due to some -- various projects which were system integrity-related.  We had the Don Valley -- I won't say replacement, but we had some work done on the Don Valley pipeline.  So there were some retirements associated with those things, and retirements also associated with the completion of our cast-iron mains and bare-steel programs in 2012.


So the impact of that is that you should see -- as you are pointing to the page 7, Mr. Shepherd -- you should see from that a decline in your gross plant values shown on line 1 of page 7 of J1.2.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. CULBERT:  But in fact you don't see the impact of that, because we also had increases in capital expenditures during 2013 versus forecast.  So the reason you only see a 0.1 change in gross plant is there is a multitude of things happening, an increase in retirements in 2012 of $38 million, which would have a full impact effect of $38 million decline in gross property, plant and equipment in 2013.  However, you are not seeing that because we had increased capital expenditures in 2013 that you heard from the capital panel while you were discussing things with them.  And the other side of that -- of that coin is you see in the $48.2 million decline in accumulated depreciation is that those requirements also are affecting, reducing, the accumulated depreciation balance by that full $38 million as well.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So the reason this -- the reason we don't see a change in the income statement related to this adjustment in accumulated depreciation is because the accumulated depreciation you are adjusting is from 2012.  It would affect your 2012 income statement, and an -- but it also carries forward into your 2013 rate base?


MR. CULBERT:  The impacts in the income statement in what regard?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, if you are going to change your accumulated depreciation, you have to have two entries, right?  One entry is on the asset side and the other entry is your depreciation expense, right?


MR. CULBERT:  So there's a few impacts from a change in retirements.  Your gross plant value would go be going down, which we agreed it did, and your depreciation expense solely from that in 2013 would be lower.  However, it's not materially lower because we also have increases in CAPEX that are happening such that depreciation expense is pretty much where the Board-approved was.


The other impacts you are pointing to are the, I'll say -- retirement costs are a debit to accumulated depreciation, so those don't impact your income statement, those and of themselves.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So that's $38 million.  The other 10 million of it is something to do with costs of removals?  Can you help us with that?


MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  What is that?


MR. CULBERT:  So cost of removals, as you would have seen in -- and we are here to talk about today in the site restoration costs discussions, those are costs of retirements that happened for -- as we finished the bare-steel and cast-iron mains -- I'll use those an example -- when you are doing that work, you are incurring cost of retirements.


So those are a debit to accumulated depreciation as well, is what those are.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, those are a debit to your regulatory liability for SRC, right?


MR. CULBERT:  Not in their entirety.  The way -- the way this is working is we have an estimate that is included in the net salvage value Mr. Kennedy will be speaking about.


If you look at Board Staff -- I think it is E40, Board Staff 77, there is a page back there that shows on an annual basis your actual costs of removal are going to fluctuate all the time.  They are never going to be what's included in your net salvage percentage.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.


MR. CULBERT:  So the difference between what you actually incur versus what you've included in your rates is what is going into -- and creating the liability reserve, I'll call it, or balance, the difference between those two things.


So not the entire cost of removal.  The entire cost of removal isn't in and of itself increasing the liability.  It is going into the liability, but there is relief of that, because you've included an amount that is in your depreciation rate as well.


So you are constantly adjusting what the balance is in that account.


MR. SHEPHERD:  If you -- it's probably easier to get to this when we ask about site restoration costs.  All right.  Let me ask the other part of this, though, which is you have a -- if you go to page 4 of J1.2, you have a $206 million increase in gas sales, and a $180 million increase in gas costs.


So all this other stuff isn't really having much of an impact on your sufficiency, but this is, right?


MR. CULBERT:  The elements that I point to on page 5 of 8 of J1.2 --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes?


MR. CULBERT:  -- there are various contributors to margin in and of itself, which is these two items you are referring to.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes?


MR. CULBERT:  So the major driver of the increase in gas costs, and obviously in our sales rates, is the change in the reference price that has occurred throughout the year.


So the Board-approved results had a -- I'm talking from memory -- had a reference price from April 2012, PGVA reference price, of about $157 for 103 m3.


As we went through 2013, that reference price increased upwards up into the range of, on average, $185.


So that's why you see such an increase in both the sales revenues and the gas costs.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So if it's -- if this increase has to do with gas costs, then that's a flow-through, right?


MR. CULBERT:  The $180 million is a flow-through.  That change is a flow-through.  That gets picked up, all your reference price changes get picked up in QRAM.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So then the 180 component of the 206 is also because it flows through totally, right?


MR. CULBERT:  It's a flow-through.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you are left with a 26.9 million –- well, actually 22.2 -- when you net it out -- million increase in your distribution margin?


MR. CULBERT:  In distribution revenue and margin versus what was forecast.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Now, I don't understand how your distribution margin can change because the gas price changes.


MR. CULBERT:  Well, the items you are seeing on page 5 of J1.2, reference A at the top --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes?


MR. CULBERT:  -- while my revenues did increase by the $180 million you are seeing for gas costs -- so in that 202.2, there is definitely $180 million of increases in gas costs -- the things that have changed are revenues, as you see in the bottom table, the mini-table at the bottom of that.  We had a higher number of average unlocked customers during the year.


So that in and of itself, while we're recovering gas costs from all customers, we have a higher number of unlocks.  Therefore it generated additional revenue versus forecast.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand why the 4.8 million on that --

MR. CULBERT:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  -- and the 1.9 higher contract demand volumes.


MR. CULBERT:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  These are both volumetric.  I understand why they increase your net distribution margin.


MR. CULBERT:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I get that.  So that's 6.7 million.


I don't actually know what stale date cheques are, but let's not waste time on that.


The other two, though, the other two components, these fuel cost charges, don't you have to give those back to the ratepayers?


MR. CULBERT:  Fuel cost charges that you see there in the derivation of the PGVA reference price, the transportation and storage fuel costs do not make up part of the PGVA reference price.  They never have.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So then if the PGVA reference price goes up, in addition to anything else, you can get a net profit out of this?


MR. CULBERT:  Yeah, these -- the way I understand that these charges are -- they are more related to the demand-side of our equation, rather than our price of commodity, so these have never been included -- any of these types of charges are not included in the derivation of the PG reference price, so we are at risk for anything that's demand-related, and we are at risk for the forecasting of storage and transportation fuel costs.


On the other side of the coin, with the -- what you see first, carrying costs on storage, the $3.1 million, that's a flow-through, you are quite correct.  We don't -- our earnings don't change as a result of the carrying cost on storage.  We just adjust that -- those things are adjusted in QRAM, so that $3.1 million would not contribute to an overearnings number or an increase in ROE.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So then if these numbers were actual -- you'd have to correct these numbers then to take that 3.1 out, because it is not actually a sufficiency, is it?


MR. CULBERT:  It is -- no, all I'm presenting here is what the changes in income are.  What I can point you to right off the top of my head is how that sufficiency is coming about, is if you look at --- where is it?  Page 4 of J1.2, you have line 16, the variance in column 3, $19.9 million.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yup.


MR. CULBERT:  Pretty much that entire change is contributing, other than the gas and storage amount you are seeing, almost all of that is contributing to gross sufficiency.  They're one for one.  They are similar to O&M.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So then the last thing I want to ask you about this is with respect to the tax number.


MR. CULBERT:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And the reason for that is that you have a $19.9 million -- you say that our income is up by $19.9 million, and so that's why we have this additional income-tax expense, except you don't have an additional income-tax expense, you have a saving.


MR. CULBERT:  Yes, so there's two elements to that.  Our taxes obviously go up as a result of having a higher amount of revenue versus, I'll say margin versus what was forecast.  So our taxes go up in that regard.


But if you look at -- I'm sure this is where you're going to take me, Mr. Shepherd -- page 6 of 7 of the K9.2 document.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Indeed.


MR. CULBERT:  And you compare that to page 6 of 8 of J1.2, which is the historical utility tax calculation, the major difference that's occurring that is driving down taxes and therefore creating a sufficiency is that our tax deductions are higher by about $25 million, and you can see that on a comparison of line 14 in J1.2, total tax deductions of 355 million --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah.


MR. CULBERT:  -- versus total tax deductions on page 6 of 7 of K9.2, which shows $330 million.  So those changes in tax deductions are for a variety of reasons, some of which were the item -- one of the items we spoke to earlier, which is, we have cost of retirements that have changed due to differences in work being done, and we had an increase in some CCA categories because of the increase in CAPEX in mains and services that happen throughout the year versus forecast, so we had some CCA increases for those types of things versus forecast, and those are the major elements of the change in tax deductions.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I understood your explanation here on page 5 of 8 to be that those retirements and removals that we were talking about earlier were deductible.


MR. CULBERT:  Those are immediately deductible; that's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But they were 2012.  How do they affect 2013?


MR. CULBERT:  Well, all of your costs of removal for the cast-iron and bare-steel work that was being done in the city of Toronto, we doesn't always receive or book all of the costs in the period in which the, I'll say retirement work is being done.  We might actually have some costs that spill into 2014 as well, based on billings that we receive from the city of Toronto, et cetera.


So there's not always a perfect match of what the costs of doing that work are, and there were some additional costs from work that was being done on the Don Valley line and various other system integrity projects.


So it's not all -- not all of the increasing costs of removals are due to just the bare-steel and cast-iron main programs.  There are other increases that happen because of unbudgeted work.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You had a $38 million decrease in your accumulated depreciation because of 2012 retirements.


MR. CULBERT:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You have a $38 million roughly reduction in your taxable income for the same reason, right?  I calculated 36, so close enough, right?  So is that just accidental, that they're the same number?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes, I would say that is purely accidental, because like I said, some of the costs of removal might be coming from some of the retirements in 2012, but not all of it.  There is additional work that was done in 2013, the Don Valley line, various other system integrity programs, et cetera, so in '13 there was an increase in cost of retirements versus the forecast.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And then the one other thing I wanted to ask you about on this is -- and this is just an anomaly -- if you take a look at J1.2, page 6, and then you look at the last page of K9.2, K9.2, the add-back of depreciation and amortization is 266.6, but you've said here that it's 27 -- it's now 278.


So -- but -- which is -- I'm fine, but then if you go to page 3, your depreciation and amortization figure is the same for Board-approved and historical.


MR. CULBERT:  Page 3 of K9.2?


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, of J1.2.


MR. CULBERT:  Yes.  See, in the tax return, as you know, because the CIS is a separate deal, the Board-approved results for the utility taxes did not include CIS in this table.


In the K9.2, page 6, the depreciation is lower because it doesn't include CIS.  CIS was handled separately in the Board-approved document.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So that difference on line 2 of K9.2, that difference of $22 million is the depreciation --


MR. CULBERT:  For CIS.


MR. SHEPHERD:  -- for CIS.


MR. CULBERT:  Correct.  And the CCA isn't different because, as you know, CCA was taken as of the end of 2012.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand.  And -- I think that's all my questions on that.


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I want to turn now to site restoration costs.  That was the easy stuff.  Site restoration costs is the hard stuff.  And I want to start with -- Madam Chair, do you have a particular time you'd like to break this morning?


MS. CONBOY:  No.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'll find an appropriate --


MS. CONBOY:  That would be great.  Thanks.


MR. SHEPHERD:  -- time.


And what I'd like to do is, I'd like to start with, if I can find it, your 2013 financial statements, which I had right in front of me -- oh, here they are -- which are in J1.1.  Do you have those?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes, we do.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, if you go to page 15 of your financial statements, this is a list of your regulatory assets and liabilities for Enbridge Gas Distribution.  Do you see that?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And at the end of 2013 you have a site restoration amount of $905 million, true?


MR. CULBERT:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, you've collected that from ratepayers over quite a number of years as, Mr. Kennedy explained, a reserve for future costs, right?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes, it is the residual of the amounts being recovered in the net salvage value versus netting out the costs that are being incurred throughout time, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So each year you charge in depreciation and add to this regulatory liability $70 million, let's say.


MR. CULBERT:  Nowhere near that number.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry?


MR. CULBERT:  It's nowhere near that number, but an amount.  I think it's around 50- to $60 million.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Fifty to $60 million?


MR. CULBERT:  Correct.  The net salvage value I think prior to the change was around 50- to $60 million, subject to check.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And you only spend 10 or $15 million on actual site restoration costs each year.


MR. CULBERT:  Not necessarily true.  Again, if you look at E40 Board Staff 77, it fluctuates.  In fact, in 2011, from my recollection, we spent around $35 million.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But it's always less.  In every year so far it's always been less than the amount that you charge to ratepayers, right?


MR. CULBERT:  Typically the pattern is that you are collecting an amount for things to be done currently and in the future, so, yes, typically the amount you are incurring today is less than what your net salvage value amount is you are recovering in rates, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And this 905 million is the accumulation over time of all of these -- that difference between what you collected and what you spent, right?


MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you don't pay interest on that.


MR. CULBERT:  We don't pay interest to who?


MR. SHEPHERD:  The ratepayers don't get a credit for that.  This is a liability that you have to the ratepayers, right?


MR. CULBERT:  It is not a liability to the ratepayers, no.  It is a liability for performing work for the retirement of all the assets that we are using to service our ratepayers, so these are not amounts owed to ratepayers.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  And so -- so these amounts, you don't have any accretion amount on them?  You don't increase their value at all because of the fact of the passage of time, do you?


MR. CULBERT:  No.  Enbridge Gas Distribution does not record asset retirement obligations in a fashion that other entities might, who have met the criteria of doing so.  We do not record asset retirement obligations.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And that 905 million, you actually have the money; right?  You use it, right?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes.  The manner in which the cash that is recovered through depreciation rates is used, is it gets commingled with all the cash requirements of EGD.  So for planning purposes, what happens with that now -- it is now shown as a liability.  It used to be, I think prior to 2009, the amounts actually used to be included in accumulated depreciation in our balance sheet, but for ratemaking purposes, my group still includes that liability amount as an offset to rate base.


So rate base, in effect, is lower by that amount, recognizing that if we weren't including those amounts as a credit to rate base, the entity would have to go out and get that cash through debt issuances and equity infusions.


So the amounts sitting there represent the amounts we would have had to have gone out and get -- and got, pardon me, EI or EGD.  That's what that does.


So effectively what you're doing is crediting ratepayers at the weighted average cost of capital for the utility.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And what you do is you actually reduce -- or, sorry, increase accumulated depreciation, right?  The gross value of the asset has not changed?


MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Accumulated depreciation is high --


MR. CULBERT:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  -- by $905 million because of this?


MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So I want to talk, then, about what the accounting rules are and why you're doing it the way you're doing it.


So I want to start with K9.3, and you will agree that this is the American accounting standards code provision dealing with asset retirement obligations, 410-20?


MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And this K9.3 has three components to it, and I just want to make sure that we're clear on what is what.


The first page has a table of contents.  So if you just look at number 3, 410-30, "Environmental obligations," that's remediation of things like spills and stuff like that, right?  That's nothing to do with site restoration for normal operation of your utility?  True?


MR. CULBERT:  I would say I agree.  I have not read the details of all of the sub-topics in this document, but I would agree that's the general premise of that.  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So that's pages 32 to 58 of this exhibit, and we don't have to look at those.


Now, then you have number 4, is 980-410, "Regulated operations," and that's pages 59 to 63.  And Enbridge's view is that that's what applies to you for asset retirement purposes, right?


MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And then you have 410-20, which is labelled "Asset retirement obligations," which is the basic rule associated with making provision under US GAAP for the future costs of retiring assets, right?


MR. CULBERT:  For entities who have met the criteria for having to record AROs, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So I'd like you to turn, if you could, to page 5 of this.  This is the -- 15-1 is the start of 410-20, the general rule, and it says -- and I'm going to read it:

"The guidance in this sub-topic applies to all entities, including rate-regulated entities that meet the criteria for application of sub-topic 980-10..."


Et cetera.


And 980-10 deals with regulatory assets and liabilities, right?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you meet that criteria, don't you?


MR. CULBERT:  We fall under that category.  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So then 410-20 applies to you, on the surface, anyway, and then we have to go through the details, but the starting point is it applies to you, right?


MR. CULBERT:  Yeah.  If you read the paragraph carefully, it says "including rate-regulated entities that meet the criteria for application" of 980-10, as provided blah-blah-blah.  So yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But your view is that it doesn't apply to you, that this 480-20 doesn't apply to Enbridge, right?


MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So what I want to do is I want to look at what the basic accounting rule is, even though I know you believe it doesn't apply to you, and then how what you're doing differs from it.


And I just want to do this at a simple level.


The basic rule starts with, at the time you put an asset in the ground, you estimate the net present value of the cost to restore it to a green field in the future, right?


MR. CULBERT:  If you met the criteria of having to do so, that's the premise.  You would fair-value that amount and capitalize it as part of your asset.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you have, then -- what you set up is you set up an obligation and that obligation is a liability to clean it up in the future.  And you set up an asset, which is an addition to the cost of the pipe.


MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.  So your gross plant value would be higher by that ARO amount.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you have the ARC, which is the cost; that goes into your gross plant, right?  You would treat it like any other cost, right?


MR. CULBERT:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And then you have the ARO, which is the liability.  They match, right?


MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you value the cost that -- that cost or the liability -- let's start with the liability.  You value the liability on the basis that you look at the current cost to remediate in those circumstances, you inflate it forward to the time you think you are going to have to do it, and then you discount it back to get a net present value; is that correct?


MR. CULBERT:  I will ask Mr. Kennedy to comment, because I've never actually done those calculations, but I assume you are relatively correct.


MR. KENNEDY:  Simplifying many pages of guidance from the FASB, generally that's correct.  You take your current cost, you inflate it forward using an appropriate rate of inflation, and you deflate it back, giving a predetermined discount rate.


MR. SHEPHERD:  By the way, Mr. Kennedy, you said in your direct evidence we all remember a time of 18 to 20 percent of inflation.  You didn't mean inflation, right?  You meant interest rates?


MR. KENNEDY:  Of interest rates.  And I think inflation in those days was running about 8 or 9 percent.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So they're quite different, right?


MR. KENNEDY:  Yeah.  I'm sorry.  I apologize for that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So then when you do this, when you -- your starting point is, you say –- like, for example with a service, right?  You put in a new service.  You say:  Okay, how much would it cost me today, fair market value, to clean this up right now?  Clean up a service just like this if it's at the end of its life, right?


That's your starting point?


MR. KENNEDY:  I think the starting point is to determine if you have a legal obligation to do such site remediation, assuming you passed that trigger.  And that trigger is normally qualified by attorneys and -- environmental attorneys that say:  In fact, the contract you have for landowner agreements and for rights of way include such legal obligation.


So I'll agree with you that we have to pass that trigger first, so hopefully we can agree that that's the main triggering mechanism.


MR. CULBERT:  If the trigger is met, then --


MR. SHEPHERD:  So Enbridge's position is it doesn't have a legal obligation to clean up its sites when it abandons them?


MR. KENNEDY:  The question, then, -- I'm going to take you to part two of it -- is we're talking final abandonment or terminal abandonment of a site, if you will, or a service line, not necessarily the replacement of an asset in this same right of way or same spot.  So most --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, Mr. Kennedy, can we take it step-by-step?


MR. KENNEDY:  Certainly.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Eventually when its abandoned, does Enbridge have a legal obligation to clean it up?  Yes or no?


MR. KENNEDY:  I don't know if I know the answer to that.  I'm not an attorney.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's why I'm asking Mr. Culbert, because Enbridge has a position on this, right?  What's your position?


MR. CULBERT:  I would have to assume that there has been, between our legal department and our auditors who have signed off on our financials, that at this time we do not have such a legal obligation.  I would have to check with them, though, because I have not been involved in that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.


MR. CULBERT:  But there are a multitude of conditions that must be met, as you can see in this document.


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, that's fine.  The reason I'm trying to get to this point is because if you don't have a legal obligation, that has other implications.


So first I want to know do you have a legal obligation.  You say you don't think you do, and I assume that if the company doesn't agree with that at the end of the day, they'll let us know, right?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes.  My interpretation is that assessment has been done and we do not have, as stated here, the legal obligation, as stated here.  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So then if you did have a legal obligation, what you would do is, step one, is you would say:  How much does it cost to clean it up now?  Right?


MR. KENNEDY:  In current costs, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  Then inflate it forward, right?


MR. KENNEDY:  No, the -- there is a step in between there, is what time is that terminal retirement going to occur.  It is not the replacement of your current asset.  It's when are you –- oops.  My chair just sunk on me.


MR. SHEPHERD:  We do that on purpose.


[Laughter]


MR. KENNEDY:  I apologize.  I sunk below the table there.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It is an Ontario Energy Board, like...


MR. KENNEDY:  We're not talking about sinking funds yet.


MR. SHEPHERD:  We're going to.


MR. KENNEDY:  So, no, the determination needs to be, is when would that specific service or that specific area no longer have a service line in.  And I can tell you just from experience, most of the gas distribution companies that I deal with, both have followed C GAAP at some point in time, and Canadian utilities that are following US GAAP have not been able to determine that timing.


And so what happens is you end up trying to discount something or inflate something to infinity and deflate it back from -- or discount it back from infinity.


So the challenge is, one, is there a legal obligation?  There may or may not be.  I think most companies have determined there's not, but even if there was, they cannot complete the ARO calculation, because they don't know the timing of that final site abandonment.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm going to come back to that --


MR. KENNEDY:  Okay.


MR. SHEPHERD:  -- but first I want to make sure we understand what the process is.


So -- and because this Board is familiar with this, because Ontario Power Generation does something similar, right?  They have AROs, and they do the process, right?


So you estimate the costs today.  You apply inflation to it, to a date in the future when you are going to have to clean up, right?  Let's assume you can figure out what that --


MR. KENNEDY:  Yeah, assuming you can figure that out, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Then you say, Okay.  So that's how much it's going to cost me, then, then you discount that back at an interest rate, not an inflation rate, an interest rate, right, to get to how much you have to put aside today for that obligation a million years from now.


MR. KENNEDY:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And then that number, that final number, you set that up as an obligation, a liability, and you add it to the cost of your assets.


MR. KENNEDY:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So now I want to turn to why you're not doing this.  And if you can look at page 8 of K9.3, you will see that -- 25-7.  Do you see that?  And it says -- and this is sort of fairly categorical:
"The obligation to perform the asset retirement activity is unconditional, even though uncertainty exists about the timing and/or method of settlement."



And then if you go on to the end of the paragraph, it says:
"Uncertainty is factored into the measurement of the fair value of the liability through assignment of probabilities to cash flows."



So I take it that means that they're saying if you have the legal liability, the obligation, then you can't say we don't know the number.  You have to find a number, right?


MR. KENNEDY:  That's correct.  I was actually part of an American Gas Association committee that -- they wrote a white paper dealing with this specific clause back in -- my memory is failing me now -- probably about 2010 or thereabouts.


This clause actually was an adding -- an adder, if you will, about a year after the original standard, and it was the FASB intent to try to say -- too many companies, in the view of FASB, were saying, We can't calculate it, so FASB entered this and actually put an example -- think of a coal-fired kiln into the FASB standard, to suggest that, no, you can't just use the excuse that you are not going to meet the standard because you don't know when it's coming out.


The results of the white paper -- and I haven't read it now for a number of years -- generally said, no, you can't take the easy out and say we can't calculate it, but what you have to do is be realistic.


So what you will see is utilities in the States predominantly will say something along the lines -- and this is layman's version of a whole bunch of accounting and legalese -- that we know there is multiple life cycles -- jeez, I did it again -- there's multiple life cycles that occur within utility plan, and because that period gets into the many, many hundreds of years, you effectively come to a zero calculation, if in fact you can make it.


So they've said if we have 50- and 60-year asset lives, and we assume five or ten life cycles, well, you are getting centuries, in terms of before you are finding abandonment on a site.


And then they got into the debate, well, that's older than most cities are.  How can you calculate that?  So there is a lot of debate around it.


At the end of the day, the U.S. audit community and FASB generally agreed that for utility assets that have no expectation of ever abandoning a site -- in other words, there is an obligation to serve to certain utilities -- so long as that obligation to serve exists, and so long as you have an expectation you are going to replace assets on a continuing basis upon their eventual retirement, that you are effectively allowed to say the discount number goes forwards and comes back to an effective zero number.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And so then you don't have to comply.


MR. KENNEDY:  So then well, in essence you are complying.  You are saying that the number is so small it's immaterial, or in fact I really can't make a reasonable calculation.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah, is that in here somewhere?


MR. KENNEDY:  Oh, man, you'd have to go back to all the combined stuff.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, no, this is the rule, right?


MR. KENNEDY:  This is the rule.  This --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Is it in the rule?


MR. KENNEDY:  I don't think so.  All's I can point to is the work that the American Gas Association, Edison Electrical Association did.  I attend a number of conferences per year that around the years 2010 dealt with that very specific issue and actually dealt with this very specific clause, and that was generally, as my understanding, is where most U.S. utilities, gas distribution utilities, have got to.


Now, I'll be -- to be really upfront about it, some of them have some legal obligations in some areas on their contracts, and they would record an ARO, whether it was the specific legal obligation, and it is for -- the contracts were such that upon replacement of assets the assets would not be replaced in the same site.  They have recorded obligations.


So there is some -- you would see an increased instance in some gas utilities in the States where the agreements are such that upon the expiration of that asset in that site they would not be replaced on the same site, and those utilities have developed some AROs.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So let me just turn to page 13 of this exhibit.  And page 13 is the disclosure requirement, and that's why I took you to your financial statement in the first place, because it says in 50-1, it says: "An entity shall disclose..."


Now, that's mandatory, right?


MR. KENNEDY:  The word "shall" I would indicate to be mandatory --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah, and you have an accounting degree, right?  You are a specialist in accounting, right?


MR. KENNEDY:  I do not have a degree.  I claim expertise in utility accounting, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Good.  So:

"An entity shall disclose..."


And if you go down to (c):
"...a reconciliation of the beginning and ending aggregate carrying amount of asset retirement obligations and so on, these details."


None of that is in your statements, right?  None of that is in the Enbridge statements anywhere, right?


MR. CULBERT:  I don't -- no, because we -- our interpretation is we do not have asset retirement obligations.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And so -- and the reason is in one -- on the one hand, because you don't have a legal obligation to clean up after yourself, and on the other hand if you did, the number would be zero, right, because of what Mr. Kennedy is saying.


MR. CULBERT:  I'm going to assume our interpretation is we believe this will be an ongoing business for an infinite amount of time.  We are replacing assets.  We are expanding.  There is no reasonable way for us to calculate what that number might be.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Excellent, excellent.


MR. CULBERT:  And that's confirmed by our audit opinion of our financials as well.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, this is probably a good time for a break.  I'm going into a different sub-topic.


MS. CONBOY:  Okay.  Sounds great.


It is quarter to.  We are going to break for 20 minutes today, recognizing the fact that when I've been giving 15 minutes, people aren't back from their coffees, including ourselves, so we will return at five after.  Thank you.

--- Recess taken at 10:46 a.m.

--- On resuming at 11:09 a.m.

MS. CONBOY:  Please go ahead, Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

So I just briefly would like you -- I think this is probably for you, Mr. Kennedy.  Go to page 21 of Exhibit K9.3.

This is one of the examples that they give in the code.  And I'm just using it to illustrate the structure of how this works so that we can make sure we're on the same page, because I'm then going to ask you -- and I guess foreshadowing -- how the method that you are using is different from this, how the components differ.

MR. KENNEDY:  Certainly.  Mr. Shepherd, I should -- thought of it during the break.  I used the term "FASB" a lot in my prior testimony.  Just for purposes of the record, that is the Financial Accounting Standards Board, which is the US standard.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's right, and they are the ones responsible for the ASC, the Accounting Standards Code, right?

MR. KENNEDY:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So on page 21, it has an example -- this is actually an example of an offshore oil platform -- in which they go through these steps at the top to get to the asset retirement obligation.

And you see that they start by saying:  What are the costs today?  And they add them up; they get 283.5 million, presumably, right?

MR. KENNEDY:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And then they say:  Let's inflate this to the future, 10 years from now, when we're going to have to clean it up.  And they use a 4 percent rate, which is cute, to get to 419.6.

Then they have a risk premium, which applies in the case of that sort of work, right?

MR. KENNEDY:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And they get to a number, 440.6, which is what they expect to spend 10 years in the future to clean up this oil platform, right?

MR. KENNEDY:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Then they say:  Now let's take the credit-adjusted, risk-free rate, 8.5 percent, and discount it back to get to the number that we should be depreciating today, and that's 104.9, right?

MR. KENNEDY:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The reason I took to you that is because our understanding is that there are basically five factors influencing the provision that you would put in place, the obligation, if you like, the future liability.

One is the current cost that you would spend; second is the future date you have to clean up; third is the inflation rate; fourth is the discount rate; and fifth is the period over which you're depreciating the asset, right?

MR. KENNEDY:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So let me just walk through those and sort of understand some components of them from your point of view.

The current cost -- one of the problems that Enbridge has is that their current costs in the past have been for cast-iron mains, for bare-steel, things like that.  And their future costs are going to be for plastic, right?  For the most part?

MR. KENNEDY:  Yes, although you can develop a current cost for the assets in place, by bringing the historic costs to today's date.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood, but would you want to take out the cast-iron and bare-steel stuff because those costs aren't going to be indicative of plastic, necessarily, right?

MR. KENNEDY:  Not necessarily.  They are not indicative for two reasons.  One is -- you're right -- the differing material type, and two is the obvious time of installation.  I mean, you're not putting cast-iron in place today, for example, right?

So you have a different material type, different costing of that material, and then different installation techniques for the varying material types, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Then the second component is the future date at which you expect to have to do the clean-up, and one of the problems with Enbridge doing classic ARO accounting is that you don't have a future date to use, right?

MR. KENNEDY:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But then you do do -- inflating the costs into the future and discounting them back, right?  So what date do you use?

MR. KENNEDY:  I think this is one of the key differences, is the classic or the financial obligation reporting deals with the final -- final facility, final site, the final termination of business activity at that site.

That becomes the challenge.  The calculations that we make deal with the estimated cost of retirement of the facilities in service today.  That's a concrete base, and that's a big difference.  We know the cost of those facilities today.  We know the type of assets we have.  And we can develop, as part of our depreciation studies, an estimated remaining life for those facilities in place today or for our costs invested today, which is very significantly different than if we were trying to develop a timing of the replacements of two or three generations of those facilities.

So that's one of the really critical differences for entities, or for utilities, particularly, that use an ARO.

I think you alluded to OPG this morning.  That happens to be one of my clients, and I have evidence before this Board in one of their proceedings.  They have very definite sites and they have very definite life estimates for those sites, so they have a concrete end-of-life for their current cost.

Utilities such as gas distribution utilities do not.

So to answer question directly, Mr. Shepherd, we do know a remaining life for the facilities for which we are developing the site restoration reserve.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That date is essentially the date that depreciation ends?  It's the same period as your depreciation period?

MR. KENNEDY:  Yes.  We match the remaining life for depreciation purposes to the remaining life for the calculation of the CDNS calculations.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  The third component that this number is sensitive to is the inflation rate, right?  And one of the problems is that if you're looking at past history, your inflation rate was higher than you expect it to be in the future, and so if you apply the past into the future, you are using too high an inflation rate?

MR. KENNEDY:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And one of the benefits of the CDNS method is to get rid of that?

MR. KENNEDY:  Yeah, it gives you the opportunity to try to estimate an appropriate rate of inflation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Then the fourth component that the number is sensitive to is the discount rate, right?

MR. KENNEDY:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you used the Government of Canada triple-A bond rate?

MR. KENNEDY:  That's correct.  At the time I did the calculations.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, I just wonder if I could turn to - ask you to turn to page 10 of the accounting standards.  And you see "determination of reasonable estimate of fair value."  You see that the 30-1 requires -- where you are doing an ARO, requires that you use the credit-adjusted, risk-free rate in which you adjust -- you take the triple-A rate and then you adjust it for the creditworthiness of the company that you are doing it for; right?

MR. KENNEDY:  That would be correct in the circumstances of ARO.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so why aren't you doing that here?

MR. KENNEDY:  Because I'm not making an asset retirement obligation calculation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, it is a future liability that you are trying to value, right?

MR. KENNEDY:  It is.  It is not a –- it is an estimate of the cost of retirement.

In my view, the use of a discount rate, well, it becomes a challenge.  What's the right discount rate?

The normal practice in this country has been to use the Canada long-term double-A rate, as I have in my calculations, not the -- for these type of normalization calculations.

The FASB, for whatever reason, has asked for a credit-adjusted rate.  I haven't done that.  I, quite frankly, didn't think that the use of that ARO-style calculation number, the requirements of it, would make -- quite frankly, I viewed that the use of the -- as we have in most of my calculations throughout this country, when I've done this type of normalization, was to use the Canada double-A long-term rate.

I thought that was fair here as well.

The goal is to be fair and try to accurately reflect the correct current value of that future liability.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Why would that discount rate be correct in this case and not correct in the case of a formal asset retirement obligation?

MR. KENNEDY:  Other than the fact it's written in the standard, I'm not sure that I would agree it's the right rate to use even in the term of an asset retirement obligation, but when you are making those calculations you are constrained by the rules of the standard.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you are saying the standard's wrong?

MR. KENNEDY:  I'm just saying that in that particular case, I'm not sure that's the rate that I would think is necessarily the right economic rate to use.

We can have the debate, and FASB has open debates about some of those things all the time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, but there is no debate on this, right?  They have a rule?

MR. KENNEDY:  That's what I said.  So if you were doing a formal asset retirement obligation, one has to use that rate.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So they say when you are valuing, when you're present-valuing a future liability to clean up a site, you have to use the credit-adjusted, risk-free rate, which for Enbridge would be, like, 3.8 or something, right?

MR. KENNEDY:  I'm not sure if I would even know what that rate for Enbridge would be, but the words here are such as you've described, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Culbert, do you know what the rate was on the November month?

MR. CULBERT:  I can't say I know specifically.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Are we in the 3.5 to 4 percent range?

MR. CULBERT:  Probably in that range.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So it's a lot more than 2.38, which is what you used, right?

MR. KENNEDY:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that would make a big, big difference to how much your provision should be today, right?  If you changed it from 2.38 to 3.38, let's say, that's a big, big difference, isn't it?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. KENNEDY:  The impact of using a discount rate of one-third of the -- this -- discounted by 1 percent, yeah, it would have a large impact.

I think one of the things you have to remember, though, is the use of a -- the rate for asset retirement obligations, as FASB states, is for -- for in the case of a utility would be a lot further out, you know, more than just the current generation of assets that are in service today, which is what I'm looking for.

I'm discounting, not today's assets that are in service today, over, you know, a life that is obviously shorter than would be if we were making the formal asset retirement obligation calculation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder, your calculation is a model, right?  It's a spreadsheet.

MR. KENNEDY:  It is.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so the 2.38 percent is a variable in that model, right?

MR. KENNEDY:  It is.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you find out from Enbridge what their current market rate for their debt is, which is something that they know, presumably, and insert that and report to us how your figure of 292.8 million would change as a result of that new rate?

MR. KENNEDY:  We could, sir.  To say -- it's a model that -- that's a variable, and it does create a little bit of work.  It's not just changing a number in the model and printing it out.  It is probably a day or so of work for us, for my staff.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Why would that be?  It's a spreadsheet, right?

MR. KENNEDY:  It is, but it's a number of spreadsheets.  There is a spreadsheet for each account.  I guess what I'm fearful of is, is I'm anticipating that we may be asked for other runs of the model at later points than today, and I think you just need to be aware that one run isn't bad.  Two runs is obviously twice that much work.  And if we get into a number of different runs of a number of different inflation rates and a number of different discount rates and a number of different life estimates, we are talking weeks of work, not hours of work, and so I am a little bit hesitant.

I can definitely accept the undertaking, but it would not be available prior to the end of my testimony tomorrow, for sure.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I guess I, you know, I have to say, you know, unless you are using Lotus 1-2-3, I would have thought that it takes you less than ten minutes to run a new interest rate.

MR. KENNEDY:  It would take much longer than that, sir.  Just the summary of the numbers, you are talking about many vintages of plant.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But you are not changing any of those.

MR. KENNEDY:  No, but --


MR. SHEPHERD:  You are changing one variable.

MR. KENNEDY:  But I am taking all those vintages forward and then bringing them back, sir.  It's not -- I didn't build the model with the expectation that we would be doing multiple scenarios.  I can say under oath that it is more than ten minutes of work.  It is more like probably half a day, a day to work, by the time we get it, confirm it.  I am not putting something into evidence unless I can properly vet it and vet the results, and that would be probably half a day of work, and I...

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is it fair to say that the difference in the discount rate that we're talking about could be hundreds of millions of dollars?

MR. KENNEDY:  I wouldn't anticipate it to be that much of the difference, but I -- to be honest, I don't know.  I would say it's probably less than $100 million --


MR. SHEPHERD:  But a big number.

MR. KENNEDY:  It's a big number, yeah, and there is absolutely no doubt.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

MS. SEBALJ:  Can I just -- I apologize, Mr. Shepherd, but I think there is an oblique reference being made to some undertakings that Staff provided in advance to the company, and I don't want your undertaking to be compromised by the fact that Staff -- we just wanted to give them a heads-up understanding that this might be some work, and is that, Mr. Kennedy, what you are referring to as multiple runs?

MR. KENNEDY:  Yes.

MS. SEBALJ:  Okay.  And our runs involve a discount rate of 5 percent.  And I'm sure you've seen those.

MR. KENNEDY:  Yes, I have.

MS. SEBALJ:  And so I just want to make sure that everybody is on the same page in the room and we're not talking in code, so I don't know if you are willing to live with that, Mr. Shepherd, as the run, or...

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I'd like the number --


MS. SEBALJ:  Actual debt rate.

MR. SHEPHERD:  -- that is compliant with the FASB standard.  So that would be, I think, somewhere in the 3.5 to 4 percent range, because 5 percent would be a high number for Enbridge, because they don't borrow at that rate.

MS. SEBALJ:  That's correct.  I mean, we based it on the numbers that they have provided in their own evidence with respect to long Canada bond yields, but that is the 2018 number.

You are correct, in their own evidence it ranges from 3.2, and by 2018 it is at 5.

So I just wanted to make sure that we are going to record these once we're in process, but it may be that intervenors could agree on one or two runs on a break and then provide those so that --


MS. CONBOY:  I'm sorry, Ms. Sebalj, this is going to be an undertaking that you are going to be requesting, or...

MS. SEBALJ:  Yes.  We provided in advance copies of the undertakings because we thought that they were many, and we wanted Enbridge to have a heads-up that we were going to be asking for this.  I don't think they have the results, but we just wanted them to know where we were going, and so I think one of those undertakings is virtually identical but for the actual number, the actual discount rate, so I wondered if it might be possible for us all to cooperate so that we have one or two runs rather than multiple asks.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I would be happy, Madam Chair, to discuss with Staff and the company in the break what -- or at the lunch break what runs would satisfy my request and give us -- give the Board the best information possible.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  We'll -- you can discuss it over the break.  Can you help me with timing, however?  This evidence was put in at this discount rate.  The numbers were calculated --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MS. CONBOY:  -- at the Canada double-A rate, was presented in the evidence.  Were these -- have I missed it?  Were these -- was this asked by way of interrogatory, or was this discussed at the technical conference?  Why are we dealing with this today?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, in my case, it is because I just missed it.

MS. SEBALJ:  Similar -- I would be a little more generous to us and suggest that this is very complicated evidence, and it's taken a while for us to go come to this point, quite frankly, and quite frankly, it is an extremely important point, in Staff's view.  The discount rate can make a very significant difference to the amount of the liability.

MS. CONBOY:  Sure, I think we all understand the direction of the math.  But I was just curious as to the timing.

So meet over the lunch break and try to discuss something that -- or come up with an option that is agreeable to everybody.  Failing that, we'll have some deliberation up here.  So if you'd like to continue, please.

MR. CASS:  Sorry, Madam Chair, if I could just very quickly, I didn't get a -- I had my microphone on, but I wasn't quick enough to speak up.

In terms of this sort of undertaking that Mr. Shepherd has asked for, I think to some extent Enbridge would be in the Board's hands as to whether this is of value.  Mr. Shepherd has gone through the sort of calculation that would be done in an ARO situation.  The witnesses have made plain their evidence that that is not the appropriate situation, so we would end up with a number, and no witness to support the validity of using that approach or that number.  And so I question whether the value of it justifies the work.

That's the concern that I have.  But perhaps we can discuss it offline.  Perhaps we'll be able to come to some agreement.  I just wanted to make sure that that concern is --


MS. CONBOY:  I understand.

MR. CASS:  -- noted.

MS. CONBOY:  Could you just give us a minute, please.

Sorry, did you want to say something before we --


MR. SHEPHERD:  I wanted to respond to Mr. Cass.

MS. CONBOY:  Oh, please go ahead.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The number that is in the evidence, the triple-A bond rate, I just asked that -- I did this on purpose.  I asked the witness, What's your basis for that, and he said, That's how I've always done it.  So there is no underlying rationale for that either.

MS. CONBOY:  Okay.  Am I correct in saying that's the way I've always done it versus that's the way you've seen it done in other jurisdictions across Canada?

MR. KENNEDY:  Perhaps I can help with that I'm hesitant to say -- make a comment to add to my prior response, but I think it's important.  Use of the triple-A long-term bond rate is what -- is a common accounting standard in Canada.  In fact, it's what we would use under the circumstances at the International Financial Reporting Standard, Standard 37, requires the use of the triple-A Canada bond.

So it isn't a number -- I want to be clear.  It wasn't a number I pulled out of my head.  It is a number that has basis within accounting theory in this country and in fact in regulatory theory within this country, as use as an appropriate discount factor.

So I want to be clear that it isn't a number that was simply grabbed out of my head.  It is a number with basis, and in fact is used widely within the accounting circles within this country.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It is not used in US GAAP, is it?


MR. KENNEDY:  No, it is not used in US GAAP.


MS. CONBOY:  We get your point, Mr. Shepherd.  Thank you.


[Board Panel confers]


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  Over the lunch break, if you are able to -- if the company and the intervenor and you, Mr. Shepherd, and anybody else who is interested in this undertaking, and Board Staff can come up to a mutually agreeable undertaking, then we will take that, as I had said.


And if you are not able to, then we can render a determination, but I do want to make it clear that we are not going to be recalling Mr. Fleming [sic] to the stand after this undertaking.


Go ahead, somebody.


MS. CHAPLIN:  I just wanted to ask Mr. Fleming a question of clarification.  You made reference to the fact that use of the Canada -- sometimes you've used double-A, sometimes you've used triple-A.  Is there a difference?


MR. KENNEDY:  Yes.  I think actually I have to check the standard again.  It is actually the long-term triple-A rate.


MS. CHAPLIN:  So the triple-A?  And when you make reference to it commonly being used, do you mean in situations of making these types of calculations, or in other types of economic analysis by utilities?


MR. KENNEDY:  Well, by myself in these types of calculations.  It is used -- like I say, it's stated as the rate to use within the IFRS standard for asset retirement obligation calculations.  And as such, I've used it in CDNS calculations in this country when I've put the CDNS method before various regulators.


I just want to clarify one thing.  It's Mr. Kennedy.  My company is Gannett Fleming.  I'm Mr. Kennedy, so just so you have the record clear.


MS. CHAPLIN:  I do have your name down right.  I am just not paying attention to my own notes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Do we need a number for that, Madam Chair?


MS. CONBOY:  Yes.  Thank you very much, Mr. Shepherd.


MS. CHAPLIN:  We don't really have an undertaking yet.


MS. CONBOY:  Perhaps we should put a placeholder for it.


Okay.  Let's not give it a number at this point.  What you can determine over the break, we'll see whether there is an undertaking number that's required.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


Now, I just want to -- we've talked a lot about 410-20, the accounting standard that you are not applying.  I'm going to come back to how what you're doing is similar and different from that.


But first I want to go to page 60 of K9.3, and this is the accounting standard you are applying, right?


MR. BRETT:  What's that paragraph number?


MR. SHEPHERD:  It is 25-2, on page 60.


MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Basically what this says -- tell me whether I'm right -- what this says is if you collect money from customers, if you are a rate-regulated entity and you collect money from customers for asset retirement obligations, and it's not the same as the amount you collect -- you include for accounting purposes, that difference must be recorded as a regulatory asset or liability; isn't that basically what this says?


MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So this doesn't tell you anything about how much you collect, right?


MR. CULBERT:  No.  It's talking about the recognition of the difference between what you collect and what you are incurring as a cost.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So is there somewhere else in the accounting standard that is the basis for the amounts you are proposing to collect from ratepayers?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. KENNEDY:  Mr. Shepherd, it is -- my memory's stalling me at this very precise moment, but I do know there is a FASB standard that deals with rate-regulated companies that makes provision for the application of decisions of a regulator to appear on the financial statements of a company.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand that.  I think everybody in the room understands that part of it.  Here's what I'm trying to get at.


This Board typically starts with your accounting numbers, and then it makes changes to the accounting numbers, or you make the changes and the Board approves them, based on particular regulatory functions.


So I'm trying to get at:  Is the basis for the amounts you have collected and are wanting to collect an accounting rule, or is it a regulatory rule that you are proposing, a change to the accounting for regulatory purposes?


MR. KENNEDY:  I could perhaps start, and Mr. Culbert can kick me under the table and maybe correct me if I'm in error.


My understanding, at least within this province and the accounting rules, is the latter, in terms of your question.


In other words, the application of a net salvage provision to the depreciation rates, and recording that through depreciation expense and into accum and subsequently being shown as a separate liability on the balance sheets, really is a function of regulatory accounting that has been accepted for rate-regulated companies for financial reporting purposes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Excellent.


MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So now I want to go into some of the details of this and what the problem is that you're addressing.


So let's start with -- as compared to asset retirement obligations, the key difference, the key starting point is that you don't set up a liability and you don't set up an asset at the outset; right?


MR. KENNEDY:  That's one –- yes, that's -- generally as a result of the calculations we make, there is not an asset formed for that amount.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You do have to calculate those numbers, right?  Because you can't figure out your depreciation amount unless you calculate the numbers, right?


MR. KENNEDY:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But your depreciation amount, now, it combines the notions of depreciation and accretion that you would have in asset retirement obligations, right?


MR. KENNEDY:  This is why I was hesitant with my yes before.


[Laughter]


MR. KENNEDY:  It is done in a very different format.  In the ARO style of accounting, it is like depreciation of an asset.


In the regulatory-style view of net salvage recovery, it is taking the current asset and allowing you to over-depreciate it, if you will, to allow for recovery.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's exactly where I was going.  Very good.


So basically you don't have an asset to depreciate here in the normal sense, because you haven't put in the books an asset requirement cost.  So you are taking depreciation on, in effect, like a phantom asset, to build, like, a sinking fund up until the end, right?


MR. KENNEDY:  I'm not going to say it's a phantom asset.  It is simply allowing you within a pool of assets to recover the combination of original cost and the estimated cost of retirement.


There really is no asset, phantom or otherwise; there is one asset in service or one group of assets, and we take depreciation expense, our accumulated depreciation, to the extent that we recover not only the original cost, but the estimated cost of recovery.


A sinking fund is probably very different, and we could probably spend another hearing day on sinking fund methods if we so desire.


MR. SHEPHERD:  No.


[Laughter]


MR. KENNEDY:  So it is not a sinking fund method as such.  It is simply a pretty well straight-line depreciation, that we recover a pool of assets in excess of their original cost.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So the way this works is -- see, normally what you do with appreciation -- tell me whether this is right -- is you take the cost and you divide it over the number of years, and you allocate it to those years.  It is the matching principle, right?


MR. KENNEDY:  Definitely.  And some accounting 101 that I took, I think, in grade 10 accounting.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So what you are doing, though, is, instead, is you are not -- in this context, you are not allocating a cost to periods, as with depreciation, because you don't have a cost in the first place in your books, right?


MR. KENNEDY:  You don't have a cost of an asset, but you have a cost that you are allocating to various periods, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Where is the cost?


MR. KENNEDY:  So what happens is -- actually, I'm going to take you back to the formula that you describe.


The textbook formula for depreciation is cost minus salvage over life.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. KENNEDY:  In the case of regulated utilities, most utilities, they're asset-based, and that salvage number is in fact a negative.  So the proper terminology for it is "net negative salvage."


So when you take that formula, you take cost or 100 percent of investment minus a negative number, it becomes additive over the life.


So really what you are doing is allocating to periods that cost.


The Federal Regulatory -- Federal Energy Regulatory Commission, or FERC, defined in Part 101 of their gas regulations service value over life, and they further define service value to be cost netted for the net salvage amounts.  So in other words, the original cost of the asset is adjusted for the future estimate of removal and becomes known as the cost of the asset or the service value of the asset.  So we're allocating is that service value over the life of the asset in each period.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So in the simplest situation -- I understand this -- in the simplest situation, you have a $10,000 asset that you are going to use for ten years.  You depreciate $1,000 a year.  Everything is nice and simple.


However, if you think that at the end of the ten years you are going to have to spend $2,000 to clean up after the asset, then you say -- now, if you treat that as a legal obligation, then you say the original cost is 12,000, and you charge 1,200 a year in depreciation, but you don't do that, because in your case you are not saying it's a legal obligation, so you start with 10-, but you depreciate 12-, right?


MR. KENNEDY:  Well, I'm going to take you back.  Under the legal -- under the asset retirement obligation theory you would depreciate your $1,000 assets over ten years.  You have $1,000 per year.  Then you'd have a separate depreciation calculation for your asset retirement obligation, which would equate to the $200.  I'm not sure if I got --


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's right.  That's fine.


MR. KENNEDY:  And the sum of the two is a 1,200, but it is done under two very distinct and separate calculations.


Under the regulatory theory we take that $1,000 asset and we say, no, the service value of that -- are we using 1,000 or 10,000?  I'm losing myself here.  $1,200 asset, because you have the $1,000 asset, the $200 of estimated site reclamation, we deem the service value of that asset, the one asset, to be $1,200, and we divide that over ten years and have a resultant 1,200 -- or $120.


So it is done in one calculation as compared to two, because you only have one asset.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So the only difference, really, the only difference is that you don't set up the asset and the liability in your books at the beginning.  Otherwise you are doing the same thing as you would do with respect to asset retirement obligations --


MR. CULBERT:  Yes, if your cost of removal matched what you included in your depreciation rate, your net book value of rate base at the end of that ten years would be zero.  Absolutely, it would.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But that doesn't answer the question.  As compared to ARO accounting, the fundamental difference here -- tell me whether this is right -- is that you are not setting up an asset and liability at the beginning, but otherwise you are doing all the same things, right?


MR. KENNEDY:  At a very simplistic level, that's true.  I mean, under ARO accounting you've got annual looks at the accretion rates and the life and the estimates, et cetera, as you do for regulatory accounting, we do periodic looks at that.


So at a very simplistic level, in a protect world, yes.  Now, the other thing you need to understand -- I think it's important -- is asset retirement obligations are asset-specific.  We apply the net negative salvage factors to a group of assets; in other words, all the services together.


Under an ARO calculation you would be making that calculation for each and every service.  So you'd be making millions of calculations.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand, but really your method is just a shortcut to do the same thing, right?


MR. KENNEDY:  Yes, in a simple --


MR. SHEPHERD:  And I don't mean that in a bad way.


MR. KENNEDY:  No, I don't take it in a bad way.  It's a simplification to deal with the fact that utilities have millions and millions of single assets.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you create an algorithm, a more elegant way of achieving the same result.


MR. KENNEDY:  We first do -- we group those many assets into logical groups, as defined by various systems of accounts and then follow the typical group accounting that utilities have used since, I think since 1916 or 1917.


And so it's -- one of the biggest distinct differences is one's an asset-specific calculation, and the method we use with utility companies is a group depreciation method, so that creates some differences all by itself.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So now what you've done in your study is you've identified two problems.  What you did first is you looked at, how much do we have on hand -- you were doing it the end of 2010, so $753 million, right?


MR. KENNEDY:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you said, how much do we have on hand and how much should we have on hand.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah, I'm going to go back one step even further.  We looked at that 753 million and said, That's a big number.  Is it reasonable?  Should we look into it further?  We did some preliminary tests.  We said, Yes, we need to look at it further, and then we got --


MR. SHEPHERD:  It was too much.


MR. KENNEDY:  -- your suggestion.  It appeared to be too much, based on our --


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you concluded that something more like 460 would be right.


MR. KENNEDY:  Yes, ultimately.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so then you had two problems, if I understand it right.  Problem number one is that each year you were charging -- Enbridge was charging the ratepayers too much in depreciation for their current assets, and that too much was about $30 million a year.


MR. KENNEDY:  Yeah, I want to be clear.  I wouldn't want to suggest that we had overcharged.


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, no.


MR. KENNEDY:  The estimate we were making on the basis of the method that we were following and the estimates that were in place.  The amounts in revenue requirement were appropriate, given those estimates.


Given the change in procedure, et cetera, yes, we are not suggesting it is more appropriate going forward for the reduced amount of depreciation --


MR. SHEPHERD:  You concluded that the reasonable amount to charge the ratepayers each year for this category of depreciation should be about 30 million less.


MR. KENNEDY:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Right.  Okay.  And so going forward you had to fix that, right?


MR. KENNEDY:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Then the second part is you said, Now let's look at the $753 million.  Well, that's too much.  What are we going to do with that?  Are we going to give it back or what?  And so you decided, Well, we'd better give it back.  We have this $292 million too much.  We'd better give it back, right?


MR. KENNEDY:  Well, I think what we said is we have a number that we know we need to ultimately collect, and obviously where we were today was about $293 million higher than where we thought we should be to recognize the consumed service value of the assets that are in service.


So, yes, we have to ultimately only collect what we estimate that we're going to spend, and so that resulted in a reduced schedule going forward, and then the question of, how do we -- how do we refund that to the customers.


There is some longstanding regulatory practices that say you should refund that over the estimated remaining life of that asset group.  We had discussions with the company, was that the most fair way to do it, given the circumstances, et cetera, and then we developed the schedule, as we've put into our evidence.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So I wonder if you could look at what -- the reference that Mr. Culbert took you to earlier, E-40, Staff 77, I think.  Staff 77, yes, and this is the attachment to it.


MR. KENNEDY:  We have that, sir.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So this shows what you've been doing so far, right?  And if we just look at the lines, first of all, what's line 2, period-to-date adjustment?  Is that just what was the number in the books?


MR. KENNEDY:  I looked at Mr. Culbert, because they prepared this, the actual --


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's fine.  That's fine.


Mr. Culbert?


MR. CULBERT:  Yeah, that's the valuation of what's on the books as of 2009.


MR. SHEPHERD:  As of the beginning of 2009.  So December 31st, 2008 you had a $640 million regulatory liability.


MR. CULBERT:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So then you have line 3, which is how much you were recovering in depreciation, and it was 75- to 80 million -- no, 75- to $90 million over 2009 to 2012, right?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes.  Perhaps I can clarify what I meant by that.


As a result of -- in 2009 we were required to regroup these amounts out of accumulated depreciation to a liability.  That's why you see the period-to-date adjustment.  It is just because it became a liability versus what it was in accumulated depreciation, but it is the value as of 2009.  That's why it is saying "period-to-date adjustment".


MR. SHEPHERD:  You mean prior to that it wasn't a regulatory liability?


MR. CULBERT:  It was an accumulated depreciation.  It was a liability.  It was just an accumulated depreciation.  So, sorry, I --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  so now I'm confused.  I thought it was still an accumulated depreciation.


MR. CULBERT:  We -- for regulatory purposes, we still group the liability as an offset to rate base; therefore, an accumulated depreciation.  So this, just a presentation issue within financial statements.  That's all this is.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So on your financial statements this amount, whatever it is each year, is you reduce your accumulated depreciation and you increase your
regulatory --


MR. CULBERT:  Regulatory liability.  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  By -- at the end last year was 905 million.


MR. CULBERT:  Correct.  And you can say the same for all of the balances in our financials.  It's recorded or reported, I should say, excuse me, as a regulatory liability, but for regulatory purposes it is still really accumulated depreciation.  It's just a reporting issue.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, it reflects the fact that it is not depreciation, right?


MR. CULBERT:  It is recovered through depreciation, but it is, as Mr. Kennedy has pointed out, it's the cost of retiring and removing the original value or original assets.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It is a reserve, fund, right?  It is reserve for a future cost?


MR. CULBERT:  It is the residual balance of amounts that have been collected and incurred, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And the reason you are collecting them, the reason line 3 happens, is to set up a reserve for future costs?  Yes?


MR. CULBERT:  It is to recognize the liability for the future costs that we will incur, yes.


So there is no reserve per se, as I mentioned earlier.  All of the monies in terms of cash flow go into the entire cash flow requirement of the company, so we don't set aside -- there is no cash amount on our balance sheet offsetting this liability.  There is no reserve of monies.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, there is money.  I mean, you take it from the ratepayers, right?  And you do something with it?


MR. CULBERT:  It goes into our entire cash flow, and therefore it is used as an offset.  I use this balance as an offset to my rate base, and therefore I don't have to go out and get debt and equity financing for these amounts, because we've already had the use of this cash.  You are quite correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you see the recovery through depreciation is going up each year.  Why is it going up, by the way?


MR. KENNEDY:  Two reasons, but the most predominant reason is the recovery through depreciation is a rate multiplied by a cost base being the original cost of the plant.  As the plant has increased or the balances of investment have increased by year, when if you apply a rate to those balances, you end up with -- the arithmetic says you have a higher number of recovery, which is appropriate because you now have more plant in service that you ultimately are going to deal with site restoration on.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So up to 2013 -- 2012, it's increasing because you are using the traditional method, which looks back at what the ratio of salvage to rate base was in the past, right?


MR. KENNEDY:  That's correct.  The delineation point, obviously, is in the move from 2013 to 2014, when we implement.  The net salvage percentage is calculated in accordance with the CDNS method.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I want to ask first about 2012 to 2013, because it goes down 14 million.  Rate base went up but this went down.  Why is that?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. KENNEDY:  I think we are going to have to look at our working papers for that, just to determine the cause for that.


I would have -- again, I wasn't -- the company prepared the response and -- with my input, and I looked through it.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, then that's why I'm asking Mr. Culbert:  Why did it go down?


MR. CULBERT:  Quite frankly, I'd have to take an undertaking to provide that answer.  I don't know the reason.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, we just talked earlier about your 2013 financials, right?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And I asked you is there an amount related to site restoration costs, and you didn't tell us that you dropped the depreciation amount by $24 million.


MR. CULBERT:  No.  As I've just said, I'll have to look into what this change is about.  We didn't change any of the depreciation rates that were approved for recovery.


It could be that we did agree to, from my recollection, some change in depreciation rates in 2013, relative to some asset categories, if you recall -- mains, we increased -- or decreased the depreciation rate -- so that could be accounting for some of the decline.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, no.  This is depreciation for asset retirement costs.


MR. CULBERT:  Yes, but that's --


MR. SHEPHERD:  So if we change the depreciation rate for mains, that's not going to affect this part, right?


You didn't change your method?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. CULBERT:  We'll have to look into what this is about.


MS. SEBALJ:  J9.1.
UNDERTAKING NO. J9.1:  To explain why recovery through depreciation goes down between 2012 to 2013 while rate base went up


MR. SHEPHERD:  Then it drops again from 2012 to 2013, by another 20 million, 21 million, and that is because you've gone to the CDNS method, right?


MR. CULBERT:  2013 to '14.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, 2013 to '14.  And that's the CDNS method, right?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So that number, 42.1 -- which is now increasing year by year, because as your rate base goes up it is still going to increase, right?  It's just going
to --


MR. CULBERT:  Yes.  Still recovering a net salvage component of an increase in gross plant value.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you just changed the percentage?


MR. KENNEDY:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So the reason I asked about this is because you did your numbers as of 2010, but you already know that you've been charging, it looks to me -- correct me if I'm wrong -- a little over $100 million extra depreciation than you would charge under your new method, right?  Give or take?


MR. KENNEDY:  We could take the 100 million, subject to check, but I think your point is there is a timing difference of when we made the calculations and developed the salvage percentages to the point in time they're going to be implemented.  That lag is, quite frankly, quite common in doing depreciation studies.


That's in part why we recommend to regulators and utilities both that there is a periodic true-up, if you will, of the depreciation rates.  So that extra recovery would be, again, trued up in calculations in the next depreciation study again.


So what I'm getting at is when we do the study again, probably in 2017 or 2018, we will look at the accumulated depreciation balance that exists, we will compare that to what we think it ought to be, and then we will again recommend a mechanism for truing that up at that point in time.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You recall the $905 million as of December 31st, 2013?


MR. KENNEDY:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's not high by $292 million, is it?  It's high by more like $400 million; isn't that right?


MR. KENNEDY:  I haven't made that calculation, but it would be higher than the 292, probably, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you know, in fact, what the depreciation amount under the CDNS method would be -- if you did it correctly -- for '11, '12 and '13?  You know that depreciation amount, right?


MR. KENNEDY:  No, sir.  And that's part of the challenge of making these additional runs that we are probably going to discuss on the break.


Because to do that, to bring that number forward and recalculate it as at the end of, for example, 2013 --


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm not asking you to do that, sorry.


MR. KENNEDY:  Oh, okay.  Maybe I misunderstood.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm asking you a different question.


2010, you say:  Here's the correction.  Now, going forward, what's the new depreciation rate?


You've done this math already.  You know what the depreciation rate is, but you applied it only starting in 2013, not -- sorry, in '14, not '11, '12 and '13.


If you applied it, the new rate, in '11, '12 and '13, we'd capture the difference, wouldn't we?


MR. KENNEDY:  Well, this is where the challenge becomes, because that net salvage rate is, in fact, difference as at 2013 than it would be as at 2010, because my remaining life of my investment that I'm going to apply that rate to has not changed.  Which is why in order to do it properly, we need to bring the investment forward to today, we need to recalculate that estimated remaining life of that investment as at 2013, and then recalculate the CDNS method, then re-input those CDNS calculations into a depreciation rate model and calculate the rates.


So it's more involved than just saying:  Ah, the difference is X dollars per year to do it properly.  And if you are going to do it, I suggest we do it properly, is to bring the whole balances forward and do the complete recalculation, and compare that theoretical reserve as at December 31st 2013, so now we have an apples-to-apples comparison of what the theoretical number is versus the 905 million.


It is only after that is done that you can make a fair and reasonable answer to your question of what's the reserve in balance as of 2013.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You are talking about doing it right, but -- and I take your point.  Doing it at 2013, you have to start from scratch and do it again, but you did it as of December 31st, 2010.  And so you know what the number was then because you did the math, and yet when you corrected the depreciation, why didn't you correct it from then?  You know what the new depreciation rate is; why didn't you fix it?


MR. KENNEDY:  Certainly, sir.  So maybe Mr. Culbert can help me here, but we can't change the rates that we charge to customers without coming through a proceeding.  And there is no mechanism to change the regulated depreciation rates until we come forth with an application and come through a proceeding, which is where we're sitting now.


MR. CULBERT:  yeah, we had no opportunity.  Of course the timing of this, this couldn't have been done in time for our 2012 rate application, as you would see.  We had no ability to change depreciation rates during our first IR term.  We were bound to keep our accounting policies in order throughout that term.


2013, we did come forward with a depreciation study, which parties agreed to.  We made adjustments to certain of our depreciation rates and estimated service lives.  We made adjustments to those depreciation rates again.


So we couldn't alter those without going through the analysis that Gannett Fleming has done now.  The timing is such that the data needed -- he needed data from a certain point in time.  We didn't have 2011 data and '12 data for Gannett Fleming to use, so the use of this data was what was available.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah, I'm not sure I understand that.  You did a recalculation of what the -- of how to correct this as of December 31st, 2010, right?


MR. KENNEDY:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And so you corrected the past balance as of December 31st, 2010.


MR. KENNEDY:  Right.  And I want to be clear.  The reason we used 2010, for example, is because the last full depreciation study where we had remaining life calculations and vintage balances was at December 31st, 2010.  We have never -- we haven't updated those detailed calculations to input into our models, which is literally months of work, numbers newer or more recent than December 31st, 2010 --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Not asking you that.  I'm asking you only to complete the job from December 31st, 2010, because the job at December 31st, 2010 is, how much is it wrong, and what's the right depreciation number going forward, but you are skipping three years and saying, Oh, no, let's keep that.

MR. KENNEDY:  And so, Mr. Shepherd, not to keep beating on the same divergent path, is in order to make those calculations you need the estimated remaining lives, and I need the actual vintage of plant and service as at the date of making the comparison.


So the only comparison point we have is that December 31st, 2010, and that's why we've continued to use that comparison point to the calculated reserve.


The comparison is actual.  Yes, we have actual numbers as at 2011, '12, and '13.  We don't have a calculated or a theoretical reserve at any point other than 2010.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm not asking about that.  I'm accepting that 2010 is right, that that's the right way to do it, and so you concluded two things in 2010, as of that date.  You included (sic) we have too much of the ratepayers' money, we have to give it back, and at the same time you concluded, and we're depreciating too much on a go-forward basis and we need to use a new ratio to depreciate.  You have concluded both of those things as of December 31st, 2010.  Yes?


MR. KENNEDY:  I wouldn't quite say we collected too much money through 2010.  We changed our estimation, but the point is, yes, we had a reserve in balance on the basis of the assumptions we made at 2010, and then developed a process to refund that money back to customers, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you also concluded at the same time how much the depreciation -- what the new ratio for depreciation purposes should be, .55 instead of .73 or something like that.


MR. KENNEDY:  As at December 31st, 2010.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So then I'm asking you to apply that new ratio to 2011, '12, and '13.  You have a model that sets out -- you already have the vintages as of that time.


MR. KENNEDY:  As -- well, I'm sorry.


MR. SHEPHERD:  As of that time, apply that rate, the new rate that you say is the right rate, apply that to '11, '12, and '13, just as you have to '14 through '18.


MR. KENNEDY:  You could, sir, but you would then create a divergence of regulatory ledgers versus your actual accounting ledgers.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Why don't we let the Board worry about that.  Let's just get the number first, because I think the number is another 100- and $150 million, and I'd like to have it.


MR. KENNEDY:  I guess, I think as we agreed before, that's -- to do it and do it properly, one needs to do a lot of work.  I'm really not too willing to put on to the record a number that is really a back-of-the-envelope calculation rather than a proper re-prepared calculation that deals in tens and hundreds of millions of dollars.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So your calculations of the depreciation amount for 2014 through 2018 were back-of-the-envelope calculations?


MR. KENNEDY:  Not at all, sir.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, then how would it be different for '11, '12, and '13?


MR. KENNEDY:  Well, because they would be divergent from what -- maybe I'm misunderstanding your request, and I apologize to the Board and parties if that's the case.  If your request is to say take the depreciation rates that were in existence and used for the financial reporting purposes for 2011, '12, and '13 and compare the depreciation expense that would result had the company used the depreciation rates that result from the depreciation study prepared in 2011 -- I'm sorry, in 2013, the result from the use of the constant dollar and net salvage, and retroactively apply that depreciation rate to the investment balances and see what the reserve would look like, and maybe if that's what you are asking, sir, that's maybe different than what I understood you to be asking.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's what I'm asking.


MR. KENNEDY:  Now you're -- again, now we are into a spot where I think only the company can answer, and I'll let Mr. Culbert deal with that, but you would be developing a different set of ledgers for regulatory purposes than you would be for financial reporting purposes.


MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder if you could turn to your evidence, that salvage study, D2-1-1, and I'm looking at page A-II-12.


MR. KENNEDY:  I have that, sir.


MS. CONBOY:  Go ahead.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm just letting Bonnie have a chance to --


MS. CONBOY:  Okay.  I just want to make sure you...


MR. SHEPHERD:  Because I'm going to point -- this is a  spreadsheet, right?


MR. KENNEDY:  Well, this is an output of our model, yes.  It is not an Excel spreadsheet.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  It looks very spreadsheet-like.


MR. KENNEDY:  Oh, it is.  It's -- we try to make it as easy to read as possible.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So this is D1-1, page A-II-12.  It is right near the end.  It's the fourth-last from the end.


MS. CONBOY:  Do you mean III-12?


MR. SHEPHERD:  It says II.  A-II-12.


There we go.  So what I'm looking at is the net salvage percent there?


MR. KENNEDY:  The minus 55?  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah.  And that's -- is that .55?


MR. KENNEDY:  Oh, it is 55 percent, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  55 percent.  Okay.  And so that's the figure that comes out of your CDNS analysis, right?


MR. KENNEDY:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And so this model then calculates in column 7 -- calculates the annual accrual that you should charge, right?


MR. KENNEDY:  That's correct, sir.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And so you have a number here for the  -- that is based on your estimates of the balances of, in this case plastic mains, right?


MR. KENNEDY:  That's correct, sir.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so -- and this number -- you then use that model to apply to 2014, '15, '16, '17, and '18 to get the depreciation numbers for the purposes of this table, yes?


MR. KENNEDY:  I understand that to be correct, sir.  I provide this number to the company, and the company takes it forth in their rate-base calculations --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So I'm asking you to do the same thing for '11, '12, and '13.


MR. KENNEDY:  So this is -- see, that is a bit different than the request that I suggested.  If you notice that the original cost number is by vintage in column 1 -- on column 2, I'm sorry.  That cost to do it for '11, 12, and '13, to make the same calculation as at December 31st, 2011, 2012, and 2013, I would need to update this original cost number by vintage --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Going backward.


MR. KENNEDY:  Going backwards for each of those years --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Right.


MR. KENNEDY:  -- which means that I have to take each and every retirement the company's booked and vintage those retirements back to these vintages.


So in other words, the company has undertaken fairly large retirement programs in '11, '12, and '13.  We need to go back and establish the vintage of all those costs, repopulate these tables for both the asset additions and retirements for each of those three years first, then run this, to then get a new remaining life calculation.


I take that remaining life for each of those vintages and I input that into my CDNS model, because now I've changed the remaining life -- it is not inconceivable that, for example, the year 1971 would have no investment left as of 2011, '12, or '13 --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Culbert, you have that data, right?


MR. CULBERT:  The company has the data, but Mr. Kennedy and Gannett Fleming dealing with the company, that's a considerable amount of work that has to be undertaken to do that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Well, I'm going to ask you this then.  Take a look -- go back to Staff 77.  I'm sorry I'm taking -- it's taking so much time, Madam Chair, but it is a big number, and I don't want to --


MS. CONBOY:  I understand.


MR. SHEPHERD:  -- just leave it alone.


And so I'm looking at line 3, and you will see it's 42.1 million at 2014, right?


MR. CULBERT:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And it goes up each year because as your rate base goes up so does the salvage amount, right?


MR. CULBERT:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And it is a percentage, right?


MR. KENNEDY:  A percentage is a -- yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Right.  So it is reasonable to assume that if you put it back from 2014 back to 2011 it would go down.  Same trend, right?  Same trend line.


MR. KENNEDY:  Yes, I mean, if the --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.


MR. KENNEDY:  -- CDNS had been used in the depreciation rates that are used in the actual calculations as at 2011, '12, and '13 --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Excellent.  So what that means, isn't it -- doesn't it, is that the number -- the CDNS number for 2011 is going to be something less than 42.1 million, true?


MR. KENNEDY:  Likely.  Now, again, without modelling the impact of the capital additions and retirements, but I would definitely agree it is going to be something less than the 87.4 million.  If it is equal to the 42.1 or less I'm --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, no, I just asked you that.


MR. KENNEDY:  Well, it's --


MR. SHEPHERD:  It is a trend line, right?  So the 42.1 million in 2014 means that 2013, '12, and '11 are going to be lower numbers, right?


MR. KENNEDY:  Again, sir, this is where to make these kind of broad assumptions is a little bit dangerous.  It depends on the vintage of the plant that is retired.  If you are retiring an older plant, that has an input in the weighted average depreciation rate.  In other words, you have to recalculate the depreciation rates that are based on a number of variables.


The large retirements programs that occur in those years change a number of factors, as we looked at on page A2-12, by vintage.  And without knowing how the transactions input are -- impact upon each and all of those vintages, I can't give you an answer that would say decisively it would be lower than 42.1 or not.


I will give you a decisive answer that it would be lower than the 87.4.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Is there any -- have you ever seen -- have you ever seen a set of depreciation numbers for this category, using your CDNS method, that didn't go up every year in a growing utility, ever?


MR. KENNEDY:  Umm...


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm going to ask you to show it to me, of course.


MR. KENNEDY:  Yes, I know you are.  The challenge is the depreciation methods that are used and the use of the CDNS rate, which, quite frankly, isn't really widely used.


I will say that I've seen depreciation expense go down year over year, as we are seeing, quite frankly, from 2012 to 2013.  It would not be common; I agree with you there, sir.  One would expect the rates typically to -- as your rate base grows and the original cost value grows and you apply to the rate to that, it goes up.


The challenge is in where you're asking me to recalculate that rate each and every year.  That -- if we said we were to use the same depreciation rate year over year over a growing rate base, I would have agreed with you.


It is when we get into the recalculation of the depreciation rates each year that I can't be quite as decisive.  I will agree with you, sir, that that would be the expected trend.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So it's fair to say that had you been applying the CDNS method in 2011, '12 and '13, that the amount of the refund would be some significantly higher amount.  I get it to be 106.7 million at least, but it is going to be some big number, right?


MR. KENNEDY:  It is going to be an increased amount, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So then I'm going to ask you to calculate that.


MR. KENNEDY:  And --


MR. SHEPHERD:  For '11, '12 and '13, what's the depreciation amount on this table -- re-do this table with the correct numbers for '11, '12 and '13, using the CDNS.


[Witness panel confers]


MR. CASS:  Madam Chair, my understanding is that we are talking about months of work for the calculation that Mr. Shepherd has asked for.  I can't imagine how that's a practical or a realistic request to make at the hearing of a case, even if it might have been practical or realistic at some earlier part of this case, which also would have been doubtful.


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  And the timing of that work?


MR. KENNEDY:  I would need probably six to eight months.  I am doing, effectively, three depreciations at a cost of, thereabouts, of $100,000 per year.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It is $100 million, Madam Chair, or more.


When were you retained to do this net salvage study?


MR. KENNEDY:  Late in the year 2012.  I think November.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So did you the whole study in six months?


MR. KENNEDY:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And had it ready to publish, but you can't do a recalculation of one set of numbers in less than six to eight months?


MR. KENNEDY:  No, no, see -- that's -- I turned my mic off accidentally.


Remember, the work that we did from November of 2012 through June of 2013 was really the only recalculation of the salvage numbers.  We rebased that back to 2010, for precisely the challenge I would have to update these numbers now, because I -- the depreciation study that I did in 2010 took me over a year to complete.


And so you are asking me to do that recalculation; that full depreciation study that took me a year to do as at the end of 2010, you'd asked me to do that three times, at '11, '12 and '13, then add to that the six months of work that we did as at November of 2013 -- or '12, to June 2013.  So we're talking 18 months of work.  We're not talking six months.  And you're asking me to do it three times.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So it took you, then, five -- two and a half years to do the 2014 to 2018 numbers?


MR. KENNEDY:  No, sir.  Those numbers are assuming the same depreciation rates going forward.  You are asking me to recalculate the depreciation rates at the end of each year.  And, again, that's why I want to be clear of the request.  You took me back to page A2-12 of my study and you've asked me to recalculate that as at the end of 2011, '12 and '13, sir.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So I see where we're going, then.  So if you applied the depreciation rates from 2014 to '11, '12 and '13, you could do that much more easily, right?


MR. KENNEDY:  In fact, that work is done because we have those rates.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you could apply those rates to those years and tell us what the net salvage -- the "Recovery through depreciation" line would be?


MR. KENNEDY:  It would be, but again, sir, as I suggest, that is a very short-cutted method.  The challenge is more the company's challenge than mine.  The depreciation rates, in other words, exist at a cost base of December 31st, 2010.


I think Mr. Culbert is the one that needs to respond to the request to -- to deal with the challenges that would be involved in re-establishing what the depreciation expense is using those depreciation rates and net salvages factors, going forward over those years.


For me it doesn't result in any work, because I've done that work as at 2010.  And if that's the request, sir, it's different than what I took you to mean when you took me back to my tables, A2-12.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Excellent.  Excellent.  So then I'm asking for an undertaking to provide us with the 2011 through '13 numbers, using the 2014 depreciation rates on this table -- not this table, sorry, the Staff 77.


MS. CONBOY:  I'm wondering if the best use of our time right now is to ensure that everybody is on the same page in terms of what the request is, that we add that to the list of -- over the break, people are going to talk about re-running the model, the possibility of re-running the model for different discount rates, and perhaps you could also address -- address this issue.


So, Mr. Shepherd, you're -- you know, you're making sure that your request is as they understand it, and then the company can advise you how much work that's required and what type of caveats that would be required.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I then have just a couple of other questions.


MS. CONBOY:  So a couple of other questions that will be --


MR. SHEPHERD:  We'll be done by 12:30.


MS. CONBOY:  -- 10 minutes?  Okay.  Please go ahead.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The options that you looked at, there were several options.  One was to simply stop collecting this depreciation each year, right?


MR. KENNEDY:  Yes, I refer to that as the "pause" approach, if you will, in my evidence.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  And if you did that, then over a period of years, probably seven, eight, nine years, you'd get back to the number you think is the right number to be the liability, right?


MR. KENNEDY:  It would be.  It would be a period –- it wouldn't be the quite the period of saying 292 divided by the expense, because of course as the investment goes up, your calculated reserve number goes up, but yes, it would be a period of a few years at least where would you have a holiday from the net salvage recovery, and using that as the corrective mechanism to the depreciation rates.


That would come with some assurance from the Board, of course, that you are allowed to re-establish net salvage, and my experience is that that's not always as easy three or four years down the road, to reintroduce net salvage into your depreciation rates, because that results in a toll increase at that point in time to those customers.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So the Board might decide it's not a good idea anymore, and so we shouldn't fix the problem today because they might decide in the future that they don't like this idea anymore?


MR. KENNEDY:  Well, that's happened, sir, in jurisdictions.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.


MR. KENNEDY:  Secondly, what you are doing is you are giving today's customers a tolling holiday at the cost, perhaps, of tomorrow's customers.  So we get into the intergenerational equity issues.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Today's customers have already paid some 3- or $400 million more than they should have, right?


MR. KENNEDY:  Well, the past and today's customers.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so to give them a holiday is to give them back the money as fast as possible, right?  Unless you gave it to them right away quick?


MR. KENNEDY:  Which is, I think, the option that we chose.


MR. SHEPHERD:  okay.  And the other option which I didn't see you choose is to say:  Why don't we just include an amount for the actual site restoration and removal costs each year in rates, and pay as we go?


MR. KENNEDY:  I did deal with that in an information request response, sir.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes?


MR. KENNEDY:  And my challenge with that is, as you will notice, on the table you've taken me to, Board Staff 77 -- is that the right one?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. KENNEDY:  Yes.  Remembering that we are retiring only a very small fraction of the plant each year of the total investment base, thereabouts of about 1 or less than 1 percent of the investment in each year retires, on an ongoing basis.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.


MR. KENNEDY:  So your costs of retirement that you've seen relate to a retirement of a very small piece of plant.


Now, this is a very mature and aging company, and we would expect the rates of retirements at some point in time to drastically increase, simply because this company has a lot of assets of 50 and 60 years of age, and we're anticipating 50- and 60-year lives.


It is not inconceivable we are going to see some significant increased amounts of retirements in the future, and so in those years -- and in fact, you can see it a little bit over the last couple years, and this company undertook a mains replacement program.  All of a sudden those costs of retirements drastically rose.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, that has a specific problem, though, right?  Those were cast-iron and bare-steel mains?


MR. KENNEDY:  Yes, and at some point in time we are going to have specific problems with 1970s-era pipe, and at some point we're going to have problems with 1950-era of coated steel pipe.


So utilities take plant out largely in programs such as that.  And so my point is right now a pay-as-you-go approach really underestimates and only deals with today's customers paying for the costs of assets that have been in service from yesterday's customers, which they haven't paid anything.


So if you go back to the concept of my opening statements that, you know, really the F-E-R-C, or FERC, suggests an accrual basis of an accounting precisely for the reasons of intergenerational equity, and they suggest an accrual basis of accounting for net negative salvage for precisely that reason, and that is that customers at any point in time should pay for the consumed -- consumption of the service value of all the assets they have access to service for that they use in their service, and that includes not only the assets being retired in that year, it includes all the assets that may retire next year or the year after.


So pay-as-you-go approach is, quite frankly -- break that regulatory construct or generation of equity and are really going to transfer a very large and significant burden to the future toll-payers.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And your expectation, therefore, is that if we look again at this Staff 77 that at some point in the future line 3 becomes less than line 4.


MR. KENNEDY:  Definitely, there would be a crossover at some point in time.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And that's when the company is either closing shop or suffering negative growth, right?


MR. KENNEDY:  Well, I would say even if a company just breaks even on growth -- like, in other words, if you become a very flatlined company, in terms of growth, you will start to see this crossover becoming more imminent.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So it is a long time in the future.


MR. KENNEDY:  It could be.  We have utilities now that are seeing it, where they're --


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm asking about Enbridge.


MR. KENNEDY:  No, exactly, and, I mean, there is no expectation that this company is going to flatline in terms of growth.  I don't think that's their expectation.


MR. CULBERT:  Who knows what those circumstances could be.  If there's a new form of energy that's invented, let's say by Jay Shepherd and Peter Thompson Enterprises, you know, it would change the scope of the future in which we're looking at this kind of company existing.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Those are my questions, Madam Chair.  Thank you.


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.


We will take our lunch break now and return at 25 after 1:00.  Thank you.

--- Luncheon recess at 12:22 p.m.

--- On resuming at 1:33 p.m.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  Please be seated.

So how did the discussions go over the break?

MR. CASS:  Madam Chair, I'll do my best to summarize.

MS. CONBOY:  Okay.

MR. CASS:  With respect to the questions that were put to Mr. Kennedy about running other scenarios, I believe that it's -- an understanding has been reached that he can do a couple of scenarios.  It will take some time.  I believe it is perhaps a couple of weeks of time, if I have that correctly.

The one scenario would be with the discount rate of -- I think it's 4.95 percent.

The other scenario hasn't actually been put on the record yet, so perhaps Board Staff could do that.  It has to do with using a hundred years as asset service life, I believe.

MS. CONBOY:  Mm-hmm.

MR. CASS:  But Board Staff could presumably be more clear about that.

So those two can be done in the sort of time frame that I've mentioned, if the Board considers that this is useful.

There is a third one that it is under discussion, and we haven't come to a resolution on it at this point.  I don't know whether we want to debate that at this time or not.  Mr. Shepherd has -- it's the request that the Board has heard that calculation be done in respect of the 2011 to 2013 years using a particular depreciation rate.

And there has been no agreement by the company at this point that it will do that, but it's -- I think the company is still considering it, if I could put it that way.

MS. CONBOY:  Sorry, Mr. Culbert, you wanted to say something?

MR. CULBERT:  Yes.  This is where I can jump in.  Yes, we've had the discussion amongst parties and I've asked our plant accounting group to figure out and determine how long it would take to do that.

There's other considerations that I need to think about in terms of what it means to our financials, and I won't have time to do that over the next day and a half, but as Mr. Shepherd would point out, it doesn't mean the calculations can't be done; it is just a matter of determining, from my perspective, what the calculations do mean and what the complications of any use of that data would mean to our financial statements, if the Board were to utilize that data.

MS. CONBOY:  Understood.  Mr. Shepherd?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, a couple of comments.  First, the couple of weeks for Mr. Kennedy is for the hundred-year life, right?  The discount rate doesn't take very long at all, right?

MR. KENNEDY:  Yeah, the -- I'm sure as we'll hear when Board Staff does their cross-examination, there is three requests involved in that that directly impact myself.  And my thought is it's a two- to three-week type time frame to respond to all three of them, including one which asked us to change our service life to a hundred years, which obviously has an impact on depreciation expense, which will drive us to have to re-allocate the accumulated depreciation reserves.

So that -- to answer your question directly, Mr. Shepherd -- yes, that includes the three undertakings kind of combined that were part of the Board --


MR. SHEPHERD:  That wasn't the question.  The question is:  To just give us the undertaking that I asked for, the discount rate, that doesn't take long at all, right?  So you could do that separately and quickly?

MR. KENNEDY:  There is a certain time efficiency of us doing them kind of as we went to the models and doing them -– oops, I'm sorry -- of doing all three at the same time, which will cover a two- to three-week period.

But to answer your question directly -- and I want to be fair to your question, sir -- is that's probably a couple of days of work.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And then my other question is for Mr. Culbert.  As I understand it, he's saying he can give us the numbers for the 2011 to 2013 as requested, but in order to assess what the company's position is on those numbers, how they think they should be used, presumably in argument or whatever, it will take longer than a couple of days.

I don't think he needs to take that extra time to just get the numbers.  If it takes longer to -- I mean, we're not going to cross-examine him on them anyway, right?  So if we are not having an opportunity to cross-examine them, it doesn't matter whether it takes them until March 31st to figure out what the position is that they take on it.

The numbers, we can have right away, I think.

MR. CASS:  Madam Chair, if I may, the problem that I'm having with this is as follows.

Mr. Shepherd apparently has his own number.  He has said it more than once, I believe; at least once.  He can use that in argument.  He apparently wants something better than that, better than the number he's got already.  And the company has made clear that the type of approach that he's suggesting is not the correct way to get to the best number.

So we have a number that Mr. Shepherd's put out that he could use in argument.  My submission would be if there's going to be another number, it should be the right number, but unfortunately getting to the right number takes a lot of work.

So this is why Mr. Culbert should have an opportunity to think through the implications if we're not going to have the right number, if we are going to have some sort of short-cut way of getting at a number.  That would be my submission.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  We will consider what we've heard over the break, and hopefully come back after the break, after the afternoon break, with our decision.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  With your consent, I'm going to go back to the other room.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.

Ms. Sebalj, I believe Board Staff is next?

MS. SEBALJ:  We are.  Thank you.
Cross-Examination by Ms. Sebalj:

MS. SEBALJ:  My name is Kristi Sebalj and I am counsel for Board Staff, and I am going to have cross-examination in three areas, pensions, OPEBs and SRC, and I'm going to start with one -- it is really a follow-up on pensions to an undertaking, TCU3.17.

Staff -- I'll let you pull that up.

MS. CONBOY:  While that's being pulled up, should I have given an undertaking number for the first one that there was agreement on?

MS. SEBALJ:  Oh, yes.  Yes.  I just want to make sure -- Mr. Cass's point, I want to put that on the record appropriately.

So we had worded the undertaking as:  Please recalculate the SRC amount to be recovered in the period 2014 to 2018 using a discount rate of 4.95 percent.  Provide a summary of the calculations.  And if you could also update -- I assume the results will be an update to IR Staff 77, as a result of that recalculation.

MR. KENNEDY:  I'm not sure I thought that far out yet in terms of what it would look like.  I think my basic assumption was we would recalculate the schedules that are in my evidence at pages III-10, 11, 12, 13 and 14.

I haven't actually turned my attention to the question of revamping those through -- these results permeate their way through a number of information requests, and I haven't thought about taking the revised numbers and providing the revised undertaking requests.

That is obviously going to change my time estimate.

MS. SEBALJ:  Sorry, perhaps I'm misunderstanding.

Is that not just a direct flow-through of what is in Board Staff 77, which is EI.40.EGDI.STAFF.77?  Is that --


MR. CULBERT:  We can presume the data that would be generated by Mr. Kennedy's study would flow into that document.  I guess what we're saying is the date is the same in either course, so we're just not sure to what extent which exhibits would need to be updated.  The same data would be resident in the calculations or the schedules which Mr. Kennedy spoke about, so...

MS. SEBALJ:  Okay.  So is that an agreement to update that particular -– I'm just asking for that particular one.  I'm not asking you to update your evidence generally.

MR. CULBERT:  Sure.  We can update both.

MS. SEBALJ:  That is J9.2.
UNDERTAKING NO. J9.2:  TO recalculate the SRC amount to be recovered in the period 2014 to 2018 using a discount rate of 4.95 percent; to provide a summary of the calculations; to update IR Staff 77 as a result of that recalculation.

MS. SEBALJ:  And I'm not going to address the hundred-year life one.  I'll do that through cross and we can talk about the issues associated with that.

So TCU3.17, Staff requested the actuarial valuations to be filed.  They were not available at the time, but my understanding is that one of the two should now be available.  Can you undertake to file the January 2014 accounting valuation?

MR. SHEM:  Yes.  We can undertake to file the accounting final results, yes.

MS. SEBALJ:  Perfect.  That's J9.3.
UNDERTAKING NO. J9.3:  TO FILE THE JANUARY 2014 ACCOUNTING FINAL RESULTS.

MS. SEBALJ:  We were just debating whether to ask for the April accounting valuation, but I'm not sure that there is any meaning to that since argument will already be filed.  But obviously we'd like to see -- Staff would like to see that at some point from you, but I won't mark it as an undertaking.

Moving to OPEBs, post-employment benefits other than pensions, I have put three documents on the dais and given it to the relevant witnesses and Enbridge counsel.


We may as well just go ahead and mark those.  The first is a -- is FERC policy 61.  And if we can mark that, it would be K9.4.  And just for record purposes, it is a photocopy that says "docket number ER-91-565-000" at the top, and it says "page 26".

EXHIBIT NO. K9.4:  DOCUMENT ENTITLED "DOCKET NUMBER ER-91-565-000"


MS. SEBALJ:  I've also provided the financial statements as at December 31, 2012 and 2011 for St. Lawrence Gas Company Inc., and if we could mark that as K9.5

EXHIBIT NO. K9.5:  FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2012 AND 2013 FOR ST. LAWRENCE GAS COMPANY INC.


MS. SEBALJ:  And I should mention to the panel that I have -- I gave advance warning to Enbridge's counsel that I would be referring to this document, and both the St. Lawrence and the next one, Enbridge Inc., is consolidated financial statements as at December 31, 2013, are a matter of public record, and that's K9.6.

EXHIBIT NO. K9.6:  ENBRIDGE INC. CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2013


MS. SEBALJ:  So I'm not going to start with those documents.  I'm actually going to start with Enbridge's EGD's 2013 consolidated financial statements, and that's Exhibit J1.1.


Sorry, and at page 32, which is under note 19, there is a column there, "OPEB 2013", and if you look down partway through you will see it says "fair value of plan assets at end of year", and if you go down to that column, I refer to, 2013, there is a number of 9 million; is that correct?


MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.


MS. SEBALJ:  And is it the case that that is St. Lawrence Gas's assets from its financial statements?


MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.  This is the amount relative to the St. Lawrence Gas business, yes.


MS. SEBALJ:  Okay.  And does EGD have OPEB assets in a fund?


MR. CULBERT:  No, we do not.


MS. SEBALJ:  We also have K9.6, which is Enbridge Inc.'s financials.  If we turn to page 55 of those -- of that -- and I should mention that this is an excerpt from the larger document.  This is Enbridge Inc.'s consolidated financial statements from the larger document.


MR. CULBERT:  Yes, we have that.


MS. SEBALJ:  And if we turn to, sorry, page 55, which is note 25.  And they are -- in the same column at the same area there is a number of 81 million; is that correct?


MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.


MS. SEBALJ:  And is it accurate to say that Enbridge Inc. is regulated in more than one jurisdiction?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes, it's fair to say.


MS. SEBALJ:  And one of those jurisdictions is FERC?


MR. CULBERT:  Correct.


MS. SEBALJ:  And so if we turn now to the FERC policy 61, K9.4, page 10, under 3 it says "funding requirements", and I'll just read this first paragraph:
"The Commission will require that an irrevocable trust be established to ensure that the amounts that the customers are paying for PBOPs..."


Which I understand to be pension benefits other than  -- post-employment benefits other than pensions.

"...will in fact be utilized for such purpose, or, in the event that they are not, that customers obtain refunds of the funds accrued in the trust account, including any earnings thereon, for the excess amounts paid.  The Commission believes that such protection is necessary for several reasons."


And then it goes on to talk about that.


And so those funds that I've referred to, the 81 million for Enbridge Inc. and the 9 million for St. Lawrence Gas Company, are basically segregated funds for that purpose, are they not?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes, they are, for U.S. regulated entities.


MS. SEBALJ:  And Enbridge doesn't have such a fund, because it's not required to.


MR. CULBERT:  It's not required by regulation in Canada.  It's a U.S. regulation.


MS. SEBALJ:  But as part of that 2013 settlement process, Enbridge received Board approval to recover $90 million in OPEBs over 20 years, and Enbridge also recovers current service costs each year in respect to that amount; is that correct?


MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.


MS. SEBALJ:  Is Enbridge of the view that it would be prudent to set up such a fund to deposit these recoveries from ratepayers for its employees when they retire?


MR. CULBERT:  I can tell you, I haven't had any such discussion with management at EI or EGD, for that matter, so I'm not certain.  I can speak on behalf of the companies, in terms of what management would believe or would agree to.


MS. SEBALJ:  Okay.


MR. CULBERT:  I understand the premise of what I'm seeing here, but it is a function of whatever the regulatory commission determined in the United States was the rationale.  I'm not sure that we've gone through that process here in Ontario or Canada, for that matter.  I would think it's more of a generic type issue than a company-specific issue.


MS. SEBALJ:  That's probably fair.


Would Enbridge be able to undertake to tell us how much it would cost to set up such a fund, including the costs to operate the fund on an annual basis?


MR. CULBERT:  Are you just referring to the setting up of the fund, or are you referring to the potential implications it might have with respect to, I'll say, revenue requirements or rate impacts?  Can you provide some context?


MS. SEBALJ:  Well, I think the original request was the actual set-up costs, any annual operating cost associated with it.  I understand through a discussion that you and I had that it might have much broader implications and that that would take an enormous amount of time to produce, so can I have the narrower undertaking?


MR. CULBERT:  I can undertake to -- I suppose the way we could go about that is speaking with Enbridge Inc. in terms of what they know about the costs of doing such a -- setting up such a fund that they have experience with.  Sure, I can undertake to speak with them.


MS. SEBALJ:  That would be great.  Thanks.  It is J9.4.

UNDERTAKING NO. J9.4:  TO PROVIDE DETAILS REGARDING SETTING UP A FUND


MS. SEBALJ:  And moving now to everybody's favourite topic, SRC, if we turn to -- if we turn to page 14 of the audited financial statements at J1.1, which are the consolidated financials of Enbridge Gas Distribution, there is a section at the bottom of page 14 -- sorry, do you have that?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes, we do.


MS. SEBALJ:  And the second sentence in says: "Regulatory liabilities represent amounts that are expected to be refunded to customers in future periods through rates."


Do you see that?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes, I do.


MS. SEBALJ:  And I think -- and you can correct me if I'm wrong, but I heard you say to Mr. Shepherd this morning, which I wrote down somewhere -- oh, right here, beside my cross -- you told Mr. Shepherd this was not money owing to ratepayers.


MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.  In -- pardon me, in reading that section of -- on page 14, the description of what typically regulatory liabilities represent, is the general context of that passage on the bottom of page 14.


If you turn to page 19 of the financial statements you would see in additional notes about regulatory risk and uncertainties affecting recovery or settlement, of which is shown on page 15, and you look at note 10 on page 19 --


MS. SEBALJ:  Mm-hmm.


MR. CULBERT:  -- you will see the description of what some of the amounts are that are in the regulatory liabilities, being future removal and site restoration reserves for amounts collected.  So if you read that passage, you would see what the further description is of some of the regulatory liabilities on our balance sheet.


MS. SEBALJ:  So you are telling me that the statement on page 14 doesn't apply to the regulatory liability that we see on --


MR. CULBERT:  It is a general statement about the general concept of regulatory assets and liabilities.  To look at the details, further details of what is really constituted in the regulatory liabilities, note 10, sorry, on -- page 16 at the bottom, page 19 of 44 at the top, note 10 shows what a portion of the liabilities are, and they are future removal and site restoration reserves, and it goes on to explain what those are, that they are not amounts payable to ratepayers; they are amounts to be used for future removal costs.


MS. SEBALJ:  Sorry, I'm just absorbing what you've said.  I'm reading note 10.


Okay.  So thank you for that -- so the statement still -- that you made to Mr. Shepherd this morning still applies?  You are of the view that this is not money owing, that it is just basically a number on a balance sheet?


MR. CULBERT:  It is the residual amount of the amounts we are collecting from customers, absolutely, for future removal costs.  It is the residual balance that will be incurred over future periods of time, but they are not amounts that are owed to anybody.  They are amounts we will have to incur -- replace the cash for to do all of these activities.


MS. SEBALJ:  But you will agree with me that the refund of the SRC proposal in this application of about $260 million is a pillar of your current application, is it not?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes.  Those amounts are resident in the balances in our financial statements at this point in time.  And as we've stated, those are a result of a re-estimation of the amounts that we will need going forward over the future life -- the life of our assets as they are constituted now.  That's correct.


MS. SEBALJ:  So the position, then, is that it is not owing to customers, but you are returning it to customers?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes.  As we've stated, this is a re-estimation of the reserve amount we believe we need, given our view of our remaining asset lives that we have in the ground today.  And this is an excess reserve amount that has been collected that, upon re-estimation, we are proposing a return of those amounts in the manner that we have proposed.


You could do it through a multitude of means, as Mr. Kennedy has spoken about.


MS. SEBALJ:  Okay.  And there was some discussion about this this morning, but you've -- it's been said on the record that there is no fund where these monies are -- reside, and that the monies that are recovered for SRC are used -- I can't remember what you called it, general -- you said general --


MR. CULBERT:  When the company looks at its planning for cash flow purposes, all of its cash inflows, outflows, are part of its forecast of cash requirements.


So to the extent that these amounts are a credit to our balance sheet and therefore a credit to my rate base, it means that the rate base otherwise would have been higher by these amounts, and we would have had to have gone out and issued debt and infused equity to do so.


So in effect, our weighted average cost of capital impact would have been higher by if my average -– weighted average cost of capital is 6 and a half percent over the life of the accumulation of this reserve, ratepayers would have been paying 6 and a half percent return on those monies over that period if we didn't have the use of this cash embedded within our overall cash flows.


Because if we aren't able to use all of the cash flows of the entity to perform all of our activities, if we had to set this aside, then we wouldn't have this cash to utilize, and we would have had to have issued debt and equity, and our rate base would be higher by $900 million.


MS. SEBALJ:  But it's also the case that cash could be used to pay dividends to Enbridge Inc.?


MR. CULBERT:  Again, all of the cash that comes into and out of the business are considered within the final financial results.


MS. SEBALJ:  If we turn to page 18 of the audited financials, same document, under Note 8, which is "Property, plant and equipment," there is a -- there is a gross cost dollar amount of about 7 –- well, more than 7.  $7,724,000,000 at the end of 2013, about -- partway down that table; do you see that?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes.


MS. SEBALJ:  And then -- sorry, just using that as a placeholder -- then if we look at Board Staff IR 94 -- if you can just put your finger in that and then look at Board Staff IR 94, in that response, the company says: "As indicated in attachment 1 it is estimated..."


Sorry, I'll let Bonnie get there.  Yeah.  It's in the first paragraph of the response:

"As indicated in attachment 1, it is estimated that approximately 3 billion of funds will be required for the eventual removal and retirement of the 5.9 billion of assets in service as of December 31, 2010."


Do you see that?


MR. KENNEDY:  Yes, I do.


MS. SEBALJ:  And that's about 50 percent; is that right?


MR. KENNEDY:  Approximately, yes.


MS. SEBALJ:  And if we go back to the $7.7 billion value and we add what you are asking for in the current case, which is a capital request of about 2.8 billion, we get to a number just over 10 billion; is that correct?


MR. CULBERT:  Correct.


MS. SEBALJ:  And as I understand the testimony from this morning and my understanding of the evidence, the -- essentially the SRC number is a number that comes sort of pre-packaged with CAPEX.  So for all the assets, all the net plant associated with that is some level of site restoration costs, which apparently, according to 94, Board Staff IR 94, is somewhere around 50 percent; is that right?


MR. KENNEDY:  I'm going to answer yes to the first half of your question.


I wouldn't suggest that that 50 percent number remains constant or linear through periods of large capital additions and retirements, as I had the privilege of chatting with Mr. Shepherd this morning.  It depends on the retirements that go along with that, on the distribution of such retirements and the type of assets.


I agree with the assumption that the SRC fund is going to need to increase; I'm not sure it's quite as linear as continuing at a 50 percent rate.


MS. SEBALJ:  But on a $10 billion -- on $10 billion of assets, it is going to be a significant amount of money, and 50 percent -- you are telling me 50 percent is not a rule of thumb, but at the end of the day it is going to likely be in excess of $5 billion in monies associated with these assets?


MR. KENNEDY:  I would think that is maybe a reasonable rule of thumb.  It is going to be definitely north of the 3 billion.  Whether it is 5 or not is -- it's probably pretty close.


MS. SEBALJ:  Does Enbridge have any collateral for the SRC recoveries?


MR. KENNEDY:  I'm not sure what you mean by "collateral."


MS. SEBALJ:  Essentially, I guess what we're trying to get at is this idea that this money goes into -- basically into revenues, and as Mr. –- as Mr. Culbert said this morning, I believe the example you used was some alternative form of energy which makes gas completely redundant.  So a -- you know, pick your scenario, but a scenario where the assets are no longer required, but the money that's being put aside for this is actually being used for other purposes.  It's not -- there is no money in the bank; correct?


MR. CULBERT:  No.  The entire cash flow to the organization is being used for all of the purposes of cash flow requirements.  You are correct.


In terms of whether there is a collateral, I'm not sure what your question is really about.  Do we have an insurance reserve, are you asking?


MS. SEBALJ:  Yeah, or the ability to borrow enough money to deal with a major asset retirement?


I can tell you -- the direction that I'm going in, which I'm sure you know from seeing some of the undertakings we asked for, is to ask for an undertaking with respect to setting up a fund for these monies.


MR. KENNEDY:  So maybe I can start and have Mr. Culbert help me a little bit.


As we talk about, the 3 or $5 billion of future funding, is, one, not going to happen all in one year.  It is not going to be as if the company has to go out and write a cheque for 3 billion or $5 billion in one year.  These expenditures or these requirements will occur over a large number of years.


So there is some ability to finance such costs of retirement, you know, through means, normal kind of means, channels, that wouldn't require a bank account of $5 billion to be sitting there.


So I think that's a -- quite a fairly important consideration.  The -- and of course, as we've talked about this morning, this company is not in a flatline state of growth.  It is still in a growth state.


So at the same time that we require some funds for the retirement of current plant, the company is going to be having funds available to them, an ability to borrow, an ability to excess capital, through the fact that it is an ongoing and successful operation.  So there is ability to funding that way.


So with maybe that caveat.  I'm not sure if I helped Mr. Culbert's answer or hurt it.


MR. CULBERT:  As you are probably aware, the company, through its treasury function at EI, has a credit facility that it has available to it currently, $700 million.  In the past that credit facility in the past number of years has been upwards of a billion dollars, so to the extent that there's some concern that there is enough liquidity through EI by this Board, in fact, regulators across Canada, I presume, I would have to speak with EI in terms of what we could do in that regard.


EI, I would assume, would ensure sufficient liquidity and credit facilities to ensure they are able to fund these activities which are constructed in the regulatory rate-setting model here.


But I'm not sure this isn't -- whether Enbridge itself would comment as to whether we would do that.  Again, I think that's more of a generic type question for the regulator, but that's just my opinion.


MS. SEBALJ:  I was going to ask for an undertaking, Mr. Culbert, very similar to the one I asked on pensions, which is to -- and maybe the answer is identical at perhaps setting up a fund, setting up a fund, whether it's for pensions or whether it's for SRC, but how much it would cost for Enbridge to set up a fund.


MR. CULBERT:  And I've agreed to that undertaking, and I guess we've had discussions on this previous, and this is the first I've sort of heard of this.  I understand where you're coming from, but there are certainly other ramifications from this which can't be thought through inside of a two-day period, whatever -- but there would be rate-making implications from this.  There would be working-capital implications from it.  There would certainly be an impact of an increase in rate base if the amounts that we currently -- regulated entities are able to use from a cash-flow perspective, they are no longer able to use.


There would be implications in terms of additional funding requirement by the parent companies or the companies themselves that are wholly-owned.  And there would be rate-making implications from doing those things, and I can't possibly tell you what those are in this context --


MS. SEBALJ:  But you can -- yeah, you can provide me with the -- you can provide us with the --


MR. CULBERT:  Yeah, I'm just not sure what that tells us other than the cost of administration of such a scenario.


MS. SEBALJ:  That's fair.


Can we turn to Board Staff 77.  And I'm going to assume from that answer that I don't need to mark a different undertaking because the cost of setting up a pensions fund is going to be no different in that narrow context that we've agreed on that as --


MR. CULBERT:  I would assume we can do it all through the one undertaking.  I'm not sure it would be similar cost.  It depends on the size of the fund and -- et cetera, I would presume.


MS. SEBALJ:  Okay.  So Enbridge is proposing to recover 247 million for SRC between 2014 -- sorry, '14 and '18, and that's at line 3.  Is that correct?  So if I add up those numbers at line 3 on Board Staff 77, will you take, subject to check, that that's the 247-?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes.


MS. SEBALJ:  In fact, I don't think you have to take it subject to check, because I think you've done that math for us.  And on line 4, for the same period, you are forecasting to spend about 76 million, subject to check?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes, those are the forecasts.


MS. SEBALJ:  And on line 6 you are proposing to refund 260 million.


MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.


MS. SEBALJ:  And if you look at line 3 and line 6, the net result is that Enbridge will return very little money to ratepayers over the period; is that right?  If I net those two out?


MR. CULBERT:  I'm not sure what you mean by "return very little money".  The two are discrete line items.  One is -- line 6 is the estimated excess reserve amount that we have come to conclude, as a result of the updated estimates, but as we know, there is an amount that is recovered in rates currently for the things that Mr. Kennedy has spoken about; that is, future retirement costs and removal costs.  So we're not proposing to move those numbers to zero.  Otherwise, we wouldn't have been proposing the return of the cash amounts on line 6, but...


MS. SEBALJ:  All right.  But the two numbers are awfully close to each other.  One is basically close to 250 million and the other is 260 million, and so essentially you're giving back and taking in the same period the same amount of money.


MR. CULBERT:  If we hadn't made a change to the methodology, in fact, the amounts we would be collecting would be higher than the numbers you have calculated on line 3 as being the cumulative total.  So there certainly is a reduction in the amounts that we otherwise would have been recovering in depreciation rates.


MS. SEBALJ:  And you've done -- you've gone through this with Mr. Shepherd, and I won't belabour it, but the actual costs, other than in 2011, where there was a -- there was a bit of a blip there -- I don't know if that's explained on the record anywhere, but are sort of in the 15- to $20 million range.  But you're recovering a significant amount more than that, and my understanding is that that delta, from your testimony this morning, that delta is the fund -- is -- it's not a fund -- is the reserve.


MR. KENNEDY:  It is building the reserve for the level of retirements that will occur in future years, yes.


MS. SEBALJ:  The capital plan is not all greenfield, is it?  Some of them are being -- some of the assets are being retired and replaced?


MR. CULBERT:  That's true.  Certainly we have retirements that are ongoing.  As Mr. Kennedy alluded to this morning, we have coated and wrapped steel pipe that has been in the ground since the late '50s, early '60s, and you can assume that a lot of that is going to be retiring  -- be retired over the next number of years on an ongoing basis; that's correct.


MS. SEBALJ:  And Mr. Kennedy, you used an inflation assumption of 2 percent in your study; that's correct?


MR. KENNEDY:  In the CDNS calculations, yes.


MS. SEBALJ:  And we've talked about the discount rate of 2.38 percent, which is in your evidence.  And our -- Staff's issue was slightly different from Mr. Shepherd's issue, in that the discount rate selected is based on 2010 bond yields and not 2013 bond yields; is that correct?


MR. KENNEDY:  That's correct.


MS. SEBALJ:  Okay.  And the discount rate to determine the pension and OPEB obligations, as I understand it, which is based on recent double-A bond yields as at the end of December 2013, is 5 percent; is that correct?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, that's correct, the discount rate is 5 percent.


MS. SEBALJ:  And is there a reason that you would use a different discount rate?


MR. KENNEDY:  Well, as I explained this morning, we were basing our calculations on December 31st, 2010, and I followed the -- really the guidance of the international financial standard that suggests that for this style calculation, had we been doing an ARO calculation, we would have used the 2.38 as at December 31st, 2010.


So that was really my point of reference, and in the use of that number.  It is, as I suggested this morning, it is a number that is published -- or it's a rate, or a number to use that's published, I guess I'll try to say the right -- get this correctly.


The -- so that number is published, or that -- using the triple-A discount rate is there, and it has been the number that I have used in a number of regulatory jurisdictions when I have presented CDNS calculations; i.e., not the 2.38, but the Canada long bond triple-A rate has been the number that I've used.


And again, my calculation is based on December 31st, 2010.  That was done in order to keep consistent with the cost base and the remaining life base that existed at that point in time.


So really, the timing may be more of an issue where my number is different than may have been used in the pension plan.  Quite frankly, when did I my calculations I don't know, and I'll admit to not thinking about trying to normalize that discount rate with other net present value calculations the company had made in other areas.


MS. SEBALJ:  Thank you for that.


Mr. Sanders indicated in his testimony that the asset planning process now being followed by Enbridge may extend the useful lives of the assets.  Is that an accurate -- for those of you who were listening to him, an accurate summary of what Mr. Sanders said?


MR. KENNEDY:  I actually have the transcript reference because I anticipated --


MS. SEBALJ:  As do I, which I can take you to.


MR. KENNEDY:  Maybe just for clarity of the record, if I could get you to take me there?


MS. SEBALJ:  Sure.  It is transcript volume 5 and it begins at page 128.  I'm looking specifically at page 129.


MR. KENNEDY:  That's a different one than I've had given to me.  So if you put this up, I would like to -- or if I can get somebody to put that before me?


MS. SEBALJ:  Sure.


MR. KENNEDY:  I'm sorry, I now have the transcript.  Volume 5, page...?

MS. SEBALJ:  129 is where I'd like to take you to.


At line 17, Mr. Sanders, in response to a question from Mr. Shepherd, says:

"And I am looking at those numbers too, Mr. Shepherd, and if I take, again, 36,000 kilometres of pipe and replacing it at less that 100 kilometres per year, it sure takes me beyond the 40-, 50-, 60-year life of that pipe.  That is the challenge that we have."


And by my math, that's actually a 360-year life of some assets, you know, understanding that there are different assets with different lives, but I think his point -- and he goes on at page 130.  Mr. Shepherd said:



"What I'm trying to understand is why is it..."


He goes on to talk about the fact that the things that Enbridge is doing is increasing the useful lives of their assets.


And so what I wanted to ask is whether Enbridge management provided –- well, we know that Enbridge management provided you with the assumptions about the asset lives for the studies that you conducted; correct?


MR. KENNEDY:  Correct.  As part of our studies, we interviewed a number of parties, and operational and management staff within the company, to gain an understanding of the future type of programs, the future type of retirement programs that may be undertaken, technologies under the ground, et cetera.  So we had a fairly extensive levels of discussions with management as part of the –- what's been referred to in my evidence as the 2011 depreciation study.


MS. SEBALJ:  Okay.  And was it ever suggested that longer asset lives should be used in your study?


MR. KENNEDY:  Yes.  And in fact, we recognize those comments in our study.


I think we need to understand the context that -- and I wasn't here for Mr. Sanders' entire cross-examination, but similar comments have been made in a number of jurisdictions, where I've provided testimony by operations staff.  If you look at his beginning comments that say:  I'm taking 36 kilometres of pipe and I'm doing X kilometres per year, and if I take that and assume it doesn't increase in the future, I've got a whole long time, and I think what we often see from utilities -- and I think this utility as well -- is they are not going to undertake replacement programs until they're necessary.  They look at their -- they come before this Board with replacement programs.  They do them when they are prudently done, or needed to ensure the safety of the system and people and everything else.


So right now the level of retirement activity is appropriate for that, but we see in studies -- and we've seen it with this company in terms of cast-iron -- it comes out in big bunches.  So there will be a point in time -- and I've seen it now in Alberta a lot, with 1970-era pipe  -- that pipe is an asset that once it ages, it ages fast and you start having issues, and you will need to retire it in larger groups.


I guess what I'm saying in a long way short is I'm not convinced that they're always, forever and a day, only going to retire 100 kilometres of pipe per year.  I think there are going to be times where that rate will drastically increase.


This company is a company of somewhat aging infrastructure.  There is an awful lot of coated steel pipe in the ground that went in in the late 1950s and early '60s.  So that's getting to 60 years now.


So are we starting to watch it more?  We're watching it as an industry a lot more.  There has been, unfortunately, some pipeline incidents of pipes that went into the ground in the 1950s and '60s.  Is that going to change my opinion on am I going to move those lives differently?  Well, no, we start looking at the trends that we see in the industry and we look at the things that go on.


And I think Mr. Sanders was talking to you from, like, a capital investment aspect or perspective.  My perspective is maybe a little bit longer in nature, in terms of how technologies replace themselves over the long term.  And I guess what I'm saying to you is I'm not convinced that we'll see pipe with 300 years of life in it.  There is obviously going to be some shortening or some acceleration of the retirement activities at some point in time, in this company's future and in virtually every gas utility's future.


And I'm dealing with that now, for example, in Alberta, where they are replacing all the pipes that went in in 1970.  If you had asked them in the year 2000 if that was going to occur, it didn't, but that pipe came to a certain point in time in its age, and the chemical aspects of that pipe, for that plastic pipe that was manufactured in the early 1970s in Alberta, it started to fail in mass.


And so we got programs that we're replacing tens or thousands of kilometres of pipe per year, not hundreds.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Sorry, I'm going to ask a question of clarification here, because I'm looking at this transcript and I think I'm confused.


If I read what Mr. Sanders says when he said:

"... 36,000 kilometres of pipe and replacing it at less that 100 kilometres per year, it sure takes me beyond the 40-, 50-, 60-year life of that pipe."


I had interpreted that to mean that they could not maintain that rate of replacement, because the pipe was only -- has only a 60-year life.  That's how I interpreted it, not to be that taking it out 100 kilometres at a time implied that the true life was longer.


Where am I wrong?  Or --


MR. KENNEDY:  I think we're actually agreeing.  I think the --


MS. CHAPLIN:  Well, I don't see it, actually, in this reference, so perhaps there was another reference that you were thinking that Staff might take you to, Mr. Kennedy?


Because I don't see this reference talking about the new work extending life.  It seems to be talking about giving them more information about the life cycle for the assets, but do you interpret that to be that it's extending life?


MR. KENNEDY:  Yeah, I think maybe as I read the transcript as a whole.  And I think now I would tend to agree with you.


I think Mr. Sanders' point was that there is going to have to it be an acceleration of retirement programs in the future, because at a 40-, 50- and 60-year life, you are not going to make it at a hundred years.  I'm looking at the words, I guess --


MS. CHAPLIN:  I guess down at the bottom of 130, where he said --


MR. KENNEDY:  That's exactly where I was going to take you.


MS. CHAPLIN:  -- he could extend the life.


MR. KENNEDY:  Yeah.


MS. CHAPLIN:  All right.  Okay.  Thank you.


MS. SEBALJ:  I think Staff's point was that -- and obviously there are assets in the ground that will, as you say, come up for repair or replacement.  However, the new assets -- I mean, at least what we heard in evidence was that the new assets were likely to extend the life, the plastic pipe, and the more resilient pipe, by definition, is being put in the ground for the purpose of lasting longer and not deteriorating as quickly, is it not?


MR. KENNEDY:  One would hope.  And the pipe -- the new pipe that is going into the ground, so I would say pipe post-1995, thereabouts, is expected to have a longer service life than the pipe that went into the ground prior to that, and definitely longer than the -- for example, the coated steel pipe that perhaps is in the ground.


The problem we have is there is still an awful lot of that 1950s and '60s-era pipe in the Enbridge system.  The -- Enbridge Gas started installing, en masse, tens of millions of dollars of coated steel pipe in the late 1950s.  It is still there.


So on average, how long is pipe going to last?  Well, it's hard to say that it's going to last hundreds of years.  We would expect, as the new pipe goes into the ground and gets a greater weighting in terms of the investment weighting of pipe, that the average age of pipe as a whole will start pulling up.  And we have seen that in studies, both with this utility and other utilities, where we move maybe a 55-year estimate to a 60-year estimate, or a 60- to a 65-, but we are definitely not in a position to move pipe from, say, a 65- to an 80- or 90-year life.


That may get there over the really long term as we start to see the life characteristics of the new pipe.


If I would have sat before commissions and I did in the –- that's a little bit before my time.  If I would have sat before commissions in the 1970s and 1980s, they were talking about the 1970s-era pipe that's now coming out being a hundred-year pipe as well.  And that truly hasn't occurred.  And so...


MS. SEBALJ:  Are we saying that the utility of those studies is questionable, because we can't actually predict with any certainty whatsoever what the useful life of the assets is?


MR. KENNEDY:  No, I don't think we can anticipate the forces of retirement.  Now, the life of pipe is dependent on many things.  One is the actual pipe itself.  Second, such as third-party strikes.  You have the capacity of pipes that require replacement.  You have -- in the case of Alberta we are seeing the chemical composition of the pipe that didn't meet the anticipated standards or didn't live up to its ability, if you will, at that point in time.


There's a number of factors.  And as we start to see occurrences and trends that this pipe lasts longer, we will be extending the life of the pipe to appropriately match those observed observations at that point in time.


My point is that there's a number of different eras and different technologies of pipe within the Enbridge system right now.  They are not all the brand-new really long-lived pipes.


MS. SEBALJ:  And the purpose of the SRC reserve is to deal with exactly those sorts of contingencies, isn't it?


MR. KENNEDY:  Yes, it's --


MS. SEBALJ:  So if you have to suddenly retire a lot more pipe than you had originally planned because of chemical corrosion or whatever -- I won't pretend that I understand -- deterioration of the pipe, this fund -- this reserve is intended to deal with exactly that eventuality, correct?


MR. KENNEDY:  Oh, it is.  It's intended to be our best estimate of the funds that would be required to retire that pipe for whatever reason cost -- or cost for whatever reason.


MS. SEBALJ:  Those are all the Staff's questions.


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you very much.


Who have we got?  Mr. Quinn, you are up next.  And I had you down for half an hour.  Is that...


MR. QUINN:  I should be easily done in that time period, Madam Chair.


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Quinn:

MR. QUINN:  We've covered a lot of ground, and I am just going to -- not replough what Ms. Sebalj just went through, but at a high level I think the summary statement -- and would you agree with me, Mr. Kennedy, that plastic pipe is expected to last longer than steel pipe?


MR. KENNEDY:  At this point in time, the new installations of plastic pipe are expected to last longer than coated-steel pipe.  Not necessarily the first generations of plastic pipe.


MR. QUINN:  And you are familiar with the time testing that goes on with plastic pipe to demonstrate the periods of time that they would be expected to last?


MR. KENNEDY:  I am.


MR. QUINN:  You are.  So do you have any reference or anything that you rely upon to differentiate the expected life of steel pipe versus plastic pipe?


MR. KENNEDY:  I have the direct experience, as I just mentioned in Alberta, where the early 1970s-era plastic pipe is failing en masse, and in fact there is very large capital programs going on by both Atco Gas and Alta Gas --


MR. QUINN:  Sir, if I may, because there is evidence here, and Enbridge has some plastic pipe that has failure issues, so I think we would agree that certain early vintages of plastic pipe did not necessarily meet the standards that were expected for that resiliency of the pipe, correct?


MR. KENNEDY:  That's correct.


MR. QUINN:  And then you said after mid-'90s a lot of that learning has occurred and the standards have improved.


MR. KENNEDY:  Yes, I mean, the testing has showed that -- the destructive testing models that have been run have shown that at least those issues have been resolved.


MR. QUINN:  And the same destructive testing that you are referring to, do you have anything that is referenced in your study that relies on references for the age or the expected life of plastic pipe?


MR. KENNEDY:  We formed a life estimate for plastic pipe.  I have not referenced the destructive testing models, no, I have not.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, then we'll move forward from there, and I'm going to go more toward the -- where you were with Mr. Shepherd this morning, because I was very interested in the dialogue that occurred.  And I want to make sure that I leave what Mr. Shepherd has on the record, but some questions struck me.


Mr. Kennedy, I've been trying to understand -- you obviously have a great level of expertise about the application of depreciation studies and some of the accounting aspects, but do you give expert advice for the  -- to utilities for the appropriate return or recovery of additional deficit or surplus that accrues as a result of a lag period that Mr. Shepherd was speaking to this morning?  In other words, the study was done for 2010 and applied starting in 2014.  Do you purport to give expert advice as to how a utility should manage that lag?


MR. KENNEDY:  As a -- I'm hesitating only because I'm trying to make sure I give you an appropriate response that's correct.


We -- as part of each of our studies when we deal with utilities, I would say on the majority, more than 50 percent of them, we deal with actual years rather than forward test years.


As soon as you deal with a study on the basis of an actual year rather than a forward test year basis, you enter this dilemma of a lag in terms of implementation of the rate versus the actual data that would support it and keep recalculating them.


In virtually all those cases we suggest that depreciation studies be conducted every -- every -- about every five years.  We used to say three to five years.  We now understand the cost implications and -- et cetera of that, so we now suggest about every five-years.


In my view -- and my advice to utilities and boards throughout this country has been, with that frequency of depreciation studies, any of the variances that occur within that time frame can be promptly trued up through what we refer to as a remaining life calculation.


In other words, we normally would deal with variances that occur over the composite remaining life of the plant, simply because it takes a fairly significant change to cause a variance to get really large.


This case was slightly different, in that we had a change in method.  In essence an accounting policy changed.  That caused me to change my view from recovering the variance over the composite remaining life of the asset to something more accelerated.


Quite frankly, that, in my evidence that I've provided across this country, does not occur very often, where we recommend an accelerated true-up to deal with that lag, but I think to your direct question is it is very common to have a three- or four-year lag in the depreciation rates that occur due to the timing of the utility or the ability of the utility to implement our depreciation studies.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I think there was a response in all of that, and I'm not going to try to parse it, but I did see you turn to Mr. Culbert and basically say something along the lines, We could take a look at and we could do the math, but you'd defer to Mr. Culbert on what the impact of the math would be, in terms of that lag period.


MR. KENNEDY:  Well, when I -- offering up things, I was going to make sure that the party that is paying my invoice is willing to take the undertaking, because sometimes it can get substantial.


Secondly, we have to -- the -- my deliverable, in essence, is my study with the rates.  The manner in which they're implemented and impact rate base, et cetera, upon the utilities is a company issue, and that's a -- if memory serves me correctly, that's why Mr. Culbert and I were caucusing or looking at each other, because there is a transfer point between the depreciation rates and the implementation.


MR. QUINN:  So said simply, you recommend; he decides.


MR. KENNEDY:  Yes, in terms of implementation and that type of thing, yes.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So turning to you, Mr. Culbert, then, would you agree that it's the discretion of the company how this lag could or should be dealt with, of course, in how it wants to apply for the treatment of that lag?


MR. CULBERT:  Certainly the company always has to take into consideration what the rate-making implications of any change in its depreciation rates and studies would be.  That's always a consideration.


We agree with Mr. Kennedy that the proper time period is probably around five years, in terms of reviewing depreciation rates, but as he's mentioned, sometimes it takes a much longer period in terms of the accumulation of data that would drive changes going forward.


So we try to look at it from the perspective of, what does it mean to ratepayers?  Is it appropriate to look at a shorter period versus a five-year period?  Could be in some circumstances.  It might not be in other circumstances.  There is a multitude of things to consider.


MR. QUINN:  Well, sir, and I want to say this way.  I don't think we're arguing that your approach -- your methodological approach between 2014 and '18 -- we're not, I don't think, debating that.  What I was referring to specifically is how to treat that lag period between when the study was completed for and when you were actually able to implement it.


So would you agree with me then that it is the company's discretion as to how to apply for that -- the treatment of that lag?


MR. CULBERT:  I'm not certain I understand your question fully.  I'll try to answer it this way.  The data to be used by the depreciation consultant has to be available for them to be able to perform the study and provide estimations going forward.


So the timing of the data that Gannett Fleming had available to it was concurrent with the last depreciation study done under the traditional method, and we felt that that was the appropriate to use.


Could we have looked at it and said:  Okay, now that we have two years additional data, should we re-do the study and determine what that means?  Absolutely, we could have made that determination.


But the determination we made was this is sufficient.  The next study we have committed to, as you would have seen in evidence, is that we will do re-do a study in five years, which concurrently would be at the end of our proposed IR term, and we would make adjustments going forward.


MR. QUINN:  So that was your decision in how to apply for the treatment of the funds as they currently reside, the residual balance that you have in your SRC account?


MR. CULBERT:  The determination was, in discussions with Gannett Fleming, there was a multitude of ways it could be handled.  It could be handled through perspective depreciation rate decreases, which would take a longer period of time, to return the excess reserve or re-estimated reserve amounts that Gannett Fleming has come to.


Or we would look to expedite the amounts and get our accounting and regulatory records in line with one another, and that's the method, we chose to expedite the amounts of cash return in a -- over a five-year term rather than over -- I'm not sure -- maybe Mr. Kennedy could provide comments -- it might have taken anywhere from 10 to 15 years to accommodate that through changes in depreciation rates.


MR. QUINN:  Then I'm going to handle it this way.  Your application is, as it currently stands -- we've heard it.  We understand -- and Mr. Shepherd did a better job than I could have of articulating there is different ways to look at it, but the -- is there a decision of this Board that informs the choice of how Enbridge is handling this matter?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. KENNEDY:  Sir, I'm struggling, so I'm not sure if I understand the question, so let me maybe --


MR. QUINN:  Would you like me to clarify the question?


MR. CULBERT:  If possible, yes.


MR. QUINN:  Because I'm asking predominantly to Mr. Culbert, because he has -- this is his company's application before this Board.


Is Mr. Culbert aware of any decision that Enbridge has looked at, reviewed, and would see as an informing precedent or some other material impact on why Enbridge would choose to treat it this way?


MR. CULBERT:  Are you asking as opposed to updating the data that was used in determination of the estimate of reserve amount?


MR. QUINN:  I'm speaking to, specifically, you know what the residual balance in the reserve is as of 2010.  You have brought forward an application that applies for treatment starting in 2014.  There are different ways to view -- as Mr. Shepherd was walking you through this morning, there's different ways to view that.


Is there any decision of the Board that would create either a precedent or would give you some information as to what -- how this Board would see the public interest handling of such a lag?


If you would like to take it by undertaking to see if there is any discussion that occurred or any review of the Board, we would happy to hear that.


MR. KENNEDY:  Sir, maybe if I could help with this a little bit and then leave it back to the company, it has been the longstanding practice of this Board to approve depreciation rates on a -- calculated on a remaining life basis.  And the remaining life basis in virtually every depreciation study that I've seen come to this Board, both on behalf of this company, with Union Gas and other utilities, has accepted that remaining life basis.


Now, that remaining life basis has got an inherent true-up to deal with precisely this type of regulatory lag -- or in part, I guess, is a more correct form -- of this type of regulatory lag.


In other words, the remaining life basis says:  I compare my actual accumulated depreciation number to my calculated or my theoretical number at a point in time; very often, one or two years behind the actual sitting in the hearing room here.


We take that variance and we amortize that over the remaining life of the assets.


So, sir, I think to answer your question, the precedent of this Board has been to approve depreciation rates calculated on a remaining life basis, that inherently have a true-up mechanism to deal with this type of regulatory lag.


Now, I don't know that I can in my experience with this Board -- which admittedly is somewhat limited -- but I can tell you with experience across other boards in this country, a board had explicitly said:  Gee, a three-year lag or timing difference between the calculation of a depreciation rate and the actual implementation of a rate is good, bad or different, I'm not sure I've ever seen such wording.  But I can say the remaining life method inherently includes that.


MR. QUINN:  And I think we're dealing with more than the depreciation rate.  We're talking about a recognized surplus in the reserve, to be able to take care of site restoration costs.


So are you saying that your -- what you just elaborated on from your experience, that includes site restoration costs and the lag with dealing with surpluses?


MR. KENNEDY:  It definitely includes the net salvage component of the depreciation rates, yes.  The company here refers to that as "site restoration costs," which I think generically could be researched or looked at as the net negative or net salvage component of the depreciation rate.  And that definitely is included in those types of decisions -- or applications.


MR. QUINN:  Mr. Culbert, I asked a clarifying question there.  Did I catch you off -- do you have anything to add?


MR. CULBERT:  I'm not familiar with any precedents that this Board or others would have been made in respect of our proposal.


I think one of the our responses to Mr. Shepherd, you've heard, and in conversations we had, was having to think through what it means in terms of using a proxy change in depreciation rates, which have been proposed for 2014 through '18, going forward, to use those retrospectively to say what the impacts would have been in 2011, '12 and '13 is where we're having difficulty, because we've said we don't believe you can simply do that calculation.


You would have to re-do all of your calculations in terms of what the actual costs of removals would have meant to the forecast depreciation rate changes that Gannett Fleming has coming up with.


So I don't believe it is as simple as saying:  Well, it's good enough.  There's other implications from that.  I can give you some off the top of my head.  Those are -- in order for us to be utilizing the returns of money and balance sheet entries as a result of a change in the amount of proposed return monies we are -- we would be giving to ratepayers, we have to have agreement and understanding by our auditors in terms of that this has been approved and gone through a proper process of review by an expert -- being Gannett Fleming -- and approved by the Board.


In addition, the tax implications you heard me speak of in terms of the amounts that have been a re-estimation, we would have to prove to the CRA that, in fact, we have a study that proves the amounts that we are proposing to return as a result of a re-estimation of amounts.  We have to have that information available to us to prove to our auditors, to the CRA -- these are just things off the top of my head, initially -- and just using proxy for that, I'm not sure it's going to satisfy those requirements.


MR. QUINN:  If this Board were to order a re-calculation of that study, and that was subsequently reviewed and approved, that would be -- that would overcome the concerns you have?


MR. CULBERT:  I think it would be important for the Board to understand the proper data from a recalculation, and not just use a proxy as being a reasonable re-representation of what the estimates would be.  Yes, I believe it would be important for the Board to understand that.


MR. QUINN:  And if they ordered such, that would -- that would relieve your concerns?


MR. CULBERT:  If this Board felt that the proposal that we brought forward wasn't sufficient, in that the 2018 study that we are proposing to come back with, which would accommodate whatever the implications of the data that Mr. Kennedy would take into his study, if they felt that wasn't appropriate, that's in their hands.


MR. QUINN:  So I'm going to ask this question and hopefully frame it well enough so it that it provides for a qualified but -- an affirmative or positive answer with a qualification.


If you took the short-cut study, and used the 2014 to 2018 methodology and applied it from 2011 through to -- starting point for 2014, which is year-end 2013, would the resulting number be closer to the actual residual requirements that Enbridge would need to have and to hold for the purposes that account is held for?  Would that number be closer to the -- that real number versus what you have in your evidence proposed in Staff 77?


Yes or no, with qualifications?


MR. KENNEDY:  How about "I don't know"?


Because you'd have to do a significant amount of modeling to intelligently answer that question, sir.


MR. QUINN:  But you would be applying a rate and taking out the lag period, and intuitively would that not create a more refined -- even though there is time invested, and I've  heard that said a few times -- would that not get you closer to an accounting value for the starting point for 2014?


MR. KENNEDY:  And, sir -- and I'll start, and maybe Mr. Culbert can answer this -- the concern we have is to simply take the 2014 rate and say, Ah, let's use that backwards for 2011, '12, and '13, ignores, if you will, the actual experience that should be considered in making that recalculation.


In other words, going forward we have a set of assumptions that are valid.  Going backwards we have a set of realities that are actual.  And without reflecting those realities -- i.e., the increased costs of cost removal, the completion of the cast-iron main programs to deal with various lives, one needs to virtually redo the entire depreciation study to get it right, and that's key.


We're talking as, as Mr. Shepherd kept saying this morning, big numbers, and to take a big number and put some assumptions around it and say, Ah, that big number is now bigger, but we've developed that bigger number on the basis of some untested assumptions, I think is dangerous.


So, sir, to answer your question, we'd come up with a number under your scenario that may or may not be more likely to reflect reality.  It is simply -- without doing the modelling and the work, one can't say definitively one way or the other.


So I think my answer is I don't know, kind of applies.


MR. QUINN:  Sorry, I'm offering Mr. Culbert -- Mr. Kennedy referred that you might have some data.  Before I move on, I just wanted to make sure I heard or you're satisfied with Mr. Kennedy's answer.


MR. CULBERT:  My comments are, you could make a number of assumptions in terms of what it would produce as a result.  I'm not sure why the use of an estimate, without looking at the empirical data to support that estimate, how that could be useful to this Board and/or ourselves for financial-statement purposes.  I'm just not sure how that could be done without using proper data.


MR. QUINN:  For financial-statements purposes, but for regulatory purposes, and I think we heard before, there are mechanisms or shortcuts that are taken, simplifying assumptions, which is a better way of saying it, to come up with a better number, even though precision is not achievable.  Would you agree with that?


MR. CULBERT:  And the potential of that is you would have the impact of two sets of books, a financial set of books and a regulatory set of books, until such time as we can determine what the -- what the proper calculation should have been, so --


MR. QUINN:  And that could be done at the end of 2018, again, at the end of the IRM period, with a depreciation study?


MR. CULBERT:  Just as it would be right now in our proposal.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions.


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  We will take the afternoon break now and return, I believe, with you, Mr. Brett, and then Mr. Thompson.  We'll come back at five after 3:00, and I will urge the two of you to think about what's been asked previously this morning and after lunch, and try not to repeat the line of interrogatories -- or, sorry, of cross-examination.  Thank you.

--- Recess taken at 2:47 p.m.
--- On resuming at 3:14 p.m.


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  Please be seated.


Before we turn to you, Mr. Brett, I'd like to just advise everybody of our decision with respect to the undertaking.

DECISION:


Schools has requested the calculation of an alternative approach or scenario for SRC, which would include the years 2011 to 2013.


The Board will not require this undertaking.  We accept Enbridge's position that they should be entitled to consider the ramifications of an alternative scenario as part of its response.  Given the time required to undertake the calculation, where we are in the proceeding, and the broad scope of other considerations which Mr. Culbert has identified, we conclude that we could ultimately place little to no weight on the answer.


Mr. Brett, would you like to start with your cross-examination?


Oh, my apologies.


MR. CASS:  Pardon me, Madam Chair.  Just one small preliminary matter.


MS. CONBOY:  Yes.
Preliminary Matters:


MR. CASS:  Excuse me, Mr. Brett.  Some more undertaking responses have been handed out.


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.


MR. CASS:  There is no covering letter as yet.  There will be later today.


So for the record, they're J5.12, 5.15, 5.16, 5.18 and J6.7.  Those will go out later today with a formal covering letter, and we hope with additional responses later today.


Thank you.


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you very much, Mr. Cass.


Please go ahead, Mr. Brett.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Brett:


MR. BRETT:  Good afternoon, Madam Chair, Panel.


Panel, I want to start with a question on the evidence that you filed this morning, evidence-in-chief.


And this is probably for you, Mr. Culbert, but you laid out there the impacts of this of the SRC proposal on the revenue -- on the allowed revenue, and you showed in your table, there is of course the impact of paying out the cash, to begin with, and then the tax effects of that, and then there is the impact of the lowering of depreciation, and there might be tax effects associated with that.  And then there was the impact of what the -- the cost of capital impact.


Now, I may not have them all, but those are the three that sort of stuck with me.


And my question to you is this.  Would you agree with me that those are what you might call generic impacts?


In other words, those would be impacts of your proposal to repay the ratepayers over a period of years, this amount of money, the 292, irrespective of the sort of rate plan that was being put forward by the applicant.


In other words, whether it was a cost of service plan, whether it was a revenue requirement plan, or a revenue –- allowed revenue, as you put it, or whether it was an IRM plan, in the case of the -- in any of those cases or any other realistic rate plan you could imagine, you would have rate impacts -- you would have impacts similar to the ones that you've described here; is that fair?


They wouldn't be identical, but they would be directionally similar?


MR. CULBERT:  They certainly wouldn't be identical.  I had a discussion, from my recollection, with Ms. Girvan on -- when I was on panel 1 in the first few days of this proceeding.  And we definitely agreed the proposal for the constant-dollar approach stands on its own, in our opinion.  It should be viewed on its own.


However, the implications of it, as you've heard me speak to, and cost of capital and depreciation changes and tax changes, are all currently as constituted relative to our forecasts of rate base resident within our allowed revenues.


MR. BRETT:  Right.


MR. CULBERT:  So to the extent that we were coming forward with a proposal in -- and I'll use the term an "I-X solution," an IR model, the impacts of -- the impacts relative to these projections would not be the same.


MR. BRETT:  They would be similar in the case of a cost of service, but they would be --


MR. CULBERT:  They would be very similar if you were going through five years of cost of service and you were to model this in that fashion.


MR. BRETT:  And you if you looked at the I-X on a five-year basis and looked at the rebasing that took place after five years, presumably they would have a similar directional effect on what happened at rebasing, right?


MR. CULBERT:  They would have a similar directional effect but they would not have a magnitude effect, because, again -- I've referred to a document, CME 14, where we provided drivers of deficiencies.  So it is like the chicken and the egg quandary we always find ourselves in.


What happened first?  Our projection of the GTA project -- I'll use as an example -- or our proposal to change depreciation rates, which has an effect in the mains category where GTA resides.


We don't know which one happened first.  What we do know is for the GTA, the impact on depreciation inside of the GTA project in and of itself, is affected by our proposal here.


If we weren't going to go the route of our allowed revenue calculations inclusive of rate-based forecasts, then I really can't tell you what the impact of our proposal in terms of depreciation rates would be for ratemaking purposes.


I could tell you what the impact is in our actuals on an after-the-fact basis, our actual rate base, but I can't tell you what it would be for ratemaking purposes because you wouldn't be setting rates based off of rate base projections and cost of capital associated with it and depreciation expense and tax implications.


Do you follow what I'm getting at?


MR. BRETT:  Yes.  When you say your proposal to reimburse ratepayers stands on its own, sort of stands separate and apart, quite apart -- leaving aside the impact for a moment, the other sort of what I'll call the follow-on impacts, are you saying that you would be making that proposal regardless of whether you had this five-year proposal going forward?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes.  Our proposal for the use of constant-dollar depreciation rates, we would make.  However, we -–


MR. BRETT:  The impacts would be different?


MR. CULBERT:  We did not come up with a proposal of how that would work in an I-X solution.


Certainly the amounts of rate rider values we would be looking to return would be the same.


MR. BRETT:  Right.


MR. CULBERT:  But their impacts within my calculations, as I've shown you, for cost of capital and depreciation expense –- excuse me, tax implications, et cetera, they may not necessarily be the same because my rate base values wouldn't be the same as I've included in our allowed revenue calculations.


MR. BRETT:  Thank you.


With respect, just a bit of context -- I don't know whether this is for you, Mr. Culbert, or Mr. Kennedy or both of you, but as I understand it, prior to 2009, you -- Enbridge did not differentiate these two components of depreciation; that is, the net salvage component and the -- what I'll call compensation for using the system.  That's probably not the most delicate way to put it, but you talked of these two different components.


Now, prior to 2009, these were lumped together in accumulated depreciation; correct?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes.  So for Mr. Fleming's [sic] perspective, the treatment has been the same, regardless.


What I was referring to is financial reporting requirements meant that the amounts that were resident in accumulated depreciation were simply regrouped to a liability account on our balance sheet.  That's all that's really happened.


MR. BRETT:  All right.  You are kind of getting ahead of me, but in terms of -- and I think, Mr. Fleming, you made the point this morning that these two components of depreciation are calculated quite separately.  They have a different sort of theoretical basis and they are arrived at separately, and then you put the two together to get your full depreciation amount?


MR. KENNEDY:  That would be correct.  There are really two pieces to the equation.  One is the original cost over life, and the second one is the estimated net salvage requirements over life.


MR. BRETT:  My point really -- my question really went to the fact that although those -- you made those two calculations, you did not -- well, first of all, I understand you were -- that Enbridge has been making these deductions, depreciation deductions and deductions in respect -- including the deduction in respect of net salvage, since forever, right?  Since at least 1959, I think is what you say in evidence?


MR. KENNEDY:  And I'll let Mr. Culbert answer.  The -- you used the word "deductions"; it is actually a recovery of or a provision for the recovery of those estimated costs, to directly answer your question, sir.


It would be in about the 1950s that Enbridge, I think, started receiving Board approval, or at least back that far where Enbridge has received Board approval to make those recoveries.


MR. BRETT:  And these two components were always there?  They were arrived at separately but they were always there, and that sum of the two of them always made up the amount of depreciation that was claimed; correct?


MR. KENNEDY:  That's correct, sir.


MR. BRETT:  And in 2009, there was a change.  And I'm not intimately familiar with the Canadian Chartered Accountants Handbook, but I understand there was a change in the Canadian accounting which required Enbridge to begin to report the reserve for that component of depreciation which constituted a reserve for net salvage separately; is that right?


MR. CULBERT:  It required that we removed the amounts which were embedded in accumulated depreciation and therefore maybe not visible to readers of the financial statements that there in fact was this liability for site restoration costs, so it was regrouped and called a regulatory liability at that point in time.  Same values, same monies.


MR. BRETT:  Yeah, okay.  And so that's -- so you did that, and then I think at the same time in 2009 you asked Gannett Fleming to propose an allocative -- I think what you called an allocative study or a study which split out the two pieces to allow you to know what piece -- how much you would need to report in your statements pursuant to this accounting decision; is that right?


MR. KENNEDY:  That's correct, sir, and the -- Enbridge came to my firm, as did most of the regulated facilities across this country, came to our firm to ask if there is a model or manner in which we could break apart that accumulated depreciation number into the component pieces; i.e., that for the -- the depreciate -- or accumulated depreciation related to the original cost of investment, and separately, the funds collected for the future removal of facilities.


MR. BRETT:  And you figured out a way to do that, and made a report, and the -- I take it, without getting into all the finer points, that Enbridge adopted that method as a basis for what it would report in --


MR. KENNEDY:  And that's correct, sir.  The -- I use that same model for very many utilities across the country.  I had the privilege of sitting in very many of the audit firms for the various utilities across the country to ensure that that allocation fairly represents the numbers that need to be disclosed in the financial statements, so that's correct, sir.


MR. BRETT:  Now, there was obviously an interest on someone's part to see that item disclosed.  Otherwise presumably the accounting people would not have mandated the change.  But my question really is, when did you decide -- when did Enbridge then decide that they needed to do this study, this new salvage study?  I mean, I know you did your -- well, I'll shut up.  When did Enbridge decide they needed to do this study?


MR. KENNEDY:  Sir, I can start, and maybe Mr. Culbert can add to it.  I was -- we completed a study in 2011 --


MR. BRETT:  Yes.


MR. KENNEDY:  -- a full depreciation study.


MR. BRETT:  I know that, yes.


MR. KENNEDY:  And as a result of that study we had this large reserve amount.


MR. BRETT:  Right.


MR. KENNEDY:  My phone basically rang in early November of 2012 or thereabouts to come out and meet with the executives of this company to talk about whether that number is reasonable.  And it's a big number.  It caught their attention.


So I think, to answer your question, sir, directly, it was in November of 2012 that I was contacted to undertake the net salvage study that resulted in my evidence in this --


MR. BRETT:  Okay.  And that seems to square with -- I'm looking at your evidence, Enbridge's evidence, D1, tab 5, schedule 1.  That's the evidence on this point, page 4.  And it talks about, you know, given that accumulated reserve for SRC -- I'm looking at the second paragraph here -- the pace at which the reserve is growing, increased use of plastic pipe with longer service lives.  Enbridge basically commissioned you to do this study, and -- which is what we're now -- which is what you now produced in this case.


MR. KENNEDY:  Yes, and at that time the -- as I was talking with Board counsel this morning -- or this afternoon.  It seems like this morning already.  You know, the questions about, does the technology of the pipe in the ground and the type of pipe in the ground, to what extent would that influence that required reserve.  And so that was part of the starting points of looking at that big number, and so --


MR. BRETT:  Right.


MR. KENNEDY:  -- you're correct.


MR. BRETT:  You also refer here -- and I'm looking at paragraph 11 in the -- Enbridge's evidence:
"Potential changes in installation and removal abandonment procedures for mains and distribution services, distribution mains and distribution services."


Now, what -- I take it that involves some notions that there might be different procedures involving different costs involving removal of plastic versus steel, which you subsequently found not to be the case, in -- effectively, I believe, in the first phase of your study, but is there anything else that refers to?  Is that a broader...


MR. KENNEDY:  No, sir, this is really the -- and I think you pretty much hit it on the head.  The company asked me to investigate, is the -- does the material of the pipe cause a different removal technique than had been done with the bare-steel and cast-iron predominantly?  Is there techniques and procedures that are now used.  You know, in other words, there's technology involved to the extent that we can remove or abandon the pipe or cap the pipe, whatever they need to do, more cost-effectively than they had done in the past.


So the Phase 1 of the review, if you will, was to look at those type of things.  We concluded through our interviews with the operations personnel that really the procedures they had been using for the last number of decades generally were the same as they're going to be using in the future, and secondly, the manufacture of the type of pipe really did not materially impact the cost estimate.


MR. BRETT:  Okay.  And then the other thing -- maybe you could -- this is for you, Mr. Culbert -- maybe you could -- or at least initially -- maybe you could look at Board Staff No. 90.


You know, you were asked -- well, actually, the question cites -- makes a quote from the -- from your study, Mr. Kennedy, and it says:
"Based on the impacts that the large angle requirement for net salvage is causing in the company's revenue requirement (over 50 million annually) and on the intention that the accumulated fund is receiving in reviews of the company's financial statements..."


And this has been cast about a little bit, but Enbridge asked Gannett Fleming to do this review, and you were asked, Well, what attention are you talking about, Enbridge was, and Enbridge said, Well, it's really just management's attention.  Because we don't have any public equity, therefore we have no analyst, equity analyst, to worry about.  Do you recall that question and answer?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes.


MR. BRETT:  Let me -- but I put to you that really you have public debt, and that debt -- you have notes and debentures outstanding, right?


MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.


MR. BRETT:  And that debt is in the hands of some very large, sophisticated institutional investors, and individuals, wealthy individuals, and so you would have bond analysts looking at what's going on in your financial statements, and they -- is it not -- would it not be likely that you would get -- and you may not know this.

I mean, you're -- we don't have the capital-markets people sitting here and the financial people sitting here, but is it not possible that you would have been getting enquiries from financial analysts on the debt side saying, Look, what the hell is this -- what is this liability on your statement that's gone from 670 million to almost a billion in five years?  You're not paying any interest on it.  It's sitting there, and it says in your financial statements that ultimately it's going to be returned to ratepayers, or part of it is.


Isn't that -- was that a factor in -- or do you know whether that was a factor in arriving at the decision -- management's decision to proceed with this study?


MR. CULBERT:  If it was a factor that there were analysts' questions of management in terms of what this may or may not mean to its financials?


MR. BRETT:  Right.


MR. CULBERT:  I suppose --


MR. BRETT:  On the debt side, you know --


MR. CULBERT:  -- it's a possibility.  You have to remember, this is -- we're rolled up and consolidated into EI's results, and, yeah, I'm assuming there are analysts' and market analysts' days that EI has on an ongoing basis.


MR. BRET:  Right.  Right.  Yeah.


MR. CULBERT:  I can't say whether I know that those analysts would have asked questions about EGDs.


MR. BRETT:  I was thinking more of analysts that would be looking at your debentures, Enbridge -- EGDI's debentures and notes and looking at your covenants, for example, looking at any covenants you might have in your credit agreement with banks which you mentioned earlier.


Isn't it possible that they might have been looking at this and saying, Well, how does this impact?  This is an extra liability of a billion dollars -- close to a billion dollars here.  It's getting up there in terms of magnitude relative to other debts that they have.


Isn't that possible, you have some pressure that way?


MR. CULBERT:  It's quite possible that analysts have asked that question of EI's management in terms of all of their liabilities in their consolidated balance sheets.  It's quite possible.  I can't say I know the answer as to the extent of any questions of that nature.


MR. BRETT:  Now, at a certain -- all right.  So anyway, you did the study, Gannett Fleming did the study, and you came back -- and if I could ask you to just look at -- you may not need to turn this up, but it's page 13 of your -- this is page 1 of your study, Mr. Kennedy, 2-13.  2-13.


MR. KENNEDY:  I have that, sir.


MR. BRETT:  And you say there at the second paragraph on the -- on that page:


"Gannett Fleming views that the constant-dollar approach potentially may result in net salvage percentages that will more accurately reflect the future funding requirement."


Now, without going into this in huge detail, I'm struck with your phrase "potentially may."  Is that -- that doesn't -- you are not saying it's likely or probable that it will more accurately reflect.


Did you mean to use exactly that phrase?  Or are you being -- is that simply actuary's caution or -- what is that?


MR. KENNEDY:  I'm smiling, sir, because in preparation for this hearing we worked with our attorney's office in the one across.  I have that sentence highlighted, because my attorneys took me through the same question.


So -- and my answer to my attorney is going to be the same that I give to you.  I wish I had not used that phrase, because I don't think it's right.  I do believe it is a more accurate reflection of the future funding requirement, sir.


So for the purposes of cross-examination on my evidence, we could quite easily strike the words "potentially" and "may."


MR. BRETT:  I guess I should have left that alone, but it is just one of those things that leapt out at you.


MR. KENNEDY:  I once had a very -- a long-time advisor to myself, and he said any word that ends in "LY" take out of your evidence, Mr. Kennedy.  And I wish I would have listened to him.


MR. BRETT:  Yeah, that's -– okay.  Let me move on.


Now, I have a question.  I just want to ask you a sort of an informational question, although it's not -- it's not something that's explained in the evidence, but it -- I think it bears on -- I want to make sure I understand how you -- when you say you bring forward, as part of the CDNS method, you bring forward historical inflationary amounts to a current cost, can you just explain how you do that?  I just want to make sure I understand that.


You said that in your opening; you gave an explanation this morning, but I'm not sure I grasped exactly how you did that.


MR. KENNEDY:  Certainly, sir.  So what we do is we look at each of the retirement transactions of this company over the last 30-year period or 40-year period.


We then take those retirements and look at the retirement transaction and the cost of retirement associated with that.  And as I was explaining this morning, there is a timing difference in the basis of those costs.


So what we do is we take the retirement transaction that says:  I retired -- for example, in the year 2005 -- I retired a hundred dollars.  And that hundred dollars was actually installed in maybe 1950.


MR. BRETT:  Right.


MR. KENNEDY:  So we take that hundred dollars -- it is 1950 dollars -- and we, through the uses of indices, move that hundred dollars to 2010.


We likewise took the dollars that we had for cost of retirement that would have been in my own example, the 1970s dollars, and we bring that forward to 2010.


So now what I have is that 1970-ish transaction that had 1950 original-cost dollars and 1970 removal dollars.  I bring both of those pieces to the year 2010.


MR. BRETT:  And you said you used the use of indices, but what indices do you use?  Are you -- you're trying to avoid, I gather, in part, the excessive inflation in the early '80s, which gave you a composite inflation rate over that period of 3 and a half percent, I think you discussed with Mr. Shepherd, versus 2 percent that you're assuming going forward, but what are these indices that you use?


How do you do it mechanically, I guess is what I'm asking.


MR. KENNEDY:  So what we did or how we looked at it, we took the average of a number of indices, and what we did was we took the consumer price indices for Ontario labour.


MR. BRETT:  Right.


MR. KENNEDY:  That has been published, and I think that went one went back into the 1970s or 1980.s  That was one index we used.


There was a utility industry guide called the Handy-Whitman Index that publishes the labour component of the electric –- sorry, of gas utility plant.  We used that.


MR. BRETT:  Right.


MR. KENNEDY:  We also used -- we had a third index and it's escaping me off the top of my head.


MR. BRETT:  I'm just looking for kind of a broad brush.


MR. KENNEDY:  What we did is we took those three indices and we averaged those three indices to come up with the historic rate of inflation by year; so in other words, the indices from 1970 to 2010 would say this is an index of X factor.  We applied those specific factors from each transactional year, based on the average of the three components that we could find, because each of the three indices has some inherent weaknesses and strengths.  So we took the average of those and used that to bring it forward.


MR. BRETT:  But you -- then going forward, how did you select the 2 percent?  What's that based on?


MR. KENNEDY:  We used -- again, we used a couple of different sources.


One is the -- we used some published economic criteria that looks at long term, out of the London School of Economics.


We used a guide called Economa, which is another guide that we put some reliance on.


And I guess lastly but maybe not leastly is we -- I worked over the last couple of years on a very large number of utility rate applications.  And in various pieces of those applications, there has been a need for some type of inflation index for projects.


MR. BRETT:  Right. capital


MR. KENNEDY:  Two percent seemed to be a very widely used number.


Not un-coincidentally, we asked Enbridge in terms of is there a number they've were using, and the number that we came up with, my 2 percent, I think was very close to the number that they planned to use in their rate application as well.


So it really came from multiple factors and kind of converged at 2 percent being a reasonable number to use.


MR. BRETT:  Would you agree that for the next two years -- say the current year and probably 2015 -- there are a number of data sources and -- including the Bank of Canada, that suggest inflation would be less than 2 percent, that it will probably be closer to 1.5 percent?


Certainly this year, and probably next year.


MR. KENNEDY:  I would agree with that, sir.  The caveat I would put on it -- the shorter-term outlooks is we're talking about remaining lives of 40 and 50 years in some of these assets.


So it needs to be a long-term look.


MS. CONBOY:  Sorry, Mr. Kennedy, was that a weighted average that you use used of the three components?  Or a simple average?


MR. KENNEDY:  I answer I did weight the three components.  I gave a 50 percent weighting to the CPI index for Ontario labour, and a 25 percent weighting to the other two sources.


MS. CONBOY:  I think you mentioned something that the costs were largely labour-related so you gave the –-


MR. KENNEDY:  Yes.


MS. CONBOY:  Okay.  Sorry, Mr. Brett.  Please go ahead.


MR. BRETT:  No, that's helpful.  Thank you.


So just going to -- I'd like to go back to the financial statements for a moment, Enbridge's -- EGDI's 2013 financial statement.  This was touched on earlier, but I want to just follow up on something one of my colleagues opened up.


But before I do that, effectively you could describe this surplus that we've talked about that you've accumulated over the past 60 years or so, 50 years, it's really an interest-free loan, eh?  Is one way to look at it?  It is an interest-free loan to the company, on which you're not -- is that --


MR. KENNEDY:  Well, I wouldn't go there, sir.  I want to be careful how we couch it.  And again, Mr. Culbert can answer -- add to the answer.


I view it simply as a surplus is simply the difference between a number or a balance that we had collected.


MR. BRETT:  Mm-hmm.


MR. KENNEDY:  And the amount that we need to have in such reserve at that point in time.


The couching -- the refund as an interest-free loan or the fact the company had built up a surplus, I would by no means couch it as an interest-free loan, in that they've had rate-base impacts, and those rate-base impacts have had, you know, the impact of reducing the rate base of the company, or if -- in other circumstances it may have increased, so --


MR. BRETT:  Maybe it would be fair to say it's both.  I mean, you are arguing that it has -- you are not arguing, you are stating, I guess, that it has rate-base impacts, but you seem to resist the notion that it's interest-free money.


It is hard to have it both ways there.  I mean, this is money you used in your operations.  You've said that you've used it.  It is not a reserve.  There is no special account.  It is not even a notional account.  You are using -- you've used these funds to do business.


MR. CULBERT:  And the use of the accumulation of the liability amount is a credit against rate base, as I've mentioned, so absent using the monies in that fashion, if you were to set up a fund of some sort, a reserve, and actually set aside those cash amounts --


MR. BRETT:  Yeah.


MR. CULBERT:  -- then the entity would have had to have gone out and presumably somewhere near the weighted average cost of capital for each of those periods would have had to incurred more debt and equity, which would have meant an increase in the weighted average cost of capital and implications of that to ratepayers.


MR. BRETT:  Yeah, let me just go back.  That's not exactly where I was going, but anyway, that's -- I take your point, but I want to go back to page 14 of your -- you were asked about this earlier -- regulatory assets and liabilities.  And I just want to go back to this for a moment.


If you look at that -- do you have that in front of you?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes.


MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Well, in the bottom paragraph, "regulatory assets", the third line in:

"Regulatory liabilities represent amounts that are expected to be refunded to customers in future periods through rates."


Now, I heard what you said earlier.  But if you go over the -- but over the page, just to complete the sort of factual picture before I ask my question, if you look at the table on page 15, it shows, as you told Ms. Sebalj, the $905 million number at December 31st, 2013, right?


MR. CULBERT:  Correct.


MR. BRETT:  And then over in the footnote 5 -- or footnote 10, rather, it explains -- explains what it is, and it says:
"The settlement of this balance will occur over the long-term as future removal and site restoration costs are incurred."


And then it goes on to say:
"In the absence of rate regulation costs incurred for removal and site restoration will be charged to earnings as incurred."


Now, my question is, it really is -- when you say in  -- at the bottom of page 14 that "represent amounts that are expected to be refunded to customers", that really is part of the regulatory compact, right?  I mean, that's saying, to the extent that you don't need to use those funds to actually remove a pipe in the future, the balance of that money will go back to ratepayers.  Is that what that's saying?


MR. CULBERT:  I would totally agree that the regulator would take the view, as would I, that if, at the end of the life of this business, if that -- if we knew where that was, which we don't, which is why we don't have AROs -- if that were to be the case, and we had an excess amount that we had recovered -- and I think Mr. Kennedy would agree -- I would believe that the regulator would require the return of those monies to the previous ratepayers, absolutely.


MR. BRETT:  Right.  And, now, the other point is that if you look at -- and I don't know that you need to turn this up.  You can if you wish.  But if you look at Board Staff 77 with those tables that have been discussed, what -- particularly attachment 1 -- what strikes me, looking at those tables, is the large -- is the relatively large gap between what you recovered through depreciation, which I see in line 3, and what the actual costs are.  And it doesn't seem to be a gap that's closing.  It's a constant gap.  And it seemed -- is that not the case?


MR. KENNEDY:  Sir, I think we did address this this morning a bit, but just in maybe review, that gap is large now because this company is in a continual growth state and with a large capital additional programs.


One would expect, and given the age of the infrastructure, and the fact that this company is going to receive larger retirement programs in future years, that gap will close.


MR. BRETT:  You did actually discuss that, and I recall speaking with Mr. Shepherd just after he stopped, and Enbridge -- you would agree with me that Enbridge has one of the most attractive gas franchises in North America?


MR. KENNEDY:  I have lots of very good clients that are very --


MR. BRETT:  Well, yes, you do, but very few would be
-- would you not agree seriously, very few -- let's take Canada.  Would you not agree that Enbridge has the most attractive gas -- natural-gas franchise in Canada?  I shouldn't probably be asking you this.  I mean, you're not necessarily an economic -- you are not an economics expert, but you are a detached observer.


MR. KENNEDY:  Well -- and I'll answer your question, I think, sir, the only way that I think I can with my expertise, that it definitely has, if not the largest, one of the largest customer bases of natural-gas utilities in this country.


MR. BRETT:  And it's on a growth streak, right?


MR. KENNEDY:  Yes.


MR. BRETT:  It's been on a growth streak for as long as we can remember.


MR. KENNEDY:  And it's got a very stable ownership.


MR. BRETT:  And it's got a very stable ownership, and there is no signs that this growth is abating, so isn't it fair to say that we're looking at a utility that -- look at what's proposed in 2014 and '15 in the way of capital expenditures, right?  A billion dollars, give or take.


MR. KENNEDY:  Yes.


MR. BRETT:  Isn't this a utility that's going to -- if you do everything on probabilities, isn't it the probability that this utility is going to continue to grow out in the future for as long as anyone can see at this point?


MR. KENNEDY:  I'll answer that question, sir, but again, I'm going to caveat my answers that I'm not an economist, but I do look at a lot of utilities, and I look at, going back to your premise, this company is in a large area.  It is in an area that is a large consumer of natural gas.  At this point in time  natural gas is a relatively affordable commodity, but circumstances change.  And one doesn't know necessarily that -- I often use this example.  If I was an expert on commodities, I wouldn't be playing the data appreciation game.  I would be making much more money in the commodity market.


Your question is fair.  This is a growing company.  At this point in time it is continued to be perceived, at least in my mind, as a growing company.  Having said that, this company's got a lot of assets that are finite life assets, and companies with finite life assets are going to have to remove or retire or abandon in some fashion those assets that do have a finite life.  And the older the company gets, the more probable that you are going to see increases to the retirement schedules.


MR. BRETT:  I guess the question I have is, trying to wrap up these last couple of questions, you have -- you've recommended to Enbridge that they can refund this amount, and I'm really -- I guess my question really is, you seem reluctant to recommend any more than that.


Why do you -- why do you stop at 292?  I'm not suggesting to you that the entire amount be paid back, but there have been -- but you seem to be stopping at 292.


MR. KENNEDY:  For two reasons, sir.  One is I can put some validation around that number.


MR. BRETT:  Right.


MR. KENNEDY:  We did an extensive amount of work, we did an extensive amount of modelling, and we have some very empiric data that allows me to be very comfortable at 292.


I get a bit hesitant, and we've seen it in other jurisdictions, where regulators and intervenors and utilities in the consortiums start fuddling around with those accumulated depreciation numbers on the basis of softer and not quite so solid assumptions.


And quite frankly, very quickly, the more of that that occurs that isn't based on solid empiric evidence, you can very quickly turn surpluses into deficits, you can turn deficits into surpluses, and you can have very, very wide swings in utility tolls.


So my advice to this regulator and all regulators that I sit before, let's do this on the basis of well-thought-out, correctly vetted studies.


MR. BRETT:  One of the things that you showed in your analysis was that -- I guess it was in the first phase of your analysis.  That would be appendix A to your study.  Was that historically Enbridge's negative salvage percentages were higher, sort of generically, systematically higher than the comparators that you used; do you recall that?


MR. KENNEDY:  Yes, I do, sir.


MR. BRETT:  And substantially higher, actually, in the case of -- I have here -- you had raised, for example, for mains, steel and plastic, of -- as I read it -- 20 to 75 percent for comparators, and Enbridge came in at 90 for steel and 85 for plastic.


Now, these are fairly large differentials.  What do you make of that?


MR. KENNEDY:  Sir, that's really what drove us to the -- I guess in part drove us to the conclusion that we needed to undertake phase 2 of the study.


MR. BRETT:  Right.


MR. KENNEDY:  This utility is a very old utility, and has a number of data that extend back into the 1970s and '80s for cost of removal and retirement transactions that became very useful.


Quite frankly, this utility was of such an age over those periods of, you know, high inflation in the 1980s that they were retiring flat at a higher rate than perhaps some of the more younger utilities that we'd see, for example, maybe in Alberta and stuff, that predominantly built themselves in the 1960s and '70s.


So this utility was a little bit unique in that we had some -- we had more data that really had this influence of this impact of those high inflationary periods.


So when we looked at these differentials and started comparing them, yes, the calculations done under the traditional method were correct, but that's really in part what led us to the conclusion that we need to challenge our use of the traditional method more.


MR. BRETT:  Thank you.  Give me a moment here.  I'm just checking.  There is a lot of water under the bridge, and I don't want to repeat what's been said.


Those are my questions.


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you very much, Mr. Brett.  Mr. Thompson?


We are prepared to sit til 5:00 o'clock, if that's okay for other people.  Lisa, you're okay?


Okay.  Please go ahead.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Thompson:


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  I'll see how far I get.  Thank you.


I do have some questions on J1.2, but I'll save that until after we finish the SRC.  I think they'll -- Mr. Culbert will be back tomorrow if I have those questions, as I understand it.  I had some communication with Mr. Cass on this.


MR. CULBERT:  Yes, I am joining the cost of capital panel tomorrow.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.


MS. CONBOY:  Yes, sorry, we didn't -- I don't think we addressed that this morning, but the Panel is aware that you will have some questions on J1.2 for Mr. Culbert.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.


So let me begin, Mr. Kennedy, by asking you to turn up Exhibit A1, tab 6, schedule 6.  This is your CV.


MR. KENNEDY:  I have that, sir.


MR. THOMPSON:  And it looks to me like you've been in this business for some time.  You joined Gannett Fleming in January 1999; is that correct?


MR. KENNEDY:  That's correct, sir.  My career goes back to the late 19 -- sorry, early 1980, when I actually worked with Enbridge in Edmonton on plant accounting and regulatory issues.


MR. THOMPSON:  This is the smoking gun.


[Laughter]


MR. THOMPSON:  And attached to the -- well, at pages 5 to 8 of your CV, you list the cases in which you've -- where evidence was provided and appearances were not required.  And that's in the first two pages, and then I think you have appearances before regulatory boards in the last two pages; is that fair?


MR. KENNEDY:  That's correct, sir.


MR. THOMPSON:  So your appearances date back to 1999, it would appear from page 7 of 8 of this exhibit?


MR. KENNEDY:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  And is the topic always depreciation, net salvage, that kind of thing?


MR. KENNEDY:  Very, very largely.  I think I had two cases -- one case where I made the mistake of delving outside my specific area of expertise and got into some rate of return questions.  You notice there is no more appearances like that after.


The other one's –- there is some questions here around accounting standards and IFRS as well, that became an issue in some of the proceedings.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Thanks.


Now, in terms of this constant-dollar net salvage approach, that dates -- is that your approach, or is that something that you learned from somebody else?


MR. KENNEDY:  No.  I wish I could take credit for inventing it because I might have some royalties.


The approach was popularized in the late 1980s, largely because of the impacts of inflation that occurred in that era.


TransAlta Utilities in Alberta started using it.  To my knowledge, it was the first time it was used in Canada, by TransAlta Utilities.  I think it was a 1994 or perhaps in –- I'm sorry, a 1984 or a 1987 decision of the -– at that time, the Alberta Public Utilities Board.


It received some attention in various aspects of the United States jurisdictions, here and there, and then, like I say, most largely used in Canada in Alberta, with the TransAlta group of utilities.


So that was before my time of doing it.


MR. THOMPSON:  How long have you been advocating this approach?  It dates back to when?


MR. KENNEDY:  When I started doing -- at that time, one of my early assignments was for the spin-off companies of TransAlta Utilities.  I actually started working on those cases when they were still TransAlta Utilities.


I became -- at that time when I looked at their -- at their systems and their records and the approach that they had been using, it brought me back to my textbooks where I started looking at inflation-adjusted methods of depreciation.


And quite frankly, I really started liking it and I advocated it for AltaLink, in particular, in 2002 and a 2006 and a 2010 proceeding.


MR. THOMPSON:  So this approach has been known to you for 10 years or more, at least?


MR. KENNEDY:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  And you've been advocating it for at least 10 years?


MR. KENNEDY:  In certain circumstances, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  And a negative salvage has been part of the fabric of gas utility regulation for how long?  Do you know?


I used to be around when there was no negative balance.


MR. KENNEDY:  Well, then we may have started together, then, sir.


MR. THOMPSON:  I don't think so.


[Laughter]


MR. KENNEDY:  I'm aware of applications that are using the concept of net negative salvage.  As we heard this morning, I think this utility has had it approved in rate since the late 1950s.


I'd have to go back to my US colleagues.


I think it goes back into the 1940s in the United States in some jurisdictions, but it really became popular in, I would say, the 1950s.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Now, you also -- your CV indicates that you work for many utilities.  And I assume many of these are gas utilities, are they?


MR. KENNEDY:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Do you advocate this method, a constant-dollar net salvage method, in all of those cases?


MR. KENNEDY:  No, sir.  We -- I would suggest when we have our management meetings, at the beginning of undertaking assignments, we talk about the company policies and the policies we want to go forth with.


The pure fact of the matter is the majority of times, the use of the CDNS method would, in fact, result in an increase in depreciation expense, rather than a decrease.  We have kind of a perfect storm of circumstances where, with this utility, it results in a decrease.


Because it results in an increase more often than not, the utilities are often hesitant to seek approval of it before a regulator, with a method that's somewhat not as widely used as the traditional method, that results in an increase in rates.


I would say that probably in the majority of these cases we have at least talked with the executives of these utilities that this method exists.


I'll go one step further that beginning in about 2009, with the requirements of both the Canadian accounting standards, but largely when we started in, I think it was 8 or 9, with the potential move to the International Financial Reporting Standards, as we talked about this morning with Mr. Shepherd, the CDNS method is quite similar in certain mechanics as would be the standard 37 of the IFRS.


And so we had a number of utilities that I met with where we talked about maybe the ability to go to an ARO method under that standard for all plant.  So in other words, it would be a very similar method, and we could still have convergence of regulatory and financial statements --


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Sorry --


MR. KENNEDY:  -- and it didn't always work out.  When we delved into it further, it wasn't always as close as we thought.  But just to answer your question, we have advocated it.  I have talked about it with many utilities across this country.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And was that a matter of practice by May -- by 2009?  That's what I thought I heard you say.


MR. KENNEDY:  I'm sorry, I missed the...


MR. THOMPSON:  Did you inform utilities about this methodology as a matter of practice by 2009?


MR. KENNEDY:  Yes, I would say, in fact, in discussions even prior to that it normally became part of the discussions we had with management of utilities.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And so now this brings me to the Enbridge's 2013 rebasing case.  That would be for their 2013 test year.  And I'm -- I had somebody dig this out for me today, listening to your testimony, but your firm was retained in that case, was it not, in May 2011 to conduct a depreciation study of the company's gas plant as of December 31, 2010?


MR. KENNEDY:  That's correct, sir.


MR. THOMPSON:  And so you would have brought this method to Enbridge's attention at that time.


MR. KENNEDY:  We looked at the net salvage percentage at great length as part of that proceeding.  At that time I -- I do remember discussing with the company the continued use of the traditional method.


We -- in retrospect, we maybe should have pushed it harder with the company at that point in time.  We did discuss it, and at that time decided to continue with the traditional method of net salvage calculation.


MR. THOMPSON:  Who is "we"?  The company decided?


MR. KENNEDY:  I think "we" would be Gannett Fleming, that we wouldn't -- we brought it up to the company, but we didn't push it with the company, perhaps, as hard as, in retrospect, I think we should have.


MR. THOMPSON:  And why didn't you push it?


MR. KENNEDY:  There was --


MR. THOMPSON:  Because it would have brought depreciation rates down, right?


MR. KENNEDY:  Well, at that time it would have been my assumption that the rates would have gone up, actually, using the CDNS method.


MR. THOMPSON:  Why would you assume that?


MR. KENNEDY:  Because, as I suggested a few minutes ago, the majority of times where you use a CDNS method the rates go up.  We hadn't tested the method to actually see if we have the set of circumstances that would result in a depreciation rate reduction using the CDNS method for Enbridge as part of the -- or particularly the early part of that 2011 study.


MR. THOMPSON:  Mr. Brett was referring you to some comparables in his cross-examination when other people were charging for depreciation rates.  Was that something you did in conjunction with this study, or was that in a prior study?


MR. KENNEDY:  The actual -- we update that list of comparables on an ongoing basis as part of our firm.  We have a library of comparable rates that we have recommended, a net salvage rates that we've recommended to various utilities.


When I put Phase 1 together I went back to that library and, you know, looked at the information there, but that library is kept on a very active go-forward basis.


MR. THOMPSON:  So it would have been examined for the purposes of the study you did in 2011 for -- well, the study you did as part of the rebasing case.


MR. KENNEDY:  The 2011 study, yes, we did look at the comparables.


MR. THOMPSON:  And so the -- and the comparables would show the same trends?


MR. KENNEDY:  Yes, they did.


MR. THOMPSON:  Now, the 2010 study, would you take subject to check, resulted in some -- and here again I'm looking at evidence in the rebasing case -- resulted in some recommended -- this is your firm's recommended reductions in depreciation rates.  And I have it here from a composite rate of 4.58 percent to 4.49 percent.  Would you take that subject to check?


MR. KENNEDY:  I'll take that subject to check.  I do know that there was rate reductions resulting from this.


MR. THOMPSON:  And then Mr. Culbert, I think in your pre-filed you talk about proceedings in the -- that -- in that 2000 rebasing case, if I'm not mistaken -- yeah, in paragraph 3 you talk about the settlement agreement in that case.  Do you see that?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes, on page 1?


MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  And am I correct that the outcome of the settlement agreement is, terms of depreciation rates, is reflected at page 15 of 15 of this evidence in column 5 at 4.15 percent?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes, I see that.


MR. THOMPSON:  And so that's a decrease from the Gannett Fleming reference in that case, as I mentioned a few moments ago, of 4.58 percent.


MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.  And as part of the agreement, as you see in that paragraph 3, as part of the agreement there was an agreement to extend the period over which some assets had historically been depreciated.


MR. THOMPSON:  And can you elaborate -- is -- can you elaborate on the items that were, in effect, the depreciation rate was reduced as a result of those discussions?


MR. CULBERT:  Can I elaborate in terms of which categories?


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.


MR. CULBERT:  Yeah, it was -- it says in paragraph 3  -- and you would see on the next page "distribution mains", so that would be the line-item numbers 1.4, in that category, 1.4 category of assets, and additionally item -- line number 1.3, "services, meter installations".


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Could you by way of undertaking just provide each of the rates that were updated?  I mean, I suppose I could do this myself by filing the D exhibit in a previous case, but it might make more sense to have you people put the numbers on there that were initially filed and then the settlement amounts.

MR. CULBERT:  Certainly, we could do that.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.


MS. SEBALJ:  J9.5.


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.
UNDERTAKING NO. J9.5:  TO PROVIDE EACH OF THE UPDATED RATES


MR. THOMPSON:  Now, Mr. Kennedy, did Gannett Fleming participate in that update of those numbers to reduce them?


MR. KENNEDY:  We did, sir.  The company -- we had, I guess, a couple of phone calls with the company, where they asked me to determine the impact or provide an opinion on the reasonableness of some life extensions to those categories.


We reviewed them, we looked at the data, and agreed that even with those moves it would still be in what I would consider to be a band of reasonableness of depreciation rates for those categories, and based on that agreement we rounded the depreciation rate calculations to meet those agreed-to criteria.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So then did you -- is that indicative of another study?


MR. KENNEDY:  Definitely not...


MR. THOMPSON:  I'm sorry?


MR. KENNEDY:  We're playing musical buttons here.


Definitely not, sir.  That was simply what I would refer to as a run or a technical update, I guess is the words that we put to that, where -- for those couple of specific categories.


Definitely not a study.  A study is where you look at the causes of the data, you look at the operational impacts, et cetera.  We moved in these categories, if memory serves me right, I think five years of life on that, thereabouts a 60-year life estimate.

I viewed that given some of the things we talked about this morning, with the higher instance of plastic pipe, it was reasonable for the purposes of a negotiated settlement to consider that that extra five years was still in the bound of reasonableness.

Definitely not a full-fledged study, sir, but we did a bunch of arithmetic and we agreed that the results would be reasonable.

MR. THOMPSON:  Would you take, Mr. Culbert, subject to check, that the result of all of that was to reduce depreciation expense for 2013 by something in the order of 23, $24 million?

MR. CULBERT:  Sure, subject to check.  I could look through the documents to see what the impact was, but subject to check, I would agree.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So you didn't have to go back and re-do everything, Mr. Kennedy, to come up with that kind of an adjustment?

MR. KENNEDY:  And for two reasons, we didn't, because we had recently done a lot of our analysis in 2010.  And yes, we -- for the purposes of a negotiated settlement, we agreed that that was still within -- you know, that the reasonableness -- I have to talk about the goalposts of being reasonable.  We thought our 2010 study was kind of bang down the middle of those two goalposts, but we definitely thought the negotiated settlement lies still within that band.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, it resulted in different depreciation rates, which I assume you have now transposed into your 2010 study, have you?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. KENNEDY:  I'm sorry, sir.  Mr. Culbert and I were -- he just reminded we agreed to changes on the life.  I don't think there was any changes to the net salvage components, but, I'm sorry, I missed your question.  I apologize for that.

MR. THOMPSON:  My question is:  Have those reduced rates for the items which were changed been reflected in your -- for your study for the period ending December 31, 2010, which you've used as a base for your analysis here?

MR. KENNEDY:  Definitely, sir.  I might answer your question I think the way you asked, is we use those negotiated settlement lives and assumptions in the calculations of our constant-dollar net salvage approach.

MR. THOMPSON:  So there again, your study has been revised by this -- you didn't have to go through this detailed two-week analysis to revise your study to reflect the outcome of those discussions?

MR. KENNEDY:  No, sir, but we did spend -- it wasn't a matter of a couple of hours to re-run the numbers, either.  It was a matter of a number of days.

So yes, we did -- we did re-do the arithmetic based on those discussions.  We had new lives.  When we did the CDNS calculations, we definitely had the benefit of that already occurring, and so yes, we did -- we did do -– they're our constant-dollar net salvage analysis on the basis of the negotiated settlement lives.

MR. THOMPSON:  And, Mr. Culbert, back to you, then, you say in conjunction with -- this is in your evidence, D1, tab 5, schedule 1, page 41:
"In conjunction with the results of the settlement agreement, the company reviewed the implications of the extended depreciation periods on the adequacy of the amount of SRCs that had been collected over time."

Could you just explain what you mean there?

MR. CULBERT:  Well, as Mr. Kennedy commented, it wasn't myself necessarily, but what management looked at was, insofar as we had depreciation rate adjustments in 2013 and we had agreed to the extension of the service life of two categories, the mains and services -- or, excuse me, mains and services and meter installations, the company then was looking at the amount of the liability, the growth in the liability, and -- but -- and was a little puzzled in terms of what the number was becoming, and wanted to go back to Gannett Fleming, went to Gannett Fleming and said:  Can you have another look at this, given what we've agreed to, and determine whether you think that estimate is still reasonable?

MR. THOMPSON:  I don't get the linkage between the extension of the depreciation -- sorry, the lowering of the depreciation rates for those line items, and the site restoration costs.

Can you help me there?

MR. CULBERT:  I would suggest that the linkage is in having agreed to a change in the service lives, while Gannett Fleming was consulted on that as to whether they thought it was a reasonable change in the range that they had looked at, the company looked at it and said:  Well, let's make sure that what we've done going forward is going to produce -- continue to produce, the amounts of net salvage are going to continue to produce what the credit amount is for the liability.

So there is not a direct linkage per se.  It was just a double-check of:  Well, we've agreed to something.  Let's ensure that what we've agreed to is a reasonable assumption, and let's take a look at other things that are happening as well.

MR. THOMPSON:  Why wasn't that brought forward in the rebasing case?  Was it because the base would go down or had the potential to go down, because of this credit being too high?

MR. CULBERT:  I can't say I could give you that answer.  Again, it wasn't myself who was directly involved in the review of depreciation rates and what we were looking to do with Gannett Fleming.

But I can't say I have an answer as to why it wasn't looked at for the 2013 proceeding.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Okay.  Let me then move on to another sort of background topic, which is:  What's the difference between replacement and retirement?

MR. KENNEDY:  Unfortunately, in our industry, there are a lot of terms that get used very interchangeably that ought not be used interchangeably.

A replacement project would normally have a retirement associated with it.  You are retiring an old asset and you are putting a new asset in, so you have a replacement project that has a component of retirement.

Unfortunately, as I suggested, the use of terms within our industry isn't always really clean.  If you ask me on a theorist basis, a retirement is terminal retirement and a replacement is the replacement of assets.  And when I say "terminal retirement," in other words there is not a replacement asset going in.

I'll be very frank, that I sit through –- you've see on my CV four pages of proceedings or evidence.  Those terms aren't necessarily used at that type of a theoretical basis at all.  So we often talk about retirement of assets as part of the replacement projects, and we talk about retirement assets at the end of the asset's life not being -- going back in.

Generally, I would use the terms for that -- that if you have a replacement project, you know you are going to have a retirement activity inside that replacement project.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And so that -- and those costs, the retirements associated, let me give you my understanding.

When you replace, you go down and you dig a hole, you take up some old pipe and you put in something new.  That to me is a replacement.

MR. KENNEDY:  And you back through the hole, and all the old material and -- yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  But you have a retirement piece in your hand?

MR. KENNEDY:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  And the costs of all of that, am I correct they are forecast on an annual basis?  They are not rolled up in a depreciation rate?

MR. KENNEDY:  The actual -- well, I want to be clear.  The estimation of what those costs would be are recovered in anticipation of the retirement event through depreciation.

The actual costs incurred are booked to the reserve account in connection with proper utility accounting.  There is a retirement transaction that occurs, and the cost of retirement are booked through to, for regulatory purposes, a reserve account that, in essence, forms part of the accumulated depreciation.

MR. THOMPSON:  So how does that work, Mr. Culbert?  If you are digging down to retire and replace a pipe, have you already collected for the hole?

MR. CULBERT:  The manner in which the forecasting of the annual costs -- we'll call them retirement costs, removal costs, whichever description you want to make -- they are forecast in terms of what we do incur as an annual expense.

What Mr. Kennedy is referring to is while we know -- while we project what those actual costs are for current-day removals or retirements, what's included in the forecast of depreciation expense, the net salvage value, is something different.

That's the study that Gannett Fleming does, saying:  Well, it's not just your current cost, pay as you go, that you need to recover.  You need to estimate what it will be over the remaining estimated asset lives that you have in the ground now.  So I'm not sure if I've answered your question per se, but --


MR. KENNEDY:  And I would point you to the response to information request.  It is FRPO 18, where we responded to that -- to the question about how the actual costs of the replacement project are allocated between the replacement and the capital.


MR. THOMPSON:  Sorry, what's that again, what number?


MR. KENNEDY:  That's --


MR. THOMPSON:  Under what --


MR. KENNEDY:  It is under E39.EGDI.FRPO.18.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And what does this tell me --


MR. KENNEDY:  Well, the question was -- and I think we can all read the question.  It basically is, how do we allocate the costs between the allocation of the crews' time that are on-site to remove products or facilities, and the answer is that for abandonment projects, et cetera, there is an allocation of the specific site or accrued costs for the various activities.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, let me try and ask this question this way, Mr. Culbert.  If you go to Board Staff 77, in the attachment, and in line -- I guess line 4, there are forecasts -- well, there are some actuals and forecasts for site restoration and removal costs.


Now, do those relate purely to retirements or do they relate to replacements and retirements?  Can you help me?  In other words, if retirements are associated with a replacement, are they booked separately or forecast separately from retirements that aren't being replaced?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes, I understand your question, and the interrogatory response Mr. Kennedy just referred to, I think it shows that what the departments that are doing this type of work try to do is they try to estimate their time that's being spent on the two different things that are happening.


So my response would be, I would believe this is the forecast of removal cost, site restoration, or removal costs.  It is not the time of digging the hole, et cetera.


So I believe that's what it is, but subject to check.  I don't do these calculations per se.


MR. THOMPSON:  So are there any pipes that are being retired but not replaced now as we speak?


MR. CULBERT:  I would hazard a guess that there could be some that are being retired for whatever circumstance and not being replaced, not --


MR. THOMPSON:  But would it be a very small --


MR. CULBERT:  I would suggest it would probably be a very small percentage.  You might be -- you might have a pipe in a situation -- in a geographic location that's not needed any more.  There might be circumstances of that nature.


But for the most part I would think they are retirements adjacent to replacements.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Thanks.


Okay.  So let's move forward then to this particular SRC issue.  And am I correct that this has got nothing to do with custom IR?  It is a stand-alone problem that could have been handled in the 2013 case or -- on rebasing -- well, it's got nothing to do with the incentive regulation custom IR plan.


MR. CULBERT:  In and of itself, no, it does not.  That's the discussion I had with Ms. Girvan I mentioned before, which is we have looked at the results of the Gannett Fleming study and looked at the impacts of high inflation, impacts on costs of removals in the past, and believed it was an appropriate view, going forward, that this methodology would better represent what our future costs of removals would probably be.


MR. THOMPSON:  And having done the analysis and reached the conclusion that there has been an over-collection, the question becomes, what is the over-collection amount.  Just stopping there, can we agree that that's one of the questions?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes, it is trying to figure out what the estimate of, I'll say the reserve excess would be, given the data that's been used, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  And then conceptually, can we agree that, whatever the over-collection amount is, it's determined as of a date?


MR. KENNEDY:  Yes, sir, as we were chatting, I think half an hour or so ago, that it's just calculated on the basis of some empiric data as at a specific date.


MR. THOMPSON:  And that date is December 31, 2010, as I understand it.


MR. KENNEDY:  That's correct, sir.


MR. THOMPSON:  And then can we agree conceptually that the amount that should be paid back is an amount that should be determined as of the date when the money starts to get paid back?


MR. KENNEDY:  I got lost in there somehow, so if I could get you to try that again.


MR. THOMPSON:  You have to determine what's been over-collected.  That's step one.  And then the next step is pay it back.  And you have to pay it back as of -- you start paying it back as a particular date, right?


MR. KENNEDY:  Correct, sir.


MR. THOMPSON:  And all I'm suggesting is we have to bring the calculation of the amount to be paid back up to the date when you start paying it back.


MR. KENNEDY:  Well, no, sir, I would suggest that the overall goal of depreciation in many aspects is to recover the service value of an asset over the life of the asset, nothing more, nothing less.


And so overall, the goal is by the time that asset is out of service, that we have recovered its service value of that asset, including the cost of removal, precisely.


The mechanism as I described this morning of the remaining life approach to depreciation rates is designed specifically to try to meet that overall goal.  Nothing more, nothing less is recovered through rates, in terms of an asset service value.


The fact that we're using a, I'll call it for purposes of discussion an accelerated refund in this specific circumstance really is quite unusual, and to me is an effort to try to be as fair to the toll-payer as possible, given the size of the over-collection.


As I also suggested a little while ago, one has to be careful not to get -- not to get too carried away.  We had empiric data that tells me that is a correct number.  When we do another study in 2017, 2018, we will review the data, we will look at these, we will make the same test of reserves again, and if in fact there is need for further correction of that -- of that SRC fund or, in fact, the accumulated depreciation balances, we'll make recommendations that are appropriate at that time.  Overall, though, we're going to collect the original cost plus the estimated salvage value over the life of the asset.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Can we agree that the payback date that you are proposing starts January 1, 2014?


MR. KENNEDY:  That's correct, sir, because that's the first opportunity we've had to adjust the customer tolls.


MR. THOMPSON:  That's fine.  And I think I hear what you saying is to the extent that there is a difference between the finite amount you've calculated, based on December 31, 2010 and that number calculated as of December 31, 2013, that's going to come out in the wash later when another calculation is done.


MR. KENNEDY:  That's correct, sir.


MR. THOMPSON:  So it's not that we're not going to get it, it's just a timing question.


MR. KENNEDY:  That's correct.  And we -- my advice to this company and this Board would be, let's be sure that we're refunding these amounts, particularly when we do it at an accelerated basis on the basis of correctly vetted empiric data.


MR. THOMPSON:  And so that's step one, what has to be paid back, you do a calculation, and that number, on your calculations, is in the order of 293 million?


MR. KENNEDY:  That's correct, sir.


MR. THOMPSON:  And Mr. Culbert, that's being paid back -- or the proposal to pay that back is, as I understand it, is 259 of it and some odd, it is in Staff 97 -- 77, I think.


Yeah, it's line 6, if I'm not mistaken, and it's different amounts in each year.  Could you just explain how those amounts were derived?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes, I'm not sure of the number of the interrogatory.  There was an interrogatory, I think asked by -- hmm, I'm going to guess Board Staff, that asked what went into the determination of amounts to be returned in this pattern.


MR. THOMPSON:  Right.


MR. CULBERT:  There was a multitude of things the company looked at.  We looked at trying to figure out a way to expedite the return of amounts to ratepayers in an as advanced solution as possible, but in thinking about that, one also has to consider what the, I'll say, bill impacts are, because these aren't amounts that are going through rates or a rate rider, but they to impact the bill.

So we looked at what the bill impact was or could be, would be, on an annual basis, given various patterns.  And we also looked at things that we knew were, as we all know, significant increases that were happening inside of our application in the GTA project and our Ottawa reinforcements and a lot of our system integrity work that we've talked about.

So we looked at it from that perspective:  What could we do from a bill impact to try and mitigate some of the impacts of rate increases?  And we also looked at what the impact would be as a result of the rate rider ending at the end of the five-year proposal and what it would mean to bill impacts coming out of this five-year term.

So was there a perfect solution in terms of how you could accommodate all of those thoughts and what would be the most beneficial pattern?  You couldn't accommodate everything, in my opinion.

This is a pattern that we chose to try to accommodate a lot of that.  We knew some bill impacts were going to be significant in the first three years of our five-year term, and this is the pattern we chose.

MR. THOMPSON:  So whatever the finite amount is, it's got to be paid back.  And you could cut it many ways, and you pay it back, as I understand it, on this -- on this pattern, trying to keep, I guess, reasonable stability, is what I hear you saying, in rates.

MR. CULBERT:  To the degree possible.

MR. THOMPSON:  Yeah.

MR. CULBERT:  In bill impacts, pardon me.

And corollary rate impacts that are coming from -- as I spoke to, there are some rate impacts that come from this.

MR. THOMPSON:  I'll get to those in a second.

But in terms of the 293, there's 259 of it that is going by way of what you called rate rider?

MR. CULBERT:  Correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And then you are also, though, putting some through the "Depreciation expense reduction" line?

MR. CULBERT:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  And again, why is that?

MR. KENNEDY:  So maybe I'll take that.

As I suggested to this Board, under the remaining life method, the most common practice is to refund accumulated depreciation variances over the remaining life of the assets.

When we first did the study, we built into our depreciation rate that common theory.  In other words, the $6.6 million, there is a $6.6 million reduction in the depreciation rates calculated for many years to deal with the refund of the 292.

Following those calculations, the company and Gannett Fleming talked about:  Well, let's refund the $292,000 faster.

So what we did is we said, rather than us going to the work to calculate all the depreciation rates, take that $6.6 million out of the rates, we said:  Okay, we know that much is in the rates.  Knowing we're coming back in 2018 with a new study, we can leave that -- recover the 6.6 million over five years.  That gives us the differential between the 257 and the 292 million.

What that does mean is that come 2018, the depreciation rates have an –- are already going to have an impact, an increasing influence of $6.6 million, because that has been repaid by the end of 2018.

MR. THOMPSON:  So is the 6.6 -- I understand what you are saying.  You had the 6.6 going out forever, and the company said:  No, we've got to give more upfront.  And the solution was:  Well, we'll give 6.6 for five years, and then the other part by way of a cash rate rider.

MR. KENNEDY:  That's correct, sir.

MR. THOMPSON:  But is the 6.6 an add-on to the 30 --the 33 that you've identified?  Or is it rolled up in that -- in the amount that has to be reduced on a go-forward basis?

MR. KENNEDY:  It's an add-on, sir.

MR. THOMPSON:  So what's --

MR. KENNEDY:  It is, in essence, a $39 million decrease, if you take the $33 million decrease plus the 6.6 million.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And so the 39 drops to 33 at the end of year 5?

MR. KENNEDY:  Yes.  Or some number that is derived as part of a more fulsome study.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.

All right.  Now, so that's how much we paid back.  And then Mr. Culbert, in terms of -- the rate base impact of that payback is that rate base goes up by the amounts that you pay back in each year; is that right?

MR. CULBERT:  Yes.  Yes, our -- to a degree.  Our proposal -- well, all of it does increase rate base by the end of the period, at end of -- for 2014, our gross plant  -- excuse me, our net rate base would go up by $68 million, but the rate base impact in year 1 is not $68 million because of the average impact of rate-based calculations, and we propose to return the amounts through a rate rider based on a volumetric, I'll call it, pattern.

The impact to rate base from the cash returns is, I believe, in the neighbourhood of $39 million for year 1, 2014.

MR. THOMPSON:  But one of the rate base impacts -- I'm trying to isolate your proposal of the elements and then its impact on rate-setting, but one of them relates to the -- this cash rate rider in the amount shown each year, and so that would -- that's rolled up in one of the lines you presented in your opening statement?

MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Could we under unbundle that, to see it?

You can just park that for a moment, because I'm trying to get the rate implications of your proposal isolated so the Board can see what's all rolled up in your number.

MR. CULBERT:  And you see what the rate implications are on page 3 of the examination-in-chief that was handed out.

MR. THOMPSON:  Yeah, I appreciate that, but that's a bundled number, as I see it.

It is reflecting the rate base increase impact in year 1 of -- I guess it would be 50 percent of the 68.1, for example, as part of this?

MR. CULBERT:  It is not quite 50 percent because of the volumetric profile, but –-

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.

MR. CULBERT:  -- yes.

So in response to the A16.ENERGY.PROBE.11 interrogatory, we did provide what the total impact is of our constant dollar and rate rider proposal is.

Are you asking if I can disaggregate the impacts of the rate rider from within there and the residual?

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.

MR. CULBERT:  Yes, I can certainly do that.

MS. SEBALJ:  It's J9.6.
UNDERTAKING NO. J9.6:  to DISAGGREGATE THE IMPACTS OF THE RATE RIDER.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.

MR. THOMPSON:  So that's the payback number.  Now, just on that item, there is evidence -- you are talking about a pause as being an approach to remedy that aspect of the problem.  And a pause means to me a reduction in the -- recovery of depreciation by that $292 million amount.

MR. KENNEDY:  Yeah, a pause would say we're going to turn the net salvage percentages to zero for a period of time, until the reserve is back in balance with the theoretical calculations.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So would the pause to zero collect the 293 over five years?  Or would it collect at...

MR. KENNEDY:  The answer to your question is yes.  We would have suggested, had we chosen a pause approach, to turn net salvage off.

The challenge with the pause approach is now I've got to time the turning of the salvage back on with an ability to coming into a hearing room and adjust the depreciation rates.  And so the -- my experience with pause approaches is very often you turn a surplus into a deficit because of the type of regulatory lag, and now I'm faced with the exact opposite dilemma that I was in this case.


So yes, to answer your question directly, the pause approach in theory would turn net salvage percentages to zero percent until such time that the reserve is back in balance, and then we would seek new depreciation rates from the regulator to reintroduce salvage into the depreciation rate calculations.

MR. THOMPSON:  But as far as the customer is concerned, what's the difference between a pause and getting a cheque?  Is it really no difference?

MR. KENNEDY:  Well, practically, the way it's worked out in this proceeding, as we went through this morning in the table, this approach is, in essence, turning off the collection of net salvage for a while because of the mechanisms that have been chosen to pay back, particularly in the first few years.

The difference is we now have net salvage or depreciation rates established and approved by this Board that continue to be used or can continue to be used, and we are more assured that the -- the fact -- we know the number that we are refunding precisely.  We know there is going to be $292 million refunded in this manner, rather than hoping that we can catch the timing correctly with the regulator to get him depreciation rates.


Effectively in this proceeding we have almost cut cheques back or refunded to the customers a similar amount that we wouldn't be proposing to collect in the depreciation rates.


MR. THOMPSON:  So  substantively it's the same thing, as far as the payback is concerned.


MR. KENNEDY:  It is, except the logistics of the re-approval on the re-recognition within depreciation rates is much more established.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Now, moving to the next piece of it, in terms of what to do going forward, your proposal assumes that it's -- it's appropriate to continue to recover negative salvage through the depreciation rate.


MR. KENNEDY:  Yes, we have assumed -- or it's strong in my recommendations to regulatory commissions and boards and clients that the service value of an asset includes the recovery of the estimated cost to retire.


MR. THOMPSON:  But in your testimony, Mr. Kennedy, at 2-6 you refer to a B.C. case, B.C. -- U.C. ordered B.C. Hydro to cease funding its fund for site restoration costs until such time as the current fund is drawn down to zero.


So that's the pause, right?


MR. KENNEDY:  Yeah, that in essence is the pause approach, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  And thereafter to include the cost of retirement and site restoration at the annual operating costs of the company.


MR. KENNEDY:  Yes, so the B.C.U.C. ruled in the circumstance -- excuse me, I want to make sure I'm looking at the right one here.


Well, I'm assuming to take you to the last paragraph, where it talks about a 2005 decision that ordered B.C. --


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  2-6, 2 --


MR. KENNEDY:  Okay.  Because we referred to three different cases on that page.  I want to make sure that I'm speaking to the proper proceeding.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.


MR. KENNEDY:  In that proceeding, the B.C.U.C. ordered B.C. Hydro to cease funding their reserve for future site restoration until such time that it draws down to zero.  And then they anticipated that at that time or thereafter they would go to a pay-as-you-go approach, if you will, that I chatted about this morning with Mr. Shepherd, wherein the revenue requirements would reflect the anticipated spending in each year for cost of removal.


The B.C. U.C. in their Terasen case that --


MR. THOMPSON:  Just before you jump to the Terasen case --


MR. KENNEDY:  Okay.


MR. THOMPSON:  So that approach involves no recovery of negative salvage in the depreciation rate, right?


MR. KENNEDY:  That's correct, it is all directly through the income-statement portion of the revenue requirements.


MR. THOMPSON:  And so what the company would be doing would forecast on a -- what they require in each of the years, and that would be rolled up into -- into the revenue requirement, correct?


MR. KENNEDY:  That's correct, sir, and as I've testified in British Columbia in a number of jurisdictions, it's a method that I strongly suggest to regulators is going to result in lumpy tolls to begin with, and I believe breaks the rules of intergeneration of equity.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, just in terms of what that would mean in this case is back to Staff 77, is what would be added to revenue requirement would be the numbers at line 4, 15.9, 15 -- these are the forecast costs for 2014 to 2018, right, Mr. Culbert?


MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  And the depreciation rate for that time frame would be even lower than what you're currently recommending, wouldn't have any negative salvage component.


MR. KENNEDY:  That's correct, sir, and my warning on that would be simply that those users are paying only for the cost of retirement of the assets being retired.  They're not being -- they are not paying for any of the consumption of the service value of the assets that remain in service over those periods.  That's being transferred totally to the future toll-payer.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, we'll come to that in a moment, but just for the purposes of the record, could you tell me, please -- and this would have to be done by undertaking, I'm sure -- what the depreciation -- the composite depreciation rate would be -- and I'm looking at D1, tab 5, schedule 1, page 15, which shows under the proposal the company advances the composite depreciation rate decreasing from 4.15 to 3.73?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes, we see that.


MR. THOMPSON:  And what I'd like to find out is what the 3.73 would be with no negative salvage in the calculation.


MR. KENNEDY:  I'd have to -- I definitely can't do that on the fly here, sir.  It's --


MR. THOMPSON:  No, I understand.  But could I have that by way of undertaking?


MR. KENNEDY:  Yes.  Yes.


MS. SEBALJ:  It is J9.7.


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.
UNDERTAKING NO. J9.7:  TO PROVIDE WHAT 3.73 WOULD BE WITH NO NEGATIVE SALVAGE IN THE CALCULATION


MR. THOMPSON:   Okay.  So that was the -- back to -- then to the present, that was the approach that the B.C. U.C. took for B.C. Hydro.  And is it still the approach for B.C. Hydro?  Do you know?


MR. KENNEDY:  Quite frankly, I don't know.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well, then don't guess.


MR. KENNEDY:  Yes.  I can tell you that we reviewed that approach in the circumstances of a latter B.C. U.C. decision, and they went away from that approach and -- in 2009.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I thought you said you didn't know.


MR. KENNEDY:  Well, I don't know what they're doing at B.C. Hydro.  I can tell you on -- with regard to Terasen Gas in British Columbia or Fortis Energy, we spent much time in that hearing room discussing the B.C. U.C. decision that came out a few years ahead of that, and the resulting decision, as I've quoted in my evidence, from the B.C. U.C. in that Terasen case was to reverse its position at least with respect to Terasen Gas and reinstate the traditional method of recovery of net negative salvage.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Are those cases in the records somewhere?  I know somebody has been asked to produce...


MR. KENNEDY:  Well, I quoted the - it's in my evidence, which is in --


MR. THOMPSON:  No, no, I know that, but I am just trying to get the --


MR. KENNEDY:  And I would assume they are public documents, sir.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  I thought the Terasen Gas thing was a settlement.  Am I mistaken?  I'm trying to find it in your evidence.


MS. CONBOY:  If you go to 2-6, under the...  It talks about the negotiated settlement.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So it was a general rate application following the expiry of the settlement agreement.


MR. KENNEDY:  Yes, yes, there was a settlement, and then there was a general rate application.  In 2012, they produced the decision by the Board.  The Board indicated that the net negative salvage should be reinstated in its depreciation rates.


MR. THOMPSON:  And did they use the -- this constant dollar net salvage approach?


MR. KENNEDY:  No, in that particular case we -- the Board approved the net salvage inclusion based on a traditional method of net salvage calculation.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Now, that then brings me then to this whole business of negative salvage and the dollars that are accumulated there.  And your discussion you had with Mr. Shepherd that at -- that Enbridge has no legal obligation to retire or pay these costs, did I understand that to be the case?  That's Enbridge position?


MR. KENNEDY:  Well, sir, I'm going to back up if I can just one step back from that.  An asset retirement obligation and a fund for the retirement of assets are two very different things, and they are triggered by two very different events.


Our suggestion this morning was, and Mr. Culbert can speak to this and correct me if I'm not correct, the Enbridge position is they do not have or do not meet the triggers associated with disclosing an asset retirement obligation.


The company has taken the longstanding regulatory approach that there is business needs to retire assets and remove assets and abandon in place, and those business needs meet the criteria of regulators for the costs of retirement that are more commonly known as net negative salvage or SRC funds.

So we have two very different birds.  We have a -- we do not -- the company does not feel that it has a legal obligation or meets the triggers associated with asset retirement obligations, but definitely have the expectation that assets will retire in the future that will have an associated cost.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  But if there is no legal obligation to make this payment, and at the end of the day if Enbridge suddenly dies and there is all this pipe in the ground, and Enbridge is broke, what happens?

The ratepayers are out to lunch on $3 billion, are they not?

MR. KENNEDY:  Well, sir, I would anticipate that, first, the company wouldn't go broke or under in such a fashion that it would happen suddenly between rate applications, or we'd be spending much time in this hearing room talking about what -- how that's going to occur.

Secondly, as I indicated this morning, the expenditure of the $3 billion is going to be over a long period of time.  It's not having to cut a cheque all at once.

As we talked about, this is a stable company, this is an ongoing company, and it's got a very large franchise area.

So to answer your question, the probabilities of that occurring, in my view, are very, very small.

The assumption is this is an ongoing entity, and this entity has got a life and it's got an opportunity to earn revenues and continue with its operations in the net negative salvage.

If we decide to make a different assumption, or the regulator in its wisdom decides to enforce that kind of assumption, then we're down a whole different type of path.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, it kind of goes to Mr. Brett's question, where you are cutting back the obligation that's on the books now at 900 million, close to a billion.  You are cutting it back by 300 million.  And then you are saying that:  We're going to collect less as we go forward.

But according to the numbers that -- for five years out here, you are still 25 to 35 million over recovery in each of the five years.  So this thing is just going to be bloated again.

MR. KENNEDY:  Well, sir --


MR. THOMPSON:  What do we do?  Give back another 300 million five years from now?  Is that the plan?

MR. KENNEDY:  Well, sir, as I indicated this morning, we would be testing that reserve each time we do a study.

It is my expectation that this is -- given the maturity of this company and the age of its assets, that we are going to be seeing increased level of requirement for cost of retirement going forward.

So no, we make the best estimate that we can, at the point in time we do a study, and like any estimate, they are never going to be bang-on.  We hope they're as accurate as possible.

Through the continuation of preparing studies on a periodic -- they are about a five-year basis -- we try to eliminate these very large swings, and hopefully the variations aren't to the magnitude of 300 million.  That was caused purely by a change in the theory.

So no, I wouldn't suggest we are going to see big, bloated amounts.  I would suggest we may see variations in that theoretical to the book accum, more in connection of what we would expect to see any time we do a study.

MR. THOMPSON:  Just to have the current math, we have 905 recorded.  We are going to give back 300, roughly.  That leaves 600 recorded; have I got that straight?

MR. KENNEDY:  So far your arithmetic is correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And then as we are going to add to it in the next five years between 25 and 35 –- 30 million a year.  That's another 150.

So we are back up to 750 in five years from now?

MR. KENNEDY:  And we have expenditures coming out of that on the basis of the anticipated schedule that you see in schedule 7.7, and we are -- our older asset case --


MR. THOMPSON:  I've included that in my --


MR. KENNEDY:  Okay.  But importantly, in my mind, is the aging asset base is going to be five years older and five years closer to retirement activity at that point in time.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, that comes back to how much plastic is there and how much coated steel and all the rest, but anyway, I think I've got the numbers that I need to argue.  Let me just check my notes.

Just in terms of the implications of the reduced depreciation expense on a go-forward basis, there is the 6.6, and then there is the 33, I think, in the reduced depreciation expense scenario.

And those will have rate base impacts as well, Mr. Culbert, and will that show up in your unbundling interrogatory that I've requested?

MR. CULBERT:  Yes.  What I'll provide is two revenue requirements schedules similar to that I provided in EP 11 so I'll break it out into the rate rider implications, and the depreciation rate implications as a secondary page.

MR. THOMPSON:  Those are my questions, Madam Chair, on that area.  And I can pick up on the other topic tomorrow morning, if that's acceptable.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  Are you telling me that you have no more questions for -- as far as panel 12 is concerned?  Your other questions are related to J1.2?

MR. THOMPSON:  That's correct.

MS. CONBOY:  Okay.
Questions by the Board:

MS. CONBOY:  I do have one quick question.  And I was hopefully going to have the evening to frame it properly, but anyway, Mr. Kennedy, you went through in your evidence some discussion with respect to the CDNS being adopted or being approved in one jurisdiction -- I think out in Alberta or BC -- and then subsequently, they went -- the regulator went back to the traditional method.

Are there any other jurisdictions now in Canada that have adopted the CDNS?  And if not, why is there this sort of:  Look at the CDNS, but we'd like to stick with the traditional method?

MR. KENNEDY:  Your original assumption is correct.  Alberta was -- the TransAlta utility, or the AltaLink thereafter, was, to my knowledge, the only jurisdiction that had used, within Canada, a CDNS method.

Within the United States, there is a few utilities that use an inflation-based method that somewhat resembles CDNS, but titled something different or have some other small differences in the mechanics.

What we find is that in most utilities, when we look at use of the CDNS method, it results in a rate increase.  And quite frankly, as regulators or stewards of the public purse, if you will, in terms of the tolls, it is a very tough suggestion to say:  I have a really nice new economic theory for you that I believe is much better, but results in a toll increase.

The Alberta decision in 2006, that we reverted back to the traditional method, was very blunt.  They -- the Alberta board liked the theory of the CDNS, but didn't like the tolling impacts.  And so they -- they didn't shy away from the fact that they went back to the traditional method, which has a longstanding history throughout regulatory jurisdictions in North America, on the basis that there was -- they viewed it as a mechanism to reign in the tolls.

MS. CONBOY:  So they looked at the theory behind it, the assumptions, and what tipped the scales, if you will, in terms of going back or reverting back to the traditional method -- and I think there was another regulator that looked at the two and decided to stick with the traditional method, et al.  What tipped the balance was the direction in which it would take depreciation expense?

MR. KENNEDY:  Largely in the fact that the regulator, as we have today, goes through and says:  There's some assumptions, and how certain can we be of a discount rate of 2.38 percent versus 4 percent, or an inflation rate of 2 percent versus one and a half percent?

So the regulators said there is some factors that require estimation with the use of the CDNS method, and those put sufficient concern -- I guess is the right word -- in the regulator's mind that moving to a method that increases tolls, where there is these required assumptions in the discount rate and the rate of inflation, combined gave them sufficient pause to weigh the scales back to the traditional method.

MS. CONBOY:  Okay.  So we're having this -- perhaps we're having this discussion now because the direction is in favour of the consumers, we could, if we adopted this -- approved this in this case, we could conceivably be having a very different discussion in five years' time, where we're saying, hang on, let's revert back to the traditional method, because we don't like the direction in which it's going.


MR. KENNEDY:  That possibility exists.  I'll be very frank.  The circumstances that exist with this utility now that caused the calculation to result in a reduction of the method won't change over the next five years.


In other words, the utility's still a very mature older maturity, have got much plant in the older vintages.  Some of that will retire before the next study and is largely invested in long-lived assets.


So those factors aren't necessarily going to change, but -- now, there is a possibility that if inflation goes silly over the next five-year period that assumption of a 2 percent inflation rate will no longer hold.  It may go up.


Again, we would try to control that, and my advice to the companies and the regulators is we need to take a long-term look, because we talked this morning with one of the intervening attorneys, is we don't react to a one- or two-year outlook for the inflation rate, we will look for a very long-term outlook, but that may change, yes.


So, yeah, those factors could result in a circumstance where the rate would go up.  Would it go up as compared to the traditional method that we looked at that point in time?  I'm not certain that it would.


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you very much.  Those -- yes?


MS. CHAPLIN:  Pardon me if you've already covered it, so the reason why we're not seeing the typical result with Enbridge, in other words, that the switch to the constant dollar is actually resulting in a decrease in the rates rather than an increase, is because of the age of Enbridge's system?


MR. KENNEDY:  The amount of investment they have in the older vintages, yes, that's definitely part of it, and secondly, is the -- as compared to the traditional method, the very high-level of cost of retirements they had in the 1980s era of those higher inflationary periods.


MS. CHAPLIN:  And that makes them different than other, for example, U.S. facilities in the northeast?  Wouldn't that that be similar?


MR. KENNEDY:  It is similar to the U.S. northeast utilities.  I think that -- it is different than largely many of the Canadian natural-gas utilities, but I wouldn't suggest it's that significantly different than the U.S. northeast utilities.


MS. CHAPLIN:  But they haven't adopted that approach.


MR. KENNEDY:  No, they haven't.  As I suggested, some of them have adopted an interest-adjusted net salvage approach, not necessarily identical to the CDNS method, but something that tries to normalize those periods of high inflation out of the rate calculations.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Thank you very much.  Thank you.


MS. CONBOY:  Those are our questions.  I know we said we were going to finish at 5:00, but if you have any redirect, we can finish with this panel today.


MR. CASS:  I don't have any re-examination, Madam Chair.  I did hope that perhaps we might just clarify panel's scheduling for tomorrow if that's --


MS. CONBOY:  Sure.


MR. CASS:  -- all right before we --


MS. CONBOY:  Yeah.


MR. CASS:  -- break.  I realize it's late in the day.


Am I correct in understanding then that the questions that Mr. Thompson has in respect of J1.2, they won't be put to Mr. Culbert on this panel, they'll be put to him on the next panel, so in other words, this panel is effectively finished?  Is that the --


MS. CONBOY:  That was the assumption that I was --


MR. CASS:  -- we're working under?


MS. CONBOY:  -- going on, yes, because it was clearly going to be focused on J1.2.  Is that correct, Mr. Thompson?


MR. THOMPSON:  As long as he's here it will be --


MS. CONBOY:  Okay then.


MR. CASS:  So that's point number 1.  Then point number 2 would be, I suppose Enbridge only has one more panel after tomorrow's panel.  It is scheduled for March 25th.


MS. CONBOY:  Yes.


MR. CASS:  It could be that they could be reached tomorrow.  Should Enbridge plan to move that panel forward from March 25th til tomorrow?


MS. CONBOY:  Just a minute, please.


Mr. Cass, as tempting as -- sorry?  As tempting as it is, I'm not sure that it would be quite fair to the intervenors.  We only have two here, and I think everybody else is anticipating to have that additional time to prepare their cross-examination.


MR. CASS:  That's fine, Madam Chair, just so that we know what to plan for --


MS. CONBOY:  It may give some of us an early start to March break.


MR. CASS:  Yes, thank you.


MS. CONBOY:  So Mr. Culbert, we will see you back again tomorrow, but the rest of the panel is excused with our thanks.


--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 5:09 p.m.
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